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Chapter 1

_'....—_

THE BURNT PRAIRIE

On the great plain of Texas, about a hundred miles
from the town of San Antonio, the hot sun was shin-
ing from a bright blue sky. Under the golden light ap-
peared a few wagons, covered with snow-white canvas.
They were slowly moving across the prairie in the mid-

day heat.
The owner of the wagons was Woodley Poindexter —

a sugar planter from Louisiana. Mr. Poindexter had lost
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most of his money and had left his home on the Missis-
sippi river. He was going to a new home in Texas to-
gether with his family and black slaves.

Mr. Poindexter himself was riding behind the wag-
ons, He was a tall thin man of fifty with a proud and
severe face. He was wearing simple but rather expensive
clothes, and a straw hat.

Two horsemen were riding beside the planter — one
of them on his right, the other on the left.
The first one was his son Henry — a young man of

twenty, He was dressed in a sky blue cotton shirt and
trousers of the same material. There was a Panama hat
on his head. Henry’s face was open and cheerful.

The other horseman was Henry’s cousin. Captain Cas-
sius Calhoun — that was his name — was an ex-officer
of volunteers. He was wearing a dark blue military suit
and a cap. Calhoun was six or seven vyears older than
Henry.

There was also a carriage with two passengers. One
was a young lady with the whitest skin. The other
was a black girl. The young lady was the daughter of
Woodley Poindexter — Louise. The black girl was her
maid.

A

Suddenly the wagons stopped. The worried manager
came up to Woodley Poindexter.

“What is it, Mr. Sansom?” asked the planter.

“There’s been a fire in the prairie. The grass has
burnt, and the ground is black.”

“What of that, Josh Sansom?” asked the planter’s
nephew. “How stupid of you to raise such a row about
nothing!”

Lk} 4



“But, Captain Calhoun,” protested the manager, “how
do we find the way?”

“Find the way! What are you talking about? We
haven’t lost it — have we?”

“I’m afraid we have, sir. The wheel tracks are no
longer seen. They’ve burnt out, along with the grass.”

“Can’t we cross a burnt piece of prairie without
wheel tracks? We’ll find them again on the other side.”

“Ye-es,” said Sansom, “if there is any other side.
I don’t see it.”

“Start moving!” shouted Calhoun. “Keep after me.”

“Well, nephew,” said the planter, “you know best.”

“Don’t be afraid, uncle. I’ve made my way out of
a worse fix than this. Drive on! Keep after me.”

The wagons of Woodley Poindexter started moving
again. They made a mile or more, and then stopped.

“Have you lost the way, nephew?” said the planter,
riding rapidly up to Calhoun.

“No, uncle — not yet,” said the captain with less
confidence. “I’ve only stopped to have a look. We should
go in this direction — down that valley., Let them drive

on. We're going all right — I'll answer for it.”

The mules went down the hill, then along the wvalley,
then up another hill. An hour later the travellers saw
wheel tracks and hoof marks of the animals again.

“Our own tracks!” said Calhoun,

“What do you mean, Cassius? You don’t say we have
lost the way again?” asked the planter.

“Yes, uncle. Bad luck! We've made a couple of
miles for nothing,” said his nephew. He felt bad. It
was his fault that the travellers had been left without
a real guide. The ex-captain of wvolunteers had been
rude to their guide, and the man refused to go with
them.

“What should we do now?” asked the planter. “We
may have to spend the night on the burnt prairie, and
we don’t have enough water for the animals. How can
we find the way?”

No one had an answer to this question.

Lo

Another ten minutes was spent in deep moral and
physical gloom. Then suddenly the cheerfulness returned.
Everyone saw a horseman, who was riding in the direc-
tion of the wagons. It was a miracle!

“He’s coming this way, isn’t he?” asked the planter.

“Yes, father,” replied Henry.

The young man took his hat and waved it. He also
began shouting to attract the horseman. But the strang-
er had already seen the wagons. He soon arrived on the
spot occupied by the planter and his companions.

He was a handsome young man of not more than
twenty-five, with a noble and friendly face. He was
dressed in a picturesque Mexican costume: a short velve-
teen jacket, trousers laced along the seams, and leather
boots with spurs. On his head he had a black sombrero
decorated with gold.

“A Mexicanl!” whispered Henry.

“So much the better,” replied Poindexter, in the same
tone of voice. “He’ll be more likely to know the road.”

“No,” said the stranger, with a protesting smile,
“Anything but that. Have you lost your way?”

“We have, sir,” said Poindexter. “And we hope you
will be so kind as to direct us.”

“Not much kindness in that. By chance I saw your
trail, as 1 was crossing the prairie. I saw you were in
the wrong direction. [ have come to set you right.”

T



“It is very good of you. We shall be most thankful,
sir., My name is Poindexter — Woodley Poindexter, of
Louisiana. I bought a house on the Leona River, near
Fort Inge. We hoped to get there before night. Can we
do this?”

“Yes, if you follow my instructions. I'm sorry,
Mr. Poindexter, I cannot stay. I need to get a very
important document to the fort. Go straight for-
ward for about five miles. Always keep the sun on
your right shoulders. You will then see the top of
a very tall tree — a cypress. Go directly to this tree.
It stands on the bank of the river. You can cross the
river there.”

The young horseman was about to ride off, when
something made him stop. It was a pair of lovely dark
eyes. They were watching him with interest through the
curtains of the carriage. He looked at the beautiful girl
with admiration.

“You are very kind, sir,” said Poindexter. “The sun
will surely show us —”

“I’'m afraid it will not. Look at the sky. There are
clouds in the north. Stay!” he continued after a pause.
“lI have a better plan still: follow the trail of my las-
so!”

He took his lasso from his saddle and threw the
loose end to the ground. Then he said good-bye and rode
off. The lasso left a clear line on the ground.

“A very curious fellow!” said the planter, as they
stood watching the horseman. “I would like to know his
name.”

“A wvery conceited fellow, 1 should say,” said Cal-
houn. He had noticed the glance sent by the stranger in
the direction of the carriage. “As to his name, I don’t
think it matters much. It mightn’t be his own he would
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give you. Texas is full of such people, who take new
names when they get here.”

“Come, cousin Cash,” protested young Poindex-
ter. “You are unfair to the stranger. He looks, in fact,
a gentleman.”

“A gentleman! Unlikely. I never saw a man In
a Mexican dress, who was a gentleman.”

Helpful Words & Notes

prairie — mupepud, crenb (CeBepoaMepuKaHCEWE TNPEPHU
MpeAcTaBIAIT co0oit pPaBHWHEI, TOPOCIIKE BLICOKOH
TPABOW M PeIJKUMH KYCTapHUKaMH H JIeCcaMu. )

ex-officer of volunteers — oTcraBHOH odHIepP U3 BOJOH-
tepoB (BomoHTephkl AKTHBHO YyYacTBOBAJIH B aMepHKaHO-
MEeKCHKaHCKOM Boline 1846—1848 rr., nocie KoTopou
mrat Texac sonren B coctaB CIIA.)

to raise such a row — mogIHUMATH TAKON IIYM

wheel tracks — ormegaTrH KoJec

I've made my way out of a worse fix than this. — f u
He U3 TAKHMX IepeApAr BeIOMpaJIcH.

hoof marks — cJeIbl KOIBIT

Bad luck! — Bor me mosesJo!

a short velveteen jacket, trousers laced along the seams,
and leather boots with spurs — KopoTKas BelbBeTOBadA

KYPTKA, OPIOKM CO IIHYPOBKOW II0 OOKaM H KOKAaHBIE
CAIIOTH CO IIIOpPAMH

So much the better — Tem mydmie (g1 Hac)

to set you right — HanpaBuTh BAC Ha IMPABUJIBHEIH OYTh

keep the sun on your right shoulders — nepikurecr Tak,
yToOB! COJHIE YV BAC OCTABAJIOCH CIpaBa

lasso — saccld; apkaH, MpelHA3HAUEHHBIM [JIA JIOBAK KU-
BOTHEIX



Activities

Wi

\” Checking Comprehension

1. Answer the questions.

1) What was Woodley Poindexter doing in the prai-

ries of Texas?

2) What can you say about his family?

3) Why did they lose their way on the plain?
4) Who gave the travellers directions?

5) What else did the stranger do for them?

6) What did Poindexter and Calhoun think about him?

2. Complete the sentences.

1) The planter continued the journey even in the

mid-day heat because

2) The travellers had no real guide because

3) The stranger used his lasso to show the travellers

the way because

LL] Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

1. Fill in the gaps with the nouns from the box.

spot
tracks
glance
planter

lasso

1) The wheel
grass.
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burnt out, along with the

2)

3)
4)

2)

The stranger arrived on the occupied
by the planter and his companions.

The left a clear line on the ground.
Calhoun didn’t like the sent by the
stranger in the direction of the carriage.

The owner of the wagons was a sugar

from Louisiana.

Choose the correct form of the verb.

1)

2)
3)

4)

The travellers saw a horseman, who was riding/
rode in the direction of the wagons.

Henry took his hat and was waving/waved it.

The stranger was about to ride off, when some-
thing was making/made him stop.

Another ten minutes speni/was spent in deep
moral and physical gloom.

Discussing the Text

Describe all the members of Mr. Poindexter’s family.
Talk about your first impression about them.

Imagine that you are Josh Sansom, the planter’s
manager. Say:

what made you leave Louisiana.

where you were going to.

why you lost the way in the prairie.

what kind of help vou got from the stranger.

What do you think?

Calhoun called the stranger “a very conceited fellow.”
Do you agree? Why? Why didn’'t Calhoun like the
stranger?

11



Chapter 2

THE TRAIL OF THE LASSO

It was easy for the travellers to follow the trail of the
lasso. After a while they saw the cypress. But they didn’t
have enough time to reach it. The sky was now low and
grey.

On the northern horizon suddenly appeared a number
of ink-coloured columns — unlike anything ever seen be-
fore., They were changing size, shape, and place all the
time. From these columns came terrible noises. The trav-
ellers immediately felt danger. The shouts of people and
screams of the mules and horses filled the air.

The noises were gradually growing louder. The dan-
ger, whatever it might be, was approaching too fast! The
eyes of all were turned towards the low sky, and the
black columns that were coming on to crush them!

At this critical moment a shout reached their ears from
the opposite side. They turned to see a horseman. He was
riding towards them. The horse was black as coal. The rider
was black too, even the skin of his face, But it was easy to
recognize him: he was the stranger they had met before.

“What is it?” asked the planter in alarm. “Is there
a danger?”

“There is, Mr. Poindexter. It's the norther. I didn’t
see it coming when 1 passed you. A norther is not usu-
ally so bad, but this one... Look there! Do you see those
black columns?”

“We’ve been wondering. We didn’t know what to
make of them.”

“They’re nothing — just the first signs of the storm.
Look at the sky! Don’t you see a coal-black cloud? That’s
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what vou have to fear. A hurricane is coming this way,
and you have no chance to escape it.”

“Good God! Is the danger so great? Can we do any-
thing to avoid it?”

The stranger remained silent for a few seconds.

“Yes, we can!” he said. “There is a chance. I didn’t
think about it before. Order your men to cover the hors-
es and mules with blankets. The storm can make the ani-
mals blind, and they can go mad. When that’s done, let
all get inside the wagons.”

Poindexter gave the orders fast.

“And vou, sir?” asked the planter.

“l know what’s coming. It isn’t the first time I have
seen it. Get in! Quick, or the dust cloud will be around us!”

The planter and his son got into the carriage. Cal-
houn remained seated in his saddle. Why should he lis-
ten to some man dressed as a Mexican?

The stranger quickly took off his serape from the
saddle and put it over the head of his horse. Then he
covered his hat with a scarf. After that he turned once
more towards the carriage. He was surprised to see Cal-
houn still in the saddle.

“Once again, sir, I ask you to get inside!l If wyou
don’t, vou may be a dead man!”

Cassius Calhoun reluctantly slipped out of his saddle
and got into the carriage,

ok od R oW

To describe what followed is beyond the power of
the pen. One of the sable columns broke, and down came
a shower of black dust. There was a short interval of
open atmosphere — hot as the inside of an oven. Then
came cold winds, accompanied by terrible noises. In an-
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other moment the norther was around them. The atmo-
sphere was as cold as the icebergs of the Arctic Ocean.

Nothing was seen for over an hour. Finally the
stranger said;

“You can get out. The hurricane is over.”

“Sir!” said the planter, “we have to thank vou for —
for: =%

“Our lives, father!” cried Henry. “I hope, sir, you
will give us your name?”

“Maurice Gerald,” said the stranger, “though at the
fort I am better known as Maurice the mustanger.”

“A mustanger!” scornfully said Calhoun, but only
loud enough to be heard by Louise.

“Only a mustanger!” thought the aristocratic Poind-
exter.

“You will no longer need either myself, or my lasso
now,” said the hunter of wild horses. “Keep straight to-
wards the cypress. As soon as you cross the river, you
will see the flag over the fort. You may yet reach your
home before night. Good-buy.”

And he rode off.

Helpful Words & Notes

in alarm — BCTDEBOMKEHHO

norther — cuanHLIA CYX0H CeBepHBIH BeTep, Aylomuai Ha
wre CIIIA »m B Mercuxe

We didn’t know what to make of them. — Mzl He Mor-

JIA TIOHATH, 4YTO 3TC TaKoe.

go mad — obeayMmeTs

serape — Cepams; TPajguIMOHHAA MYIKCKAH JOMOTKAaHAA
MEKCUKaHCKAA HAKHAKAa A0 KoJeHd

beyond the power of the pen — nepo He B cuiaax
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the Arctic Ocean — Cesepuni#i JlegoBuTelil oKean
mustanger — MyCTAHTep; OXOTHHK 38 JUKMMH JIOUIAALBMH,
MYCTAHTAMH

Activities
@ Checking Comprehension

1. Answer the questions.

1) Why did the stranger return?

2) What did he ask Poindexter to do?

3) What did the stranger do to protect himself from
the dust cloud?

4) What did Mr. Poindexter and Calhoun say when
they learnt that the stranger was a mustanger?

2. Say why:

e the mustanger asked to cover the horses and
mules with blankets.

e Mr. Poindexter took the mustanger’s advice at once.

e Calhoun remained seated in his saddle.

@ Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

1. Use the verbs in the right form.

1) From the black columns (to come) terrible noises.

2) The travellers immediately (to feel) danger.

3) The horseman was the stranger they (to meet) be-
fore.

4) Cassius Calhoun reluctantly (to slip) out of his
saddle,



2. Explain in your own words who is:

e a traveler.

e a planter.

e g rider.

e a mustanger,

g Discussing the Text

1. Prove that the hurricane in the prairie was very
dangerous.

2. Maurice Gerald returned to the travellers just be-
fore the hurricane. Describe in detail what he did to
make them safe.

3. What do you think?

Cassius Calhoun didn’t like (Gerald’s orders. What
made him finally change his mind (mepeaymars) and
get inside the carriage?

Chapter 3

o § i & @ 5 Tam———

THE SPOTTED MUSTANG

About a week after his arrival, the Louisiana plant-
er invited guests to his new home for a house-warm-
ing party. Mr. Poindexter’s haecienda was known as
Casa del Corvo. The house itself was built where the
Leona River makes a curve like the shoe of a horse.
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Hence the name — Caga del Corvo — “the House of the
Curve.”

The architecture of Casa del Corvo, like that of oth-
er large country homes in Texas, was Mexican. It had
only one storey and a flat roof, with railing all round.
There was a courtyard inside the walls, open to the
sky, with a fountain, and a stone stairway leading up
to the roof. The house had a massive wooden door with
two or three windows on each side, protected by strong
iron bars.

The best part of g3 Mexican house was the roof.
In fine weather — it js always fine in that sunny cli-
mate — the Mexicans preferred to spend evenings on the
roof. The family of the Louisiana planter liked it too.

On that same evening Mr. Poindexter’s guests gath-
ered after dinner on the roof for a pleasant evening.
There were officers from Fort Inge and old friends of
the planter, who, like him, had bought a home in South-
Western Texas.

Louise Poindexter moved about among the admir-
ing guests with the gmile of a queen. She was hap-
Py to be surrounded by friends or admirers — young
planters, lawyers, statesmen. But in that splendid
crowd there was a man who watched her every move.
It was Cassius Calhoun, He followed her everywhere,
not close, but like a ghadow. He went from place to
place; upstairs, and downstairs, standing in corners,
with eyes turned upon his cousin’s face, like a police-
man on duty. And more than once it was noticed by
those standing near.

From time to time Louise came up to the edge of
the roof and looked at the plain, Why she did so no
one could tell. No one was interested in her movements
except Cassius Calhoun. He had thoughts about it —

17



thoughts he didn’t like, When a group of moving objects
appeared on the prairie, the ex-officer of volunteers had
more suspicion.

“Wild horses!” said the major from Fort Inge. “Some-
one is bringing them in,” he added. “Ohl 1 see now.
It’s Maurice the mustanger. He is coming this way —
straight to your place, Mr. Poindexter.”

“I agked the young fellow to catch me some horses.
Perhaps he’s bringing me the first ones.”

“] am sure of it,” said the planter’s son. “I can tell
the horseman is Maurice Gerald.”

The planter’s daughter could see it too. But she tried
not to show her interest: her malicious cousin was still
looking at her with great suspicion.

Maurice came up sitting on his mustang. He had
a spotted mare at the end of his lasso. The colour of the
animal was dark chocolate — in places even black. With
white spots over her skin she looked like a jaguar.

“What a beautiful creaturel” exclaimed some of the
guests.

“It’s such a pleasure to look at such an animall” said
the major’s wife. “Let’s all go down! What do you say,
Miss Poindexter?”

“0Oh, certainly,” said Louise.

The ladies went down the stone stairway — the gen-
tlemen after them. Henry Poindexter hurried down be-
fore the rest and started talking with the mustanger.
Maurice and Louise just nodded to each other. It was
impossible for a planter’s daughter to give a warmer
welcome to a horse-hunter: the “society” wouldn’t like
that. The major’s wife alone greeted him in a nice way.
But that was in a tone that told of superior position.
He was more pleased to exchange quick glances with
Louise. Many ladies smiled admiringly at the mustanger.

18

In truth, the young man looked splendid — handsome
and strong.

“I’'ll pay you two hundred dollars for this horse,”
said the planter to Maurice, pointing to the spotted
mare.

“I cannot take your money,” said the mustanger with
a smile. “She is not for sale.”

“Oh, indeed!” said the planter.

He was disappointed. The other planters and the of-
ficers of the fort looked surprised. It wasesuch a good
price! Two hundred dollars for a mustang! The usual
price was from ten to twenty. The mustanger must be
mad.

“Mr. Poindexter,” said Maurice, “you have given
me a very good price for my other horses. And now
I can afford to make a gift. In Ireland, when a man
buys many horses, we make a special gift to one of the
members of his family. Can we do the same thing in
Texas?”

“Oh, certainly, Mr. Gerald,” said the planter.

“Thank you. I would be happy to give this mare to
Miss Poindexter, if she accepts my gift,” said the mus-
tanger to the girl.

“I accept your gift, sir. Thank you,” said the girl
and smiled at the horse-hunter.

Why did Louise Poindexter, daughter of the proud
Louisiana sugar-planter and a very beautiful girl,
choose a poor horse-hunter of Texas? She could marry
the richest and the noblest men in the country! Louise
didn’t know the answer herself. She felt some strange
interest in a mustanger -- he was so different from
the men from the “society.” And she knew that interest

was much stronger now than a week ago, in the burnt
prairie.
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Helpful Words & Notes

house-warming party — HOBOCEIbe

hacienda — ucn. racmeHaa, IIOMeCThe

spotted mare — xpamuaras xo0nlIa

But that was in a tone that told of superior position. —

Ho B ee ToOHe 3By4aJI0 CHHCXOMKACHHE.

She is not for sale. — OHa He MponmaeTcs.

Activities

i% Checking Comprehension

1.

Complete the sentences.

1) Woodley Poindexter invited guests to his new

home for a
2) The best part of a Mexican house was
3) No one was interested in Louise’s movementis ex-
cept y
4) Maurice had a at the end of his lasso.
5) With white spots over her skin the mare looked

like a

Say why:

e Mr. Poindexter’s guests gathered on the roof of

the house.
e Calhoun watched Louise’s every move.
e Maurice Gerald and Louise just nodded to each

other.
¢ many ladies smiled admiringly at the mustanger.
¢ the mustanger refused to sell the spotted mare to

Poindexter.
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e the planter’s daughter felt interest in the poor
horse-hunter.

Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

Write the words below in the plural.

a roof, a policeman, a lady, a price, a wife

Fill in the prepositions on, over, by, for, in.

1) Louise was surrounded friends or ad-

mirers.

2) Calhoun followed his cousin like a policeman
duty.
3) The wild mare had white spots all her
skin,
4) The major’s wife greeted the mustanger
a nice way.
2) “She is not sale,” said the mustanger.

Discussing the Text
Imagine that you were one of the guests at the
house-warming party. Talk about:

e the planter’s hacienda.
s other guests.
s the mustanger’s gift to Louise Poindexter.

Give your opinion.

What is a house-warming party? Is it different from
a birthday party? Have you ever been to a house-
warming partv? What was it like?
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Chapter 4

L3 X 1 17

A PRAIRIE PICNIC

The first rays from a rosy morning sun fell on
a group of objects in Fort Inge. In the centre of the
group there was a small wagon. Little Mexican mules
were eager to move off. Near the wagon there was
a man of colossal size in a woollen coat. It was Zeb
Stump, the hunter and tracker. He was sitting on his
old mare. Other people were all moving from the wag-
on to the door of the officers’ quarters, and back again.
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Most of them were soldiers, two or three more — offi-
cers’ servants. Two more were cooks. A sergeant was in
charge of the group. He was directing their movements.
His task was to put in the wagon baskets of all shapes
and sizes with food and drinks for a picnic.

“Aren’t you ready, sergeant?” asked old Zeb. “How
can I shoot a wild turkey when the sun is up in the
sky? If you want a turkey for your guests, we must go
now.”

“True, Mr. Stump. I know the major wants a wild
turkey. He told me so0.”

The sergeant did all that was possible to hurry the

departure of the wagon, with Zeb Stump as its guide.
AR R R

Twenty minutes later other people started to gather
on the same spot. There were a lot of ladies on horse-
back. They were accompanied by their fathers, broth-
ers, lovers, and husbands. Most, if not all, who had been
present at Poindexter’s house-warming party, were in
Fort Inge that morning.

The planter himself was there. As also his son Hen-
ry, his nephew Cassius Calhoun, and his daughter Lou-
ise. The young lady was sitting on the spotted mustang.

The picnic was a simple return of hospitality. The
major and his officers were the hosts, the planter and
his friends — the invited guests. It was planned to go
for about twenty miles to the south of Fort Inge — to
hunt wild horses. Hence the necessity for an early start.

Just as the rays of the sun began to dance upon
the crystal waters of the Leona, the party was ready
to move. Like the party before them, they too had
a guide — a handsome horseman in a Mexican costume.
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“Come, Maurice!” cried the major at last. “Ladies and
gentlemen! If there’s a man in Texas, who can show us
how to hunt wild horses, it’s Maurice the mustanger.”

*RRAE

A twenty-mile ride in the prairie was over in less
than three hours. The picnic started long before noon
under the shade of a gigantic pecan tree, which stood
near the banks of the Nueces River.

“Wild mares!” cried a Mexican, who had been watch-
ing the prairie.

“To the saddle!” was the thought on every mind. Be-
fore a hundred could be counted, everyone, ladies and
gentlemen, was in the saddle, ready for the hunt.

The wild mares appeared coming from the top of the
hill. They were going at mad gallop. They saw neither
the wagon, nor the people around it.

“Ladies and gentlemen!” shouted Maurice. “Keep your
places. The mares are too excited. I know where they
are going now. We shall find them again. If you pur-
sue them now, they’ll go into those woods, and we won’t
find them.”

At that moment Louise Poindexter suddenly separat-
ed from the crowd and followed the wild mares. Maurice
realized that her spotted mustang was eager to join the
other mares. Maurice, Calhoun, voung planters, lawyers
and officers rode off to help the girl.

Twenty minutes later everyone except Maurice was
far behind. The wild mares, the spotted mustang with
Louise and the mustanger had the prairie to them-
selves,

The chase continued for another mile, without much
change. Maurice was beginning to worry.
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“Come, Castro!” he exclaimed. ‘What’s the matter with
you today? We need to overtake her. Remember, you over-
took her before. What if I lose her? She’d be in trouble.”

The wild mares disappeared in the woods. As if their
disappearance was a signal for the spotted mustang, it
suddenly stopped! Maurice, continuing his gallop, came
up in the middle of an opening. The girl was sitting si-
lently in the saddle, as if waiting for him to ride up.

“Miss Poindexter!” he said. “I am glad that you’re
all right. I was beginning to worry about —”

“About what, sir?” asked Louise.

“Your safety, of course,” he said, somewhat sur-

prised.

“Oh, thank you, Mr. Gerald. Was I really in any
danger?”

“Any danger?” asked the Irishman, with increased
astonishment. “On the back of a runaway mustang — in
the middle of the prairie!”

“And what of that? My Luna couldn’t throw me. I'm
good in the saddle, sir. But you see, Mr. Gerald, I like
a good gallop — especially in the prairie, where I'm not
afraid of running over pigs or people. To tell the truth,
I wanted fresh air, and to be alone. I'm tired of too
much talk — and compliments.”

“You wanted to be alone?” said the mustanger, with
a disappointed look. “I’m sorry, Miss Poindexter. I fol-
lowed, because I believed you to be in danger.”

“I am truly grateful, sir. You meant the Indians?”

“No, not the Indians. It was not of them [ was
thinking.”

“Some other danger? What is it, sir?”

Maurice did not answer. A sound made him turn
away. At that moment the young men heard a scream,
then another and another, followed by the loud hammer-
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ing of hoofs. It was no mystery to the hunter of horses.
The words that came quick from his lips were a direct
answer to the question she had put.

“The wild stallions!” he exclaimed.

“Is that the danger you meant?”

“It is.”

“Are they really dangerous? They are only mustangs!”

“True, and at other times there is no reason to be
afraid of them, But just now, at this season of the year,
they become as savage as tigers.”

“What can we do?” asked the young lady. She felt
fear for the first time.

“If they attack us,” answered Maurice, “we’ll try to
escape.”

“But, Mr. Gerald, why shouldn’t we ride at once, in
the opposite direction?”

“It’s no use. On that side there’s nothing but open
prairie. They’ll soon overtake us. I know a place, where
we shall be as safe as in Casa del Corvo. But it lies the
other way. They are now on the way to it. If we start
too soon, we may ride into their teeth. We must wait,
and try to steal away behind them. Are you sure you
can control the mustang?”

“Quite sure,” said Louise.

She was afraid to lie in presence of the danger.

Helpful Words & Notes

tracker — 30. caeponwiT
officers’ quarters — nomeirjesnune, 3aHUMaeMoe oduiepaMu
A sergeant was in charge of the group. — Pyxosognna

DTOI I'PVIIION CepiKaHT.
on horseback -—— Bepxom
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The picnic was a simple return of hospitality. — IIMKHUK
yCTpAUBAJICA B OTBET HA TOCTENIPHMUMCTBO ILTAHTATOPA.
pecan tree — TmeKaH; JepeBO H3 CEMEHCTBA OPEXORBBIX,

opexu MeKaH MOXO0KHK I10 BKyCY HA IDElKNH opex
was the thought on every mind — O06BLI0 B MBICIAX ¥
Kaygoro
gallop — ranomn; cambiil GuICTPEIA criocod Oera Jomiagu
to overtake — JOrHaThH
opening — Impocexa, BEIpyOKa
It’s no use. — DBecnojgesHo.
But it lies the other way. — Ho osHo B aApyro# cropone.
ride into their teeth — cTONKHYTECA ¢ HUMH
to steal away — HesaMeTHO YCKOJB3HYTH
Activities

% Checking Comprehension

1. Answer the questions.

1) Who was Zeb Stump?

2) Why did he come to Fort Inge that morning?

3) Who was invited to the picnic?

4) What happened after the picnic started?

5) Why did Louise Poindexter separate from the
crowd and follow the wild mares?

6) When did Maurice Gerald finally overtake Louise?

7) Why were Gerald and Louise in danger?

8) What did Gerald decide to do?

2. Complete the sentences.

1) The wagon was full of baskets with __
for a picnic.
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2) It took to get to the spot of the pienic.
3) Maurice overtook Louise in

Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

1. Fill in the gaps with the words from the box.

saddle
chase
departure
opening

1) Zeb Stump asked the sergeant to hurry the
of the wagon.
2) Louise was good in the

3) The continued for a few miles.
4) Maurice hoped that the stallions wouldn’t go to
the

2. Fill in prepositions if necessary.

1) A sergeant was charge of the group.
2) There were a lot of ladies horseback.
3) The wild mares were going

a mad gallop.

4) Louise’s spotted mustang was eager to join
_ . other mares.

5} Maurice decided to steal
stallions.

from the wild

X Discussing the Text

1. Describe the picnic and the chase. Why was Maurice
Gerald worried about Louise? Was she in danger in
the prairie? Give your opinion.
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2. What do you think?

Do you like picnics? Do you often go on a picnic?
What do you take there? How do you spend your
time there?

Chapter 5

el W 4§ @ 0 Sna——

THE WILD STALLIONS

Louise and Maurice remained seated in their saddles.
The girl knew there must be some great danger. At the
same time she liked that the mustanger was worried
about her safety.

“T think we may try now,” said the mustanger, after
a while. “Follow me.”

Suddenly they heard loud screams, hammering of
hoofs and cracking of branches. It told of a terrible con-
flict between the wild stallions, which were fighting.
When Maurice gave the signal to start, the wild horses
suddenly appeared in the opening.

“This way!” cried Maurice. “They’ve discovered us!
On — on! Miss Poindexter! Remember you are riding for
your life!”

Words were not necessary. It was clear that speed
alone could save the spotted mustang and its rider. The
stallions went galloping after Louise and Maurice’s hors-
es. They were eager to overtake them. From that mo-
ment it became a chase across the prairie.

Maurice was worried about Louise’s mare. She was
galloping slower and slower.
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“We keep our distance, don’t we?” asked the girl.

She noticed his worried look.

“So far, yes. But we shall have to get over some-
thing. I know you are a good rider. What about your
mare? You know her better than I. Do you think she can
carry you over?”

“Over what, sir?”

“You’ll see in a second. We should be near the place
now.”

The riders soon approached an arroyo — wide and
deep. It must be crossed, or the stallions would overtake
them! Maurice knew that his own horse could go over
it — he had done it before. But the mare?

“Do you think she can do it?” he asked.

“I"'m sure she can,” said Louise. “Come, Luna! Show
him one of those jumps, which you can do.”

Without even waiting for the mustanger, the brave
girl approached the edge of cliff and easily jumped
across the arroyo.

There were two thoughts on the mustanger’s mind.
The first was simple astonishment. The second — admi-
ration.

The stallions stopped at the edge of the cliff. They
couldn’t bring themselves to jump. The riders were safe
NOW.

E

“You know horses very well, Mr. Gerald,” said Louise.

“I am a mustanger,” said the young man. “I hunt
wild horses.”

“How do you do it?”

“My weapon is this — the lasso,”

“You use it with great skill. I've heard that you do.”
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“It’s nice of you to say that. But you are mistaken.
The Mexicans do it much better.”

“You’re too modest, Mr. Gerald. Can I learn to
throw the lasso?” asked Louise.

“I know a lady who is very good at it,” said the
mustanger.

“An American lady?”

“No. She’s Mexican. She lives on the Rio Grande,
but sometimes comes to the Leona to see her relatives.”

“A young lady?”

“Yes. About your own age, I think, Miss Poindexter.”

“Is she tall?”

“Not so tall as you.”

“Does it take long to learn to throw the lasso?” said
Louise. “Or am I too old to start now?”

“Not at all. It’s possible, with a year or two’s prac-
tice, to become very good at it,” said Maurice. “I, my-
self, have only been three years at it, and —”

He saw that Louise was not listening to him any
nore.

“Perhaps you want to get back to your family and
friends?” he said. “Your father may be worried by your
long absence.” ’

“Ah, truel” said the girl. “I was not thinking of
that. Let us go back!”

ok R E R

Maurice took the girl to the spot of the picnic using
the shortest way. The planter’s daughter was surprised
to see around herself beautiful flowers, green grass, and
blue horizon.

“It’s so beautifull” exclaimed the girl.

“Do you admire these wild scenes, Miss Poindexter?”
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“Admire them? Something more, sir! I see around me
all that is bright and beautiful in nature. I would like to
live under these trees.”

“I’'m afraid, miss, you would soon be tired of such
a rude life — no roof, no society...”

“And you, sir? How is it you are not still tired of
it? How do you live? Have you got a house?”

“It doesn’t deserve such a name,” laughed the mus-
tanger. “It’s a hut.”

“Where is it? Anywhere near where we've been today?”

“It is not very far from where we are now. A mile,
perhaps.”

“How I should like to have a look at it! a real rude
hut, you say? Only a mile, you say —”

“A mile there — the same to return — would be
two.”

“That’s nothing. It would take us a few minutes,”
said Louise. “Oh, I'm sorry, Mr. Gerald. I did not think
of it. Perhaps yvou do not live alone?”

“Oh, ves. I have a companion — one who has been
with me ever since I —7”

Before the mustanger could finish his phrase, the
planter’s daughter imagined a dark-haired girl of her
own age, with a lasso in her hand.

“It’s my foster-brother Phelim. He’s glad to see visi-
tors at any time.”

“I shall be happy to meet him.”

Louise Poindexter paid a visit to the mustanger’s
hut, on the Alamo River. She noticed, with surprise,
books and writing materials. She talked to Phelim
O’Neal and tasted everything he offered. Finally she
left, in high spirits.

On the way back to the place of the picnic Maurice
and Louise met Cassius Calhoun. The girl told her cousin
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about the chase and the jump over the arroyo. The mus-
langer didn’t say a word.

The ex-captain felt black jealousy. He was sure that
Maurice the mustanger had become his most powerful rival.

Helpful Words & Notes

after a while — coycra kaxoe-to Bpems
you are riding for your life — BeI cnacaeTe cBOXO KH3HB
Arroyo0 — BBICOXIIIEE PYCJOo
foster-brother — Mosounsiil 6par; CHIE KOPMHIMILI
in high spirits — B orauuHOM HacTpoerun
rival — conepHmNx, conepHHIA
Activities
.::;E [y

{ . :
7 Checking Comprehension

1. Put the sentences in the right order.

1) Louise Poindexter paid a visit to the mustanger’s
hut on the Alamo River.

2) The stallions stopped at the edge of the cliff.

3) The riders approached a wide and deep arroyo.

4) Maurice took the girl to the spot of the picnic
using the shortest way.

6) The stallions went galloping after Louise and
Maurice’s horses.

7) Maurice and Louise heard terrible screams, ham-
mering of hoofs and cracking of branches.

8) Louise approached the edge of cliff and easily
jumped across the arrovo.
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Fill in the names.

1) was good at throwing the lasso.
a) Zeb Stump
b} Louise
¢) Maurice

2) was Maurice’s foster-brother.
a) Phelim O’Neal
b) Josh Sansom
¢) Zeb Stump

3) Louise’s _ felt black jealousy.
a) father
b) cousin

¢) servant

Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

1.

Fill in the gaps with the adjectives from the box.

spotted

worried
good
tired

1) “You would soon be _ of such a rude

life.”

2) Maurice was about Louise’s safety.

3) The _ mare easily jumped across the
Arroyo.

4) “I know a lady who is very at throw-

ing the lasso.”

Fill in the prepositions with, in, of, at.

1) The stallions stopped the edge of the cliff.
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2) The mustanger could throw his lasso
skill,

3) Louise left Maurice’s hut high spirits.

4) The planter’s daughter imagined a dark-haired
girl her own age.

great

Discussing the Text
Describe the chase and the jump over the arroyo.

Imagine the mustanger’s hut in the prairie. De-
scribe it.

What do you think?

Louise invited herself to Maurice’s hut. Why did she
do it? Did she like what she saw there? Prove that.

Chapter 6

I X EX)

WHISKY AND WATER

Almost everyone who had taken part in the hunt-

ing expedition visited the saloon at Fort Inge hotel
that evening. The subject of most conversations was
the picnic.

“Did you notice Calhoun as he came back?” asked

one of the officers.

“He looked rather unhappy,” said the major. “But

surely, Captain Sloman, vou don’t mean —”

“Jealousy. And nothing else.”
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“What! Do you mean to say that he’s jealous of Mau-
rice the mustanger? Poh-poh! Impossible.”

“And why, major?”

“My dear Sloman, Louise Poindexter is a lady, and
Maurice Gerald — a horse-hunter.”

“Ah, gentlemen!” said Sloman, shaking his head.
“You don’t know Miss Poindexter so well as I do. An ec-
centric young lady — to say the least of her. You may
have already seen that for vourselves.”

“Come, come, Sloman!” said the major. “A mus-
tanger? Poh-poh!”

“He’s an Irishman, major, this mustanger. And if he
is what I have some reason to suspect —”

“Whatever he is,” said the major, “he’s here. You
may learn everything from him.”

“I don’t think you will,” said Sloman, as the other
officers turned towards the newcomer.

The mustanger came up to the counter and asked for
a glass of whisky and water. The officers were about to
ask him a few questions when another man entered the
saloon. It was Cassius Calhoun. It could be seen that the
ex-officer of volunteers was under the influence of drink.

“Come, gentlemen!” he cried to the officers. “Drinks
all round! What do you say?”

“Agreed!” replied several voices.

“You, major?”

“With pleasure, Captain Calhoun.”

Apparently by accident Calhoun stood next to Mau-
rice Gerald. The mustanger was at that moment quiet-
ly drinking his whisky and water, and smoking a cigar.
The two men were back to back.

“A toast!” cried Calhoun, taking his glass from the
counter. “America for the Americans, without foreign-
ers — especially the Irish!”
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After that he stepped back and pushed the mus-
tanger with his elbow. As a result Maurice’s drink spilt
on his shirt.

Was it an accident? No one believed it was — even
for a moment.

The mustanger put his glass on the counter, then
drew a silk handkerchief out of his pocket, and started
to wipe the wet shirt.

“I am an Irishman,” said the young man. He re-
turned his handkerchief to the place from which he had
taken it.

“You?” asked Calhoun, turning round. “You're
an Irishman? I thought you were a Mexican, judging by
yvour shirt.”

“I don’t know why my shirt concerns you, Mr. Cas-
sius Calhoun. But as you spilt half my whisky on it, I'll
do the same.”

The mustanger took up his glass. Before the ex-cap-
tain of volunteers could get out of the way, Maurice
splashed the rest of the drink into his face. Calhoun
drew his revolver from its holster. The mustanger did
the same. The two men were ready to shoot.

“Hold!” said the major.

“Why?” shouted Calhoun in anger. “Why, Major
Ringwood? After an insult like that, and from a low fel-
low like him —”

“You were the first to do it, Captain Calhoun.”

“I don’t carel Stand out of the way, major. The quar-
rel is not yours — you have no right to interfere!”

“Indeed! Ha! Ha! I have no right to interfere! Do
you know where you are, sir? This, sir, is a military
post, and I am the commander. I order you to re-
turn your revolver to the holster from which you have
taken it,” said the major. “You will have a chance to
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kill one another, if you like. But not just now. You
must understand, Mr. Calhoun, that you may hurt other
people, Wait till the rest of us can move to a safe dis-
tance.”

Calhoun and Maurice lowered their revolvers. But
they were still holding them in hand.

“lI suspect you still want to fight?” said the major.

“I have no particular wish for it,” modestly answered
Maurice. “If Mr. Calhoun apologizes for what he has
said, and also what he has done —”

“He should do it. He began the quarrel!” said some
of the officers.

“Never!” scornfully said the ex-captain. “Cash Cal-
houn will do nothing of the sort. Apologize indeed! And
to a monkey like that!”

“Enough!” cried the young Irishman, for the first
time showing serious anger. “I gave him a chance for
his life. He refuses to accept it. Now, we don’t both
leave this room alive! Major! I insist that vou and your
friends go away. I want to put an end to it.”

“Ha-ha-ha!” said the ex-captain, laughing. “A chance
for my lifel Go away, all of you. I’'ll show him —”

“Stay!” cried Major Ringwood. “There must be a sig-
nal for the duel. Neither should fire till it is given. Can
anyone suggest anything?”

“I think I can,” said Captain Sloman. “Let the gen-
tlemen go outside along with us. There is a door at each
end of the room. Let them enter again -- one at each
door. Then they can fire.”

“The very thing!” said several voices.

“And what for a signal?” asked the major. “A shot?”

“No. Ring the hotel belll”

“Nothing could be better,” said the major.

All the vigitors of the saloon hurried into the street.
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“Major!” screamed Mr. Oberdoffer, the owner of the
hotel and the saloon. “Surely the gentlemen are not going
to shoot their guns inside the saloon! They’ll break all my
bottles, and my splendid looking-glasses, my crystal clock!”

“No doubt you’ll be paid for the damage,” said the
major. “If you stay in your saloon, you’ll get a bullet
through your body. And that would be worse than the
breaking of vour bottles.”

Helpful Words & Notes

saloon — canyn; nurteiinoe saBesenme Ha Huxom Banane,
B KOTOPOM IOCETUTENAM IIOAABAJUCE IPEUMVIIECTBEHHO
KpenKue HAaIHuTKH

An eccentric young lady — to say the least of her. —
ITO SBKCHEHTpuYHAsd MoJoLas ocoba, ecium He CKA3aTh
GoJsplne.

under the influence of drink — mHaBecene

Agreed! — Pememnol

holster — kobGypa

from a low fellow like him — or Takoro Heroass
nothing of the sort — Huuero momo6uoro
Activities

7 Checking Comprehension

I. Answer the questions.

1) Where did the men who had taken part in the
hunting expedition go in the evening?
2) What was the subject of most conversations?
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3)
4)
9)
6)
7)
- 8)

What kind of drink did the mustanger order?
What did Calhoun do to start the quarrel?
What did Gerald do in response to the insult?
Who interfered in the quarrel?

What rules did the major set?

What was chosen as a signal for the duel?

2. Complete the sentences.

1)

2)

3)

Captain Sloman thought that Calhoun looked un-
happy because
The officers had no chance to ask Gerald a few
questions because .
Major Ringwood ordered Calhoun and Gerald to
go outside because

L Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

1. Fill in the gaps with the nouns from the box.

1)

2)
3)

4)
5)

newcomer
accident
distance
holster
saloon

The at Fort Inge hotel was very pop-
ular with the local men.

Calhoun drew his revolver from its

The came up to the counter and
asked for a glass of whisky and water.

No one believed it was an

The major asked all the visitors to move to
a safe
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2. Choose the right modal verbh.

1)
2)

3)
4)

“He’s the mustanger. You may/should learn from
him everything.”

“Calhoun can/should apologize. He began the
quarrel!”

“There must/can be a signal for the duel.”

“Let them enter again — one at each door. Then
they must/can fire.” |

X Discussing the Text

1. Describe the quarrel in the saloon. Prove that it
wasn’t an accident.

2. What do you think.?

Why Major Ringwood let Calhoun and Gerald have
a duel in the saloon? Did he do the right thing?



Chapter 7

A DUEL

The night was rather dark, though there was still
light enough to see a lot of people outside the saloon.
They knew that something unusual was going on in the
square. The spectators were standing about a dozen yards
from the building. They were watching the movements of
two men -— one at each door. Both were looking into the
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saloon where no sound could be heard. Both were in their
shirt sleeves, without hats. Each had a six-shooter in his
hand. The men were waiting for a signal for the duel.

Finally the hotel bell rang. The duelists rushed in-
side the saloon. The first shots filled the room with
smoke. Both kept their feet, though both were wounded.
The second shots were also fired at the same time. Then
came a single shot, quickly followed by another. Then
there was silence.

Were both dead? No! More shots proved that both
were still alive. Then more shots — and then a sin-
gle shot — the eleventh. The crowd of spectators in the
street was listening for the twelfth shot. But instead of
it they heard the voice of the mustanger.

“My gun is at your head! I have one shot left —
make an apology, or die!”

After a while the other man spoke. It was Calhoun.

“Enough! Drop your gun — I apologize,” he said al-
most in whisper.

o

The duel between Cassius Calhoun and Maurice Gerald
caused something more than the usual interest: it was the
subject of conversations for nine days. Calhoun was dis-
liked in the fort for his arrogance. And there was almost
universal satisfaction at the result of the duel.

Both men had to stay in bed: the wounds were se-
rious. In the hour of his triumph, Maurice had fainted
from loss of blood. He had been taken to a small room
upstairs. Phelim came to the hotel to stay by his side.

“Do you know what the owner is talking about?” said
Phelim. “He’s going to make you pay for the bottles, and
glasses, and other things that were broken that day.”

“Me pay?”
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“Yes, Master Maurice, and not that Yankee.”

“What reason did he give for saying that I should
pay?”

“He said that you were the bird in the hand, and he
would keep you till vou paid for everything.”

“He’d better present his bill to the bird in the bush.
I’'m ready to pay for half the damage done. No more.
You may tell him so, if he speaks to you about it. And,
to tell you the truth, Phelim, I don’t know how I can do
even that. I'm afraid, we’ll have to sell my silver cup,
and perhaps my gun!”

“Don’t say that, master! How will we live, if the gun
goes?”

“As we can. The lasso will help us.”

At that moment a maid appeared in the door, with
a big basket.

“A gentleman’s brought this to you,” she said.

In the basket Phelim found a few bottles of wine,
sweets and delicacies from the kitchen.

“A gentleman, she says. A kind gentleman, I say!”
said Phelim. *Who do you think he was, master?”

“I have no idea. And there’s no note. Some of the
officers of the fort?”

“No. It was packed by a woman.”

“Nonsense, Phelim! I know no lady who should take
so much interest in me.”

Two days later the second basket arrived, then the
third. In the last basket there was finally a letter.

“It’s only Isidora!” said the mustanger.

He opened the letter and read:

“Dear Sir,
I have been staying for a week at the house of Uncle
Silvio. I have heard about your wounds and I am send-

44

ing you some little things. Please make use of them, as
a souvenir of what you did for me. I write in the saddle.
In another moment I am leaving the hacienda.

Isidora Covarubio de los Llanos”

“Thanks — thanks, sweet Isidora!” whispered the
mustanger. “She is so nice to me. But I can’t love her.
I love Louise Poindexter.”

RERRE

Cassius Calhoun spent all his time in his room. He was
a selfish man and had no friends. The only person he loved
was his cousin Louise. Calhoun knew that she didn’t love
him. So he planned to influence her father, Woodley Poin-
dexter. The planter had lost almost all his money. Cassius
Calhoun was, in fact, the real owner of Casa del Corvo.

The ex-captain felt he was a defeated man in the
eves of Louise. But what was even worse, he’d been de-
feated by his rival. Maurice, the mustanger, must die!
If not by Calhoun’s own hand, then by the hand of an-
other. And he knew the very man. There was a Mexican
at the time — like Maurice himself — a mustanger. He
was one of those who had carried Calhoun home on the
night of the duel. And he was Maurice’s enemy.

Calhoun invited the Mexican for a talk. The mus-
tanger made no secret of his hostility to Maurice Gerald.
He said nothing about the reason. Calhoun guessed, that
it was the same as in his own case — a woman! The
Mexican did not give the name. The only thing Calhoun
knew was that it was some dark-eyed girl from a place
on the Rio Grande.

The ex-captain and the Mexican met several times,
possibly discussing plans of revenge. The outside world
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only knew that Calhoun’s new friend was Miguel Di-
az known by the nickname *“El Coyote,” or “Prairie
Wolf.”

Helpful Words & Notes

in their shirt sleeves — B oanHux pyGamrax, 0ea BepxHeil
oI e IbI

six-shooter — InecTH3apAAHBIA DEeBOJbLBEpD

Both kept their feet — O6a mpogonsxanu CTOATDL

Yankee — anxun, xopeunoii amepukxasreln (Koaxaya — ko-
perHolil xurens CIIA, a Mopuc H:xkepansx m Penum
O’Hun ne Taxk gaBHO npmexanu u3d Wpaagauu.)

He’d better present his bill to the bird in the bush. —
3neck obwIrpeIBaercs mocaoBuna A bird in the hand is
worth two in the bush (Jlyulle ogHa NTHYKA B PyKax,
yeM JBe B KyCTax).

in his own case — y Hero camoro

the Rio Grande — pexa Puo-T'pange, pasgensromas CIITA
n Mexcury

Activities
% Checking Comprehension

1. Put the sentences in the right order.

1) The second shots were also fired at the same
time.

2) Calhoun and Gerald kept their feet, though both
were wounded.

3) The spectators heard the voice of the mustanger.
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4) Then came more shots — and then a single
shot — the eleventh.

d8) The duelists rushed inside the saloon.
6) The first shots filled the room with smoke.

2. Say true or false. Correct the false statements.

1) The duel caused great interest in Fort Inge.
2) The wounds of the duelists were not serious.

3) Maurice Gerald wanted to sell his books to pay
for his half of the damage.

4) Isidora sent Maurice Gerald a basket with a few
bottles of wine and delicacies from the kitchen.

5) Mr. Oberdoffer carried Cassius Calhoun home on
the night of the duel.

6) Calhoun invited Miguel Diaz for a talk.

[L] Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

1. Fill in the gaps with the nouns from the box.

hostility
revenge
arrogance

loss
shot

1) The crowd of spectators in the street was listen-
ing for the twelfth

2) Calhoun was disliked in the fort for his

3} Maurice had fainted from of blood.
4) The Mexican mustanger made no secret of his
to Maurice Gerald.
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5) Calhoun discussed with Miguel Diaz a plan of

2. Fill in prepositions if necessary.

1) Calhoun and Gerald were their shirt sleeves.
2) “My gun is your head!”

3) “Drop your gun!”

4) The mustanger must die
5) Miguel Diaz was known

Coyote.”

Calhoun’s own hand.

the nickname “El

g Discussing the Text
1. Describe the duel. Was it fair? Talk about its result.

2. Give your opinion.

What do you know about duels? Can you name any
famous duels? What weapons were used in duels?
Why do you think there are no duels now?

3. Talk about Calhoun and his plan of revenge.

Chapter 8

o ¢ & § 5 o —

ON THE ROOF

It was early morning. Louise Poindexter was stand-
ing on the roof of the house in Casa del Corvo. Was she
looking at a beautiful landscape? No. She was worried
about the young mustanger.
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Suddenly a horseman rode out of the woods and
headed towards the hacienda. Louise recognized him. It
was Zeb Stump the hunter.

“The man I need!” exclaimed the girl. “Perhaps he
can tell me how he is.”

After a while the rider approached the gate.

“Dear Mr. Stump! I'm so glad to see you. Come up
herel There’s a nice view from this roof.”

The old hunter joined the girl on the roof,

“Tell me, Mr. Stump!” said Louise and locked into
Zeb’s grey eyes. “You must know everything. How is he?
Are his wounds dangerous?”

“If you mean Mister Calhoun —

“No — no — no. I know all about him. I'm speaking
not about Mr. Calhoun.”

“Well, Miss Louise. There’s one other man who is
wounded too. And it’s Maurice the mustanger. Are you
speaking about him?”

“Yes! Yes! I know about his quarrel with my cousin.
You see, I have my reasons to be worried about Mr. Ger-
ald’s health.- He saved my life — twice I may say. Tell
me — is he in great danger?”

“Not at all,” said Zeb. “He’s got two bullet holes:
one is just above the ankle, and the other in his left
arm. The wounds are not dangerous, but he lost a lot of
blood. He’s all right now. He says he’s going to be out
of doors in a couple of days.”

“Where is he?”

“He is staying at the hotel. That’s where the duel
took place.”

“Stay here, Mr. Stump, till I come up to you again,”
said the girl and went downstairs. Soon she came back.
She was carrying a basket.

¥

49



“Dear old Zeb, you will take this to Mr. Gerald? These
are little things sick people would like to eat and drink.”

“Certainly, Miss Louise,” said the old hunter.
“Though, 1 as far as I know, he’s already got a couple
of baskets.”

“From whom?”

“From some Mexican woman. Her servant brought
them to the hotel. I've seen them myself today, not far
from here.”

Louise Poindexter realized she had a rival — perhaps
something more. It was not by accident, that the basket
fell from her hands on the stone floor of the courtyard.

For the first time in her life Louise Poindexter was
jealous. It was her first real love: she was in love with
Maurice Gerald.

“I'm sorry about the basket,” she said. “After all,
Mr. Gerald doesn’t need these things. Come, Mr. Stump.
It’s getting hot up here. Let us go down and find you
a glass of your favourite whisky. Come!l”

Later Louise thought much about Zeb’s words.

“This Mexican woman and her servant will be coming
back from Fort Inge soon!” she told herself.

Louise ordered the spotted mare to be saddled and
rode out in the direction of the fort. Soon she met her
rival. It was a young lady, not older than herself. Her
hair was black, and the face was charmingly attractive,

The girls only exchanged short glances. But as they
two rode on, going in opposite directions, both turned
round in the saddle for a second glance at the other.

“Beautiful!” told herself Louise. “Yes. Too beautiful
to be his friend! He loves her!”

During the next three days she saw the Mexican la-
dy once again — from the roof. She knew more about
her now. Isidora Covarubio de los Llanos lived in her fa-
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ther’s house on the Rio Grande. Her uncle had his haci-
enda on the Leona, a mile from Casa del Corvo. She was
an eccentric young lady, as some people thought. And
she was good at throwing the lasso.

There was an interval of several days, during which
the Mexican lady was not seen again. Then early in the
morning Louise saw Maurice Gerald. The mustanger was
slowly riding down the road.

Louise guickly hid behind the railing of the roof. The
horseman stopped by the side of the road and remained
there for a long time, watching Casa del Corvo. Then
Maurice rode on. He returned an hour later. Louise was
sure that he had visited Isidora Covarubio de los Llanos.

The next morning she saw Maurice again. As on the
day before, she hid behind the railing. As on the day be-
fore, he stopped to watch the hacienda. Louise’s heart
was full of hope and fear. There was a moment when
she was ready to show herself. But at the next moment
he was gone. Where? Where, if not to meet Isidora? The
jealous heart of the girl could hold out no longer. She
must find outl!

In less than twenty minutes after that, a spotted mare
with a lady on its back appeared on the same road, and
riding in the same direction., Soon she reached the top of
a hill and looked at a house surrounded by tall trees. It
was the hacienda of Silvio Martinez, the uncle of Isidora.

For some time she watched the hacienda. No one was
seen at the house, or near it. Suddenly she heard a noise
and looked below. The mustanger was riding up the hill
directly towards her. He was alone. There was nothing
to show that Isidora had recently been with him.

“Good morning, Miss Poindexter,” said the mus-
tanger. “Are yvou alone?”

“I’m alone, sir. And why not?”
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“True. I think I’ve heard you say you that prefer
that sort of thing.”

“Don’t you like it yourself, Mr, Gerald?”

“Yes. To tell the truth, I like it very much. I live
at the hotel. It’s a noisy place. That’s why I like to ride
along this quiet road.”

“I believe yvou come here often.”

“Often! I have been only twice down this road. But,
Miss Poindexter, may I ask how vou knew that I go this

way at all?”

“Oh!” said Louise, and she blushed. “I spend much
time on the roof. The view, songs of the birds — it’s
a nice spot, especially in the morning. I saw you as you
passed.”

“You saw me, then?” asked Maurice.

“How could I help it?” said Louise. “The road is not
far from the house. I even saw a lady called Isidora.”

“Isidora? Ah, true!l She has been here for some
time.”

“And has been very kind to Mr. Maurice Gerald?”

“Indeed, it is true. She has been very kind. But I've
had no chance of thanking her. And now she has gone
back to her home on the Rio Grande.”

“Are you telling the truth, sir?”

“Of course, I have not seen her,’

3

said Maurice. “She
sent me some delicacies while I was ill. So I knew she
was here. Isidora is grateful for a small thing I once did
for her.”

“May I ask what it was, Mr. Gerald?”

“Oh, certainly. I once saved her from some rude In-
dians — Wild Cat and his Seminoles. They captured her
when she was making a journey from the Rio Grande to
visit her uncle on the Leona — Silvio Martinez. It’s his
house you can see from here.”
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“A small thing, vou call it? You are modest,
Mr. Gerald. A man who would do that much for me —”

“What would you do for him?” asked the mustanger.

“I"d love him,” said the girl.

“Then,” whispered Maurice into Louise’s ear, “I would
give half my life to see you in the hands of the Indi-
ans — the other half to save you from the danger.”

“Do you mean this, Maurice Gerald? Do you really
mean it?”

“I do!” said Maurice.

Louise Poindexter laid her hands on Maurice’s shoul-
der and kissed him.

Helpful Words & Notes

How could I help it? — Kax s moria He samerurs?
Seminoles — ceMHHOJBI; MHAEHCKOE IJIeM#A
Activities

“’“/ Checking Comprehension

1. Answer the questions.

1) Who came to see Louise Poindexter?

2) What did the hunter tell her about Maurice?

3) Why did Louise ride out in the direction of Fort
Inge?

4) What was her opinion of the Mexican girl?

5) Whom did Louise see early in the morning?

6) Why did she go towards the hacienda of Silvio
Martinez?

7) What did Maurice Gerald tell Louise about Isidora?
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Put the sentences in the right order.

1) Louise Poindexter laid her hands on Maurice’s
shoulder and kissed him.

2) The girls only exchanged short glances.

3) Gerald stopped to watch Casa del Corvo.

4) The old hunter approached the gate.

5) Louise ordered the spotted mare to be saddled
and rode out in the direction of the fort.

6) The basket fell from her hands on the stone floor
of the courtyard,

7) Louise quickly hid behind the railing of the roof.

Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

1.

Fill in the adjectives from the box.

attractive
jealous
favourite
grateful
rude

1) The Mexican girl was

2) Louise was
news.

3) The hunter asked for a glass of his
whisky.

4) Louise was

5) “I once saved her from some

to Zeb Stump for good

of her beautiful rival.
Indians.”

Choose the correct form of the verb.

1) Louise said that Maurice saved/had saved her life
twice.

o4
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2) “The mustanger says he is going/was going to be
out of doors in a couple of days.”

3) The basket fell/had fallen from her hands on the
stone floor of the courtyard.

4) Maurice said that Isidora went/had gone back to
her home on the Rio Grande.

Discussing the Text

Talk about Isidora.

Describe her. Say what you know about her family.
What did Maurice Gerald do for her?
Talk about Louise. Say why she:

* was s0 interested in her rival.
¢ hid behind the railing of the roof.
e went after Maurice Gerald.

Prove that Louise Poindexter was an emotional and
active person.

Chapter 9

COMANCHES ON THE WAR-PATH

There was no open war in Texas with the Indians at

that time. But they were still a topic of discussion at
the breakfast, dinner, and supper tables. In the plant-
er’s hacienda, as in the hunter’s camp, people were less
afraid of wild animals, than of the Indians.
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The Poindexters knew little about the Indians, but
they believed that the danger was real. About two weeks
after the picnic in the prairie they received a letter from
the fort. It came in the early morning and was put in-
to the hands of the planter. He was sitting at the break-
fast-table, together with his daughter Louise, his son
Henry, and his nephew Cassius Calhoun.

“Unpleasant news, father?” asked his daughter.

“ “The Comanches are on the war-path’ — so writes
the major.”

“Is the major sure of it? What does he say, uncle?”
asked Calhoun.

“Last night Wild Cat, the Seminole chief, came to
the fort with some of his men. He said that the Coman-
ches all over Texas had been dancing the war dance for
more than a month. Some of the Comanches can be ex-
pected in these parts at any moment.”

“And Wild Cat himself?” asked Louise. “Can we
trust this Indian? He appears to be as much an enemy
to the whites as to his own people.”

“Quite true, my daughter. You have described the
chief of the Seminoles almost in the same words as
I find in the letter. The major thinks that this two-
faced old rascal will take sides with the Comanches.
Well, T hope we shall not see any redskins in Casa
del Corvo — either Seminoles, or Comanches. And,
Louise,” continued the planter, “please don’t ride
out alone. Henry must be with you, or your cousin
Cassius.”

“Why, father? I have often ridden out alone,” asked
his daughter.

“Yes. Perhaps too often,” said the planter.

Louise didn’t like his words, but she didn’t ask for
an explanation.
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“Remember, my child, you are not in Louisiana,
where a lady may travel anywhere. In Texas there are
Indians, and other criminals.”

“I’ll do what you want, father,” said Louise, rising
from the breakfast table. She went to her room, think-
ing: “What does that mean? Does father know that we
met?”

ok R R w

Calhoun left the dining-room after his cousin. He
was already strong enough to have walks. That morning
he went up the river in the direction of Fort Inge. Half
way between the hacienda and the fort there was the hut
of Miguel Diaz, the Mexican mustanger. He was better
known in Texas as El Coyote.

“Ah, captain, come in,” said the horse-hunter. “Sit
down. Take a chair.”

Calhoun was tired after his long walk. He took
a chair and sat down.

“Mr. Diaz!” he said. “I have come for —

“Oh, I know well enough why you are here. You
want me to kill that Irishman!”

“Welll”

“Well, I promised you I would do it, for five hun-
dred dollars. I will. But the time’s not come yet. What
if somebody finds out? I can’t risk that. I hate the
Irishman as much as you do. But I must wait for the
time, and the chance.”

“You said you could easily do it, if there was any
Indian trouble going on?”

“Of course I said so. If there was —

“You have not heard the news, then?”

“What news?”

"
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“That the Comanches are on the war-path.”

“Is that right, captain?”

“Yes. The news has just reached the fort. I know
that from Major Ringwood.”

“In that case,” answered the Mexican, “Maurice may
die. The Comanches can kill him. Ha! Ha!”

“You are sure of it?”

“Yes, but five hundred dollars is not enough. His
scalp is worth a thousand dollars.”

“A thousand dollars then.,”

“Do you promise it?”

“I do.”

“Then the Comanches will get his scalp.”

Calhoun left the hut.

“A thousand dollars for killing the man I wanted to
kill myself,” said Diaz. “The Comanches are on the war-
path! Can it be true? If so, I must find my old Indian
costume. It’s time to use it again after these three long
yvears of peace.”

kRh k4w

Louise Poindexter not only stopped riding out alone,
but refused to do so in company. If there was danger on
the outside prairie, it was safe in the garden, behind the
high wall of the hacienda. In fact, Louise didn’t need to
ride out to meet Maurice. They could see secretly each
other in the garden. Maurice had already visited Casa
del Corvo twice. The mustanger and the planter’s daugh-
ter agreed to meet again.

About midnight Maurice crossed the river in a small
boat. He stood under the shadow of a big oak, waiting
for the girl.
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Helpful Words & Notes

The Comanches are on the war-path — Ilnems kKoMamueil
Ha Tpome Boiiukl (Komamum -— wmHAelcKoe ILIEMHA, OTJIA-
yapleecHd 0coboil BOMHCTBEHHOCTHI); TPOIOIl BOMHBI HA3hI-
BaJlach TPOIa, KOTOPYI0 HMHIEHNBLI MCIOJL3OBANH A Ha-
mafeHHsA Ha Jjlarepb Bpara, HauuHasd BOEHHEIE JEMCTBHSA.)

the war dance — mnaAcka BOHHBI, KOTOPYK yCTPauBaIH
KOMaHUYM [epea BOSHHBIM IIOX0JO0M HUJIH Haberom

in these parts — B aTUX Kpadax
this two-faced old rascal will take sides with the Co-

manches — »ToT AByAMuHLIE CTAPBIM HeEroxsAil mnepew-
JeT Ha CTOPOHY KOMaHuYen

Activities
it ” .
.7 Checking Comprehension

1. Answer the questions,

1) What letter did the Poindexters receive one day?

2) Did they take the news about the Indians seriously?

3) What did Woodley Poindexter ask his daughter
to do?

4) Where did Cassius Calhoun go?
5) What topic did he discuss with Miguel Diaz?

6) How much money did El Coyote ask for Gerald’s

scalp?
7) Where and when did Louise and Gerald agree to

meet?
2. Say who:

e came to the fort to warn the officers about the
Comanches’ possible attack.
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decided to find his old Indian costume.
stopped riding out of the hacienda.
could see secretly each other in the garden.

Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

1. Complete the table.

to ride
saw
gone
leaving
to take
2. Fill in prepositions if necessary.
1) The planter was sitting ______ the breakfast table.
2) Louise thought that Wild Cat could take sides
the Comanches.
3) “I must wait the time, and the chance.”
4) “The Comanches are the war-path.”
5) Louise felt safe the high wall of the haci-
enda.
6) Maurice had already visited Casa del Cor-
vo twice.

Discussing the Text

Major Ringwood told the news about the Comanches
in a letter. Can you write such a letter?

Describe Calhoun’s meeting with Miguel Diaz.

Why did the mustanger double the price of Maurice’s
scalp? Why did Calhoun agree to pay thousand dol-
lars? Give your ideas.

60

=
|r

e Mrﬁq—ﬂ»_:;_'ﬂ,} 2

Chapter 10
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IN THE GARDEN

The mustanger didn’t have to wait for Louise long.
At the very moment when he was stepping into the boat,
a small white hand opened a window. After a while a girl
appeared on the top of the stairway that led down to the
garden. She could be no other than Louise Poindexter.

The girl noiselessly passed the statues and shrubs
and arrived under the shadow of the oak to meet Mau-

rice,
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“I need to tell you something, love,” said the young
man. “Tomorrow I am going to the Alamo.”

“Why?” asked Louise, worried.

“I have excellent reasons for going,” said the mustanger.

“Excellent reasons! Do you want to meet anyone there?”

“Phelim — no one else. I sent him out about ten
days ago — before the news about the Indians. I'll stay
there only for a day or two. I'm going to put an end to
my prairie life.”

~ “I don’t understand what you mean.”

“It’s very simple. I’ve made a very important decision.
I know you will forgive me, when you know about it.”

“Forgive you, Maurice! For what?”

“For keeping it a secret from you, that — that I am
not what I seem. And one more thing. Yesterday I re-
ceived an important letter from Ireland. I'll need to go
there for a short time. I’'ll return soon and prove to
your proud father that the poor horse-hunter who’s won
his daughter’s heart... Have I won it, Louise?”

“Won it? You know you have more than won it!”

The lovers didn’t hear the footsteps on the gravelled
path of the garden. They didn’t see the dark shadow,
which was hiding behind statues or trees. The listener,
in fact, could hear every word. He could see all their
nmovements. Was it Cassius Calhoun? Yes, it was he.

A

It was by accident the cousin of Louise Poindexter
found out the truth he didn’t like. At midnight Calhoun
went to the roof to smoke a cigar. He was standing,
with his arms crossed, when he saw a horseman near Ca-
sa del Corvo. The stranger crossed the river and made
his way into the garden. Was he a thief?
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Then the ex-captain saw Louise.

“Who could this man be but Maurice the mus-
tanger?” he said.

Calhoun hurried down the stairs, made his way
through the house, and out into the garden. He was wit-
ness to their kisses. He learned about the mustanger’s plan
to leave in the morning and about his promise to return.

The ex-captain was so angry, that he was ready to
kill his rival with a knife. But something stopped him.
Something made him hurry back in the direction of the
house, leaving the lovers. Where did Cassius Calhoun
go? Certainly not to his own room. He went to the room
of his cousin, young Henry Poindexter.

Calhoun didn’t need a candle: Henry’s room was
filled with moonlight. The ex-captain came up to the bed
with mosquito curtains.

“Wake up! Henry! Wake up!” he said.

He shook Henry’s shoulder.

“Oh! Ah! You, cousin Cash? What is it? Not the In-
dians, I hope?”

“Worse than that — worse! Quick! Get up! Quick, or
it will be too late! Quick, or the name of Poindexter will
be the laughing-stock of Texas!”

After such words the youngest Poindexter got up and
stood on his feet in the middle of the floor in surprise.

“Don’t wait to dress,” cried Calhoun. “Stay, you may
put on your pants.”

“What is it, Cash? What does it all mean?” asked
the young man.

They ran out into the garden.

“See for yourself!” said Calhoun. “Look through that
opening in the trees. Do you see anything there?”

“Something white. It looks like a woman’s dress. It
is that. It’s a woman!”

643



“It is a woman. Who do vou think she is?”

“I can’t tell. There’s another figure by her side. Is it
a man?”

“It is a man. That man is Maurice the mustanger!”

“And the woman?”

“It’s Louise — your sister — in his arms!”

These words made Henry jump.

“Go! And take this,” said Calhoun.

He passed his own knife and gun into the hands of
his cousin.

As if a shot had struck him through the heart, the
brother rushed along the path.

“On, my boy! See that you don’t hurt her. Shoot at
him, and then go at him with the knife if you miss.
Don’t give him a word of warning. I’'ll stay near and
take care of you, if you get into danger.”

In six seconds Henry was by his sister’s side.

“Louise!” he cried, “Stand aside, and give me
a chance of killing this scoundrel! Aside, sister!”

For Henry to shoot at the mustanger was to risk
taking his sister’s life. So he paused before pulling the
trigger. The girl suddenly threw her arms around her
brother.

“Go! Go!’ she shouted to Maurice. “My brother is
wrong. Leave me to explain. Away, Maurice!”

“Henry Poindexter,” said the young Irishman. “I am
not the scoundrel you think I am. Give me time, and
I shall prove that I deserve her confidence — and love.”

Henry’s struggle to get from his sister’s arms be-
came less energetic. Maurice was on his way back to the
wild prairies. |

“Oh, Henry! You are wrong!” cried Louise. “Believe
me, brother, he is a gentleman. He’s a noble man. And
I love him! Oh, brother! Why did you insult him?”
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“Have I done so?”

“You have, Henry — rudely!”

“l shall go after, and apologize. I shall go now.
I liked him when we first met — you know I did? Sis-
ter! Come back into the house with me. You’d better go
to bed. As for me, I’ll ride to the hotel. I hope I can
still overtake him and apologize for my rudeness.”

Louise and Henry returned to the house. As soon as
they got inside, a third figure appeared from the shrubs
and followed them up the stone steps. It was their cous-
in, Cassius Calhoun. He, too, had thoughts about the
mustanger,

Helpful Words & Notes

gravelled path — ycrimaHHas rpasueM AOPOXKKE
made his way into the garden — npo6paacs B can
the name of Poindexter will be the laughing-stock of

Texas — umsa I[lolingexkcrepoB OyZeT IMOCMeNINIEM AJH
Bcero Texaca

Don’t give him a word of warning. — Ilpexyupexznars
He Hago.

I deserve her confidence — {I sacnyxusar ee nosepus

Activities

—

% Checking Comprehension

1. Answer the questions.

1) Where did Louise Poindexter meet Maurice
Gerald?
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2) Where was the mustanger going the following
day?

3) What was Cassius Calhoun doing in the garden?

4) Why did he follow Louise and Gerald?

5) Where did Calhoun tell Henry?

6) What did Henry do?

7) How did Louise save the man she loved?

Complete the sentences,

1) Maurice Gerald received an important letter from

2) At midnight Calhoun went to the roof to smoke

a
3) Calhoun was ready to kill his rival with a

4) Calhoun passed his own
into the hands of his cousin.

5) Henry decided to go after the mustanger to apol-
ogize for his

N Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

1. Fill in the gaps with the nouns from the box.

trigger
scoundrel
confidence
laughing-stock
thief

1) Henry was afraid that his family name would be
the of Texas,
2) “He’s a noble man, he’s not a

bt

66

e

3} Henry couldn’t make himself pull the
4) Gerald wanted to prove that he deserved Louise’s
and love.

5) Calhoun first thought that the stranger was
a

Fill in the prepositions around, into, at, by, on,

1) Louise appeared the top of the stairway.
2) Calhoun found out the truth about Louise and

Gerald accident.
3) *“Shoot him, and then go him
with the knife, if you miss.”
4) “I'll take care of you, if you get danger.”
3) Louise suddenly threw her arms her

brother.

Discussing the Text

Talk about the date (cBmmamme) of Louise and Mau-
rice Gerald. Say:

e where and when they met.
e what Maurice told Louise.
* how Henry tried to kill the mustanger.
s how Louise saved Maurice.

Describe how Calhoun followed the lovers and tried
to use Henry to kill his rival.

What can you tell about Henry? Prove that he was
a noble man and a good brother.
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Chapter 11

THE TRAVELLERS ON THE SAME ROAD

“Such a fool! And I am a fool myself! There was
a perfect chance for me to shoot that horse-hunter from
behind the tree. And without risking anything! My cous-
in, a young lady, deceived by a scoundrell No word
against it! Such a chance! Why have I missed it? And
now this baby is going to apologize to the man who has
made a fool of his sister!”

Those were the thoughts of the ex-captain of cav-
alry Cassius Calhoun. He came up to the stable of Ca-
sa del Corvo. At that moment a man pushed the door
wide open, a saddled horse was following him. The man
had a Panama hat on his head, and a cloak around his
shoulders, It was Henry.

“Fool! You’ve let him off?” said the ex-captain. “Give
me back my knife and gun. Why didn’t you use them as
I told you? You've made a mess of it!”

“I have,” said the young man. “I know it. I've in-
sulted a noble man.”

“Insulted a noble man! Ha — ha — ha! You’re mad!”

“I have done enough to deserve being called worse
than mad.”

“Where are you going?”

“After Maurice the mustanger — to apologize to him
for my rudeness.”

“Ha — ha -— hal Surely you are joking?”

“No. If you come along with me, you will see!”

“Then I say again you are not only mad! You're
an idiot.”

“You're not very polite, cousin Cash.”
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Without any another word, the young gentleman
jumped into his saddle and rode off.

Calhoun hurried to his own room and took his coat.
Then he came out again, went to the stable to get his
own horse.

For a mile or more Calhoun followed the same road
that had been taken by Henry Poindexter. When he was
about halfway between Casa del Corvo and the fort, he
took another road, saying to himself:

 “There’s still a chance. A good one, though not so
cheap as the other. It will cost me a thousand dollars.
What of that? I need to get rid of this Irishman, who
has poisoned every hour of my existence! Coyote will get
before him on the road. He spoke of his hut upon the
Alamo. The Mexican must know the place, or the trail
leading to it. The owner may never reach it. There may
be Indians upon the road!”

Calhoun arrived at the door of the hut of the Mex-
ican mustanger. The door was wide open. Miguel Diaz
was snoring. The captain couldn’t wake the mustanger:
the man was drunk.

“Another chance lost!” said Calhoun through his
teeth. “All this night it’s been against me! No use stay-
ing here. It might be morning before he wakes up.
I may as well go back to the hacienda and wait there; or
else — or else —”

Calhoun said nothing more. But it was clear he had
made a decision. He jumped into his saddle and rode off.

R ARE

Just at the time when Calhoun was leaving the hut
of the Mexican mustanger, there were two other horse-
men in the prairie of Southern-Western Texas. The
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first one had left the hotel in Fort Inge and was riding
calmly, deep in thought. He had a striped serape on his
shoulders.

After a while another horseman in a cloak appeared
on the same road. He was in a hurry. It seemed he was
trying to overtake the first one.

Then he also disappeared from view. And at that
very moment a third horseman rode from Fort Inge.
Like the other two, he continued to ride across the prai-
rie. He had a short rifle under his red coat. The horse-
man was riding slowly — even for a traveller. From
time to time he turned around and listened.

An hour later the positions of the three travellers
changed. The first horseman was entering an opening in
the woods. For the first time he showed hesitation. He
stopped, and for a second or two sat in his saddle looking
at the ground before him. Then he rode into the opening.

At that moment the horseman in the cloak saw him
and rode after him without hesitation.

Soon the third horseman approached the opening.
But instead of riding into it, as the others had done, he
turned to the edge of the forest. Then he left his horse
among the trees, and came out into the opening on foot.

&k R &k

Then came a sound of a rifle shot. No other sounds
followed.

Helpful Words & Notes

No word against it! — Huxro 6bI 1 ci10Ba He cKasajl
cloak — nuamm, Haxugka

il

You've let him off? — Tr ero ornycTun?

You’ve made a mess of it! — Tws BCcEé ucnoprna!

to get rid of — msbaBuTHCH OT

deep in thought — moraomeHHBI CBOMMHM MEICJIAMU

Activities
% Checking Comprehension

1. Say who:

e had a Panama hat on his head, and a cloak
around his shoulders.

e called Henry an idiof.
e« arrived at the door of the hut of the Mexican

mustanger.
e Wwas snoring.
e left Diaz’s hut with a new decision on his mind.

2. Put the senfences in the right order.

1) A horseman in a red coat rode from Fort Inge.
2) A horseman in a cloak appeared on the same

road.

3) The first horseman rode into the opening in the
woods.

4) The third horseman turned to the edge of the
forest.

5) A horseman with a serape on his shoulders left
the hotel in Fort Inge.

6) The third horseman left his horse among the
trees, and came out into the opening on foot.

7) The second in the cloak saw the first rider and
rode after him without hesitation.
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Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

1. Use the verb in the right form.

1) Henry was sure that he (to insult) a noble man.

2) Calhoun thought that he (to need) to get rid of
Gerald.

3) Calhoun felt that Gerald (to poison) every hour
of his existence.

4) An hour later the positions of the three travellers
(to change).

2. Fill in the gaps with the nouns from the box.

opening
fool
stable
chance ]
cloak

1) Henry had a good
rice Gerald.
2) Calhoun made a

of overtaking Mau-

of his cousin.

3) The first horseman entered the in the
woods.
4) Calhoun went to the __ to get his own

horse.

5) Henry put on his and rode off.

g Discussing the Text

1. Describe the conversation between Calhoun and his
cousin Henry. Prove that Henry Poindexter was po-
lite but firm.

T2

2. What do you think?

Calhoun said that he had missed a perfect chance
to shoot the mustanger from behind the tree. Why
didn’t he shoot?

Chapter 12

s— B B D P E———

A MAN MISSING

The planter’s family gathered in the dining-room for
breakfast, when it was discovered that one of its mem-
bers was misging. Henry was the absent one.

“Where can the boy be?” asked his father, for the
fourth time.

Louise and Calhoun said nothing. The ex-captain sat
nervously in his chair.

A black servant entered.

“It’s very strange that Henry is not here for break-
fast!” said the planter, for about the tenth time. “Plu-
tol” he called the servant. “Go to Henry’s room. If he's
there, tell him we’re at breakfast.”

“Yes, Mister Woodley,” said the servant.

“There’s something strange in all this,” said the
planter. “If he is not there, where is he? At the fort,
perhaps, with those young fellows. Not at the saloon,
I hope?”

“Oh, no! He wouldn’t go there,” said Calhoun.

He was puzzled by the absence of Henry as was
Poindexter himself. But he said nothing about what he
had seen at night.
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“I hope he knows nothing about it,” thought Louise.
“If not, it may still remain a secret between brother and
me. But why is he still absent? I hope he overtook Mau-
rice and made it up with him.”

Pluto came back in the dining-room.

“Welll” cried his master, without waiting for him to
speak. “Is he there?”

“No, Mister Woodley,” said Pluto, “he is not there.
But his horse is there.”

“His horse there! Not in his sleeping-room, I sus-
pect?”

“No, Mister Woodley. It’s at the big gate.”

“His horse at the gate?”

“Yes, and the animal —”

“Speak out! What’s wrong with him? Is his tail
missing?”

“No! I'm afraid the old horse has lost his rider!”

“What! Henry thrown from his horse? Nonsense, Plu-
tol My son is a good a rider. Impossible!”

“I don’t say he was thrown out of the saddle. Come
to the gate, Mister Woodley, and see for yourself.”

The planter, his daughter and nephew went to the
outside gate of the hacienda. Another servant stood
holding Henry’s horse. The animal was wet and very ex-
cited. There were dark spots over his shoulders — all of
the colour of blood.

T

The planter went to Fort Inge. Calhoun, on his own
horse, followed him.

The news soon spread around. The Indians were out!
Henry Poindexter had no enemies in all Texas! Among
the horsemen, who came quickly to Fort Inge, no one

T4

doubted that the Comanches had done it. It was simply
a question of how, when, and where. And where is the
body? Who last saw Henry Poindexter?

Oberdoffer, the hotel’s owner, made his way through
the crowd. He said that Maurice the mustanger had that
night ridden out at a late hour. He had returned to the
hotel at a still later hour and asked for his bill. Then
he paid every cent of it and left. Twenty minutes later
Henry Poindexter knocked at the door, and asked after
Mr. Maurice Gerald. And then he rode off, clearly trying

to overtake the mustanger.
Did anyone know where the horse-hunter had his

home? There were some people who believed it was some-
where on the Alamo.

So it was decided to go to the Alamo to find the
missing man or his dead body. Perhaps, also, to find the
body of Maurice the mustanger.

ok R R %

The search-party under command of Major Ringwood
tried to move slowly. There were good reasons for that:
the Indians were on the war-path.

In the prairie no trail was discovered. Finally the
search-party approached an opening in the woods.
The trackers knew that a path to the Alamo passed
through this opening. So they guided the expedition
into it.

After a while one of the trackers came up to Major
Ringwood.

“What is it?” asked the major.

“The hoof marks of two horses, major.”

“Well, Spangler, my good fellow, what do you make
of it?”
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“Not much,” said Spangler., “Do you see that, ma-
jor?” said he, pointing to the ground.

“Blood, a pool of it,” said the major. “Did the Co-
manches do it?”

“No,” said the tracker.

“Why do you say that, Spangler?”

“There are only four hoof marks instead of forty.
You see, both horses had shoes. Comanches don’t ride
shod horses. One of the horses was a mustang, the oth-
er — an American horse.”

Spangler and Ringwood followed the hoof marks.
Soon the trail ended: the horses came back.

The tracker got off his horse to examine the ground.

“They were here together,” he said, “and for some
time. They even had enough time to smoke a cigar.
Here’re the stumps. Men don’t smoke in company when
they want to cut each other’s throats. So the quarrel
had to be after the cigars were smoked out. And one of
them killed the other. I'm afraid poor Mr. Poindexter
will never see his son alive.”

“Most strange!” exclaimed the major.

“We must follow the hoof marks of the two horses
from the place where the blood is,” said the tracker.

“All right, Spangler,” said the major. “But say noth-
ing about what we’ve seen.”

“All right,” said the tracker. “Give me ten minutes
to find them, and then come on to my signal.”

Helpful Words & Notes

made it up with him — nomupnsacs ¢ HuM
search-party — mowmckosBas rpynma
shod horses — mogxoBaHHLIe JomIATH
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Activities

% Checking Comprehension

1.

Say who was:

Pluto.

Mr. Oberdoffer.
Spangler,
Ringwood.

Answer the questions.

2)
3)
4)

3)
6)
7)

Who was missing in Casa del Corvo the following
morning?

What was wrong with Henry’s horse?

Where did Woodley Poindexter and Calhoun go?
What did Mr. Oberdoffer have to say about Hen-
ry and Maurice Gerald?

Where did the search-party go?

What did the tracker discover in the woods?
What conclusions did he make?

Complete the sentences.

1)

2)
3)

4)

No one doubted that Henry Poindexter had been
taken by the Indians because
The search-party moved slowly because
It was thought in the fort that Gerald cnuld be
missing too because
The tracker was sure that the Indians had nothing
to do with Henry’s disappearance because

I ld Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

Fill in the nouns from the text.

1)

Henry’s horse was covered by small _ of blood.
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2)

3)

4)

The mustanger came up to the hotel’s owner and
asked for his

A to the Alamo passed through the

opening in the woods.
The tracker discovered the marks of

two shod horses.

2. Fill in the prepositions into, through, up, of.

1)
2)

3)

4)

Mr. Oberdoffer made his way the crowd.
“I hope he overtook Maurice and made it

with him.”

The trackers guided the expedition the
opening in the woods.

“Spangler, what do you make Hn

g Discussing the Text

1. Imagine that you're Pluto.

Say when you discovered that Henry was missing.
Describe Henry’s horse,

2. Imagine that you're Mr. Overdoffer.

Say what you remember about the previous evening.

3. Talk about the search-party. Say:

L

who took part in it.

what Spangler discovered in the opening.

why Major Ringwood decided to keep new facts
a secret.

Chapter 13

AR sy 4 I = TR

THE MARKED BULLET

Major Ringwood gave orders to move through the
forest, so that Woodley Poindexter couldn’t see the
blood of his son. When the search-party reached a small
stream, an animal jumped out of the bushes. It was
a beautiful and rare creature — the jaguar. Two peo-
ple fired their guns at the same time. They were Cas-
sius Calhoun and a young planter, who was riding by his
side. The jaguar dropped dead. Whose shot killed him?
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“Mine, I'll prove,” said the ex-captain. “You see,
gentlemen, if the bullet is mine, you’ll find my initials
on it — C. C. C. My bullets are special, so that I can al-
ways tell when the trophy is mine.”

The bullet was taken out. It showed Calhoun had
told the truth. |

Soon the search-party arrived at the spot where the
tracker had found hoof marks. There were no longer
marks made by two horses. The ground showed only the
hoof marks of one horse. Spangler knew it was the mus-
tang. But he was puzzled. The hoof marks went zigzag-
ging, turning and circling.

“Perhaps there was no rider or he was asleep in the
saddle,” thought the tracker. “Could these be the hoof
marks of a horse with a killer?”

Spangler didn’t know what to think.

What happened after that, made the mystery even
worse. The sun was low down when the men saw
a strange shape — a horseman without a head!

The eyes of all the men were turned in the same di-
rection. Officers, planters, soldiers, trackers couldn’t
move in the saddles and say a word. No one even of-
fered an explanation. Most men were so terrified that
they couldn’t even think. They could only see that there
was a horse of a large size, with a man on his back.
Nothing of colour could be noticed — neither the clothes
of the man, nor the skin of his horse. It was just a gi-
gantic black shape against the golden background of the
setting sun. It was so strange — and so absolutely un-
naturall!

What could it mean? Was it a ghost? Surely it
couldn’t be human!

“It’s the devil himself!” cried one of the bravest sol-
diers.
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The headless horseman suddenly turned his horse and
went straight towards the sun.

o R oW oW

The search-party, under command of Major Ring-
wood, was not the only one that left Fort Inge that
morning. Long before it — in fact at dawn — four
horsemen went in the direction of the Nueces. They
could not be going in search of the dead body of
Henry Poindexter. At that hour no one suspected that
the voung man was dead, or even that he was miss-
ing.

All the horsemen were Mexicans. One of the four
rode a better horse than any of his companions. The
man was in his mid thirties. His face was handsome,
but he had a cold and cruel animal eye. He was known
among his friends by a name of an animal well known

upon the plains of Texas — “El Coyote.”
What made him cross the prairie at this early hour
of the morning — as the leader of others — when a few

hours before, he was seen drunk in his hut?

The sudden change of situation is not so hard to ex-
plain.

Calhoun had left the door open, and in this way it
remained until early morning. Cold air woke El Coyote.
He found a large bottle, but it was now empty.

“Not a drop,” he cried in angry disappointment.
“I must go to the saloon. If it is open, Oberdoffer’ll give
something to the Coyote. Ha, ha, hal”

The hotel was a few hundred yards from his hut, on
the same side of the river. Twenty minutes later El Coy-
ote was in the fort. He was lucky. Oberdoffer was al-
ready in the saloon.
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“Mister Diaz!” said Oberdoffer to his new guest.
“You’re early. Give me your bottle. I'll fill it for you.”

“Here’s the money. And be quick about it.”

“Are you in a hurry? I'm afraid the Irishman’ll get
wild horses before you. He went off last night. He left
my house late — after midnight. Mister Maurice Gerald
was a good guest. He paid his bill like a rich man.”

The Mexican tried not to show his interest.

“There are plenty of mustangs on the plaing —
enough for all horse-hunters in Texas,” he said and
walked out of the saloon.

El Coyote visited three other houses and returned
home. Only then he noticed the hoof marks near the hut.

“The American captain was here last night,” he said.
“l remember something. I think he wanted to tell me
about Gerald’s departure. Ha! Ha! I don’t need more in-
structions from him. I'm going to earn his thousand dol-
lars. When I get them, I'll go back to the Rio Grande,
and see what can be done with Isidora.”

Diaz remained at his hut only long enough to eat
a few pieces of meat. Then he rode to meet the three
horsemen. He told his companions that they were going
to the Alamo.

“lI know the Alamo well,” said one of them, a mus-
tanger himself. “I’ve hunted horses there. The nearest
way to it is through an opening vou see out there.”

“You forget that we’re riding shod horses. Indians
don’t go out from Fort Inge and then straight to the Al-
amo,” said Diaz.

“Oh, true!” answered the man. “I didn’t think about it.”

The three companions followed El Coyote in silence
till they reached the forest, a few miles from the open-
ing. The four men got off their horses and tied them to
the trees.
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Helpful Words & Notes

The hoof marks went zigzagging, turning and cir-
cling. — Cxen ussuBajca 3UI3araMul, MeHAJ HalpapBjie-
HUe 1 OMHUCHIBAJ KPYTH.

terrified = frightened

It was just a gigantic black shape against the golden
background of the setting sun. — 9ro ObLT BCero
JUIIL THTAHTCKHUN UepHBIM CUNY3T HA 30JI0TOM (OHE 3a-

XOAAIIEro COJIHILA.

at dawn — Ha paccseTte

The man was in his mid thirties, — Myxxunte OblI0 3a
TPHAIATh.,

a cold and eruel animal eye — XoJOAHBIA M Hayke 3Bep-

CKUM BITAAL

Activities
@ Checking Comprehension

1. Answer the questions.

1) Where did the search-party go?

2) Who shot the jaguar?

3) How did Calhoun prove it?

4) Whose hoof marks did the search-party discover?

5) What terrified the men in the forest?
6) Who else left Fort Inge before the search-party?

7) What was Diaz’s plan?

2. Say why:

e Major Ringwood gave orders to move through the
forest.
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Spangler was puzzled when he saw zigzagging
hoof marks,

Miguel Diaz went to the saloon early in the
morning.

El Coyote refused to ride through the opening in
the forest.

@] Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

1.

Fill in the gaps with the nouns from the box.

1)
2)
3)
4)

3)

ghost
bullet
size
shape
stream

The headless horseman was riding a horse of
a large
Calhoun’s had his initials on it.
The jaguar attacked the men by the
The men saw a gigantic black =
a horseman without a head.

Most people thought it was a or
a devil.

Fill in prepositions if necessary.

1)
2)

3)
4)

Planters, officers, trackers went ___ search of
Henry Poindexter or his dead body.

The four Mexicans left Fort Inge dawn
and went the direction of the Nueces.
Miguel Diaz was a man hig mid thirties.
Two people fired .

their guns at the jaguar.
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5) The three companions followed El Coyote
silence till they reached the forest.

« Discussing the Text

1. Imagine that you took part in that search-party.
Talk about the headless horseman.

When did you see him? What did he look like? What
did you feel about him? Why?

2. Answer the guestions and talk about Miguel Diaz.

1) What did he look like?
2) What did he do for a living?
3) What kind of nickname did he have? Can you say

why?
4) Why was he eager to kill Maurice Gerald?

Chapter 14

syt & § § & > W T

FOUR COMANCHES

The following morning, about a guarter of a mile
from the opening, a young man in the cloak and Panama
hat was lying on the ground. He was on his back, with
face turned to the sky. A big tree was near, but it could
not protect him from the sun. Was he dead?

The man opened his eyes.
“Where am I? Trees above — around mel” he said.

“Now I have it. I struck my head against a tree. My left leg
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hurts, Ahl! It may be broken! Where is the horse? Gone off,
of course. He should be in the stable of Casa del Corvo.”

The young man tried to get up and failed. Then he
tried to rise to his feet again. He found that he could
stand only on one leg. It was no use, standing upon it.
So he lay down again.

Two hours brought no change in his situation.

“It will kill me, if I stay here,” he said. “I must try
to reach water. There’s a stream somewhere in this for-
est. I must get to it, if I have to erawl on my hands
and knees. The longer I stay here, the worse it will
be. The sun grows hotter. I may faint, and then — the
wolves... But if I find water, all may vet be well. I re-
member the stream well enough. It should be south-east
from here. I shall try that way.”

The man began making his way through the forest,
crawling on his hands and knees. He often had to make
stops to rest. He was about a quarter of a mile from
that place, when he had a new idea.

“What about a ecrutch?” he said. “Ho! My knife is
still here.”

The young man drew the knife from his belt and
cut down a young tree and made a rude crutch. Now he
could move a little faster.

It was not easy. The sun was almost in the zenith.
The man was thirsty. His wounded leg caused him much
pain with every step. The thorns of the bushes scratched
his face, hands and legs. Soon all his face was covered
in sweat and blood.

Suddenly he heard sounds of running water. It was
the stream!

The wounded man took his crutch again and went
in its direction. It was his strength and the love of life
that saved him.
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In the mustanger’s hut Phelim O’Neal sat down on
a chair in the middle of the room and looked at Tara,
his master’s dog.

“Where is the master, I wonder? He said he would be
here by eight o’clock in the morning, and it’s now six in
the afternoon. Something’s keeping him. Don’t you think
so, Tara?” he said. “Come! Let us take a look over the big
plain. If master’s coming at all, we could see him.”

Phelim took the path through the woods and came to
the top of the cliff. From that spot where he was stand-
ing, he could see the whole plain. The sun was low down
on the horizon, but shining from a cloudless sky. Phelim
looked in the direction in which he expected his master
should appear, and stood silently watching.

After a while he saw a horseman, who was heading
towards the Alamo. He was still more than a mile away,
but even at that distance the faithful servant could
see that it was his master. The horseman was wearing
a striped serape. It was true Navajo. Maurice Gerald
was the only man in those parts who had such a serape.

“It looks strange, doesn’t it, Tara? It’s hot enough
to roast a steak on these stones. And yet the mas-
ter doesn’t seem to think so,” said Phelim. “I hope he
hasn’t caught a cold in that hotel.”

The man watched the approaching horseman for some
time.

“What’s that?” he cried. “He’s got the serape over
his head! He’s playing us a trick, Tara. He wants to
give you and me a surprise... No! He has no head!
Is it the master? It’s too short for him! And the
head... Where is it? Something’s clearly very wrongl!
What does it mean, Tara?”
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The dog gave a howl and rushed towards the horse-
man. Tara was already close, when the horse suddenly
turned around and galloped away across the plain.

Phelim rushed down from the top of the cliff to
the hut. He closed the skin door behind him and bar-
ricaded it with several large packages that lay near.
But it was no use. What protection could there be in
a closed door against something which was not of this
world?!

The only thing that could give the frightened man
some comfort was whisky.

WRFT AR

At midnight a group of men got off their horses and
came up to the mustanger’s hut. There were only four
of them — all in the war costume of the Comanche. But
they were not Indians. They were Mexicans. And their
chief was Miguel Diaz, the mustanger, better known as
El Coyote.

The Mexicans spent some time by the door of the
hut, listening.

“He’s not here,” said El Coyote. “It is possible he
hasn’t yet got home.”

“We’d better go inside, and make sure,” suggested
one of his men.

“Why not?” asked the second.

“Let's have something to eat too. I’m hungry,” added
the third.

Diaz kicked the skin door.

“It’s closed,” he said. “Done to keep out visitors in
his absence. Lions, tigers, bears — perhaps Indians. Ha!
Ha! Hal”

He gave another kick.

B8

“No use kicking. It’s barricaded with something —
something heavy, too,” said the mustanger. “It doesn’t
matter. I'll soon see what’s inside.”

El Coyote drew a knife from his belt and cut a large
hole in the skin of the door. Then he put his hand into
the hole and found the packages.

The Mexicans moved the packages aside and opened
the door. Then they entered the hut and saw a man in
the middle of the floor.

“Is he asleep?” asked one of the Mexicans.

Diaz examined the man.

“No, he’s drunk. He’s the servant of the Irishman.
[ saw this fellow before. His master is not at home,” he
said. “Ah! Here’s the bottle. There’s enough to give us
a drink.”

The men distributed the whisky.

“We must wait for him,” said El Coyote. “He can-
not be much longer now. You, Barajo, go up to the cliff.
He must come that way from the Leona. The rest remain
here with me. We can meet him under the big cypress
tree. Barajo, as soon as you see him, come here and let
us know. And be sure you give us time to get under the
cypress. We may never have such a chance again.”

Barajo left the hut, and the other visitors sat down
to play cards.

Helpful Words & Notes

crutch — KoeTsLIb

It was true Navajo. — 3rto 6blII0 cepams, COTKAHHOE HH-
AeHaMi njJeMeHH HaBaxo,

to roast a steak — uToGmI BaskapuTe KycoK Msca

He's playing us a trick — OH xower Hag mamMu mOUIYTUTHL
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The dog gave a howl — Cofaka maBrLIa
skin door — xaBeps, cAenaHHas W3 pPaMbl, OOTAHYTOH IIKY-

poil MycTaHra
comfort — 30. yrenienue
to keep out visitors — He BnyCKaTh rocreii

Activities

@ Checking Comprehension

1. Complete the sentences.

1)

2)

3)

4)

0)
6)

The wounded man began making his way through
the forest, crawling on his hands and knees to
the
He cut down a young tree and made a rude __

The horseman was wearing a Navajo striped

The only one thing that could give terrified Phe-
lim some comfort was

The Mexicans were wearing
El Coyote decided to meet Gerald under

——

2. Answer the questions,

1)
2)
3)
4)

3)

6)

What was the wounded young man wearing?
What was wrong with him?

Why did Phelim come to the top of the cliff?
What did Phelim think when he saw the horse-
man without a head?

How did the Mexicans get inside the mustanger’s
hut?

What did they do there?

90

L1 Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

Fill in the gaps with the adjectives from the box.

1)
2)
3)
4)

9)

wounded
thirsty
striped
faithful

running

The man wanted to reach the stream because he
was

The leg caused the man much pain
with every step.

After a while he heard the sound of

water,

Even from a mile away the servant
could recognize his master.
Gerald was the only man with a serape,

Find in the text the English for:

Yro-To ero zazep:xano.

Ceiiuac Tax ’KapKO, UTO MOMKHO KADHUTH MSCO Ha
ATUX KaMHAX.

Hanermock, 4To OH He MIPOCTYAMJICA B 3TOH TOCTHHHMIE.
On xoueT, uToOBI MBI ¢ TOGOH YAMBUINUCKH,

MoskeT OmITH, HaM HUKOTAA OO0Jblle He MPEACTa-
BHTCA TAKOW clayuaii.

Discussing the Text

Talk about the wounded man. Describe what he feolt
and what he did to get to the stream.

91



2, Imagine that you're Phelim, Say:

e why you came to the top of the cliff.
e whom you saw on the plain.
e what you thought about the horseman.

3. Talk about the Mexicans. Describe how they got in-
side Gerald’s hut.

Chapter 15

g’ % 3 B & o Tayoee.

THE HEADLESS HORSEMAN AGAIN

An hour passed. Suddenly some sound interrupted
the game of the Mexicans. It was the cry of Phelim. He
finally opened his eyes and saw a strange company with
him in the hut.

The playvers jumped to their feet, and drew their
knives from the belt., At that moment Barajo appeared
in the doorway.

“He is coming — quick!”

The other men rushed out of the hut to the cliff.
They hid under the branches of a big cypress, waiting
for the mustanger.

Soon they heard the sound of hoofs. But the horse-
man was not vet seen in the dark.

“Don’t kill him!” whispered Miguel Diaz to his men.
“There’s no need for that just yet. I want to have him
alive for an hour or so. I have my reasons. Get him and
his horse. There can be no danger. He’ll be surprised, and
unprepared. If he resists, shoot him. But let me fire first.”

The horseman finally approached the shadow of the

cypress.
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“Stop! To the ground!” cried El Coyote.

He rushed forward and seized the reins. The other
three tried to get the man in the saddle.

There was no struggle at all. No shots. Not even
a word in protest,

The horse alone protested. He moved back and drew
the Mexicans after him into the moonlight. What was
that? The Mexicans let the horseman go and ran back
to their own horses with loud cries. Then they hurriedly
rode off.

They saw something that had frightened braver peo-
ple. They saw a horseman without a head!

L

Was it a ghost? Surely it could not be human!

So thought El Coyote and his terrified companions.
5o thought Phelim. So thought the people from the
search-party, who saw the Headless Horseman as well.

“What do you make of it, gentlemen?” asked Major
Ringwood.

“An Indian trick?” suggested one of the officers.

“I don’t think it'’s Indian,” said the major. “I don’t
know what to think. What’s your opinion, Spangler?”

The tracker shook his head.

“l don’t know. It must either be a man, or a dum-
my!” he said.

“That’s it — a dummy!” cried several people.

“Whatever it is — man, dummy, or devil,” said one
officer, “there’s no reason why we should be frightened
to follow his trail. Has it left any trail, T wonder?”

“If he has,” replied Spangler, “we’ll soon see. Shall
we move forward, major?”

“Yes, of course,” said the major.
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By that time the sun had disappeared over the horizon.
So it was decided to continue the search in the morning.
But socon a horseman arrived with a letter for the major.
It was from the commanding officer of the district. The
letter said that the Comanches had killed men, women, and
children in a village close to the town of San Antonio. The
commanding officer ordered the major to bring his people
to take part in the operation against the Comanches.

A small group of people was left with Spangler to
follow the trail of the American horse. The rest returned
to the fort with the dragoons. Woodley Poindexter and
older men decided to go back to their homes too, so that
they could start a new search the following morning.

Before the departure the major told Poindexter and
his friends about the pool of blood and other facts. He
also told them about his ideas about the murder. The
major liked the young mustanger, and he didn’t believe
in his guilt, but all the facts were against him.

With the planter and his friends it was no longer
a suspicion. The Indians were out of the question. So
men called Maurice Gerald a murderer.

gl koW W

The group left with Spangler remained on the spot
which the major had chosen for a camp. The group
was small: no more than ten people. They were young
mehn — sons of planters. Calhoun was there as well.

Instead of going to sleep, the men gathered around
a fire. They were in low spirits. And it was easily ex-
plained. The Headless Horseman was fresh in their
thoughts. They were still under the influence of fear.

Calhoun looked more frightened than the rest of the
group. He was sitting under the shadow of the trees, at
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some distance from the fire. He hadn’t said a word since

the departure of the dragoons. There was still the same
wild look in his eyes.

“] say, Cash Calhoun!” cried one of the young fel-
lows by the fire, who was already under the influence
of whisky. “Come up, old fellow, and join us in a drink!
We all respect your sorrow. We’ll do what we can to get
satisfaction, for you and yours. But a man mustn’t al-
ways be as sad as you’re now. Come along. Whisky’ll do
you a lot of good, I promise.”

Calhoun accepted the invitation and came up to the
fire,

From that moment he changed. Instead of being sad,
he became too cheerful. It was strange to see it in a man,
whose cousin had been murdered that very morning.

An invited guest soon became the host of the party.
He brought many bottles of whisky from his saddle-bags.
The young planters talked, sang, and even danced un-
til the alcohol could no longer keep them awake. Then,
tired, they fell asleep.

The ex-officer of volunteers was the last to lie down,
and he was the first to get up. He quietly went to his
horse and rode noiselessly away.

“Thank God, there’s a clear moon, and six good
hours before those boys think of getting up! I'll have
time to search every corner, for a couple of miles
around the place. If the body is there, I’ll find it,” he
said, as he rode through the forest. “But what could
that thing mean? They all saw it — every one of them.
What was it?”

He arrived at the opening already described. He was
about to turn into it, when he saw that he was not the
only horseman there. Long before Calhoun knew it, he
saw that the rider was headless!
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There could be no mistake about that. It couldn’t be
an illusion of the moon’s light. Calhoun had seen that
same shape in the light of the setting sun. More still —
he recognized the horse, the striped serape on the shoul-
ders of the rider. All these belonged to Maurice the
mustanger!

Calhoun had enough time to see these details. He
was so frightened that he couldn’t move. His own horse
clearly shared the feeling. It was only after the horse of
the strange rider turned back, that Calhoun could move
again,

“Good God!” he cried. “What does it mean? Is it
man, or demon? Has this whole day been a dream? Or
am I mad?”

Calhoun turned his horse and rode back by the way
he had come. He came up to the fire and lay down
among his companions — not to sleep, but to stay trem-
bling.

Helpful Words & Notes

dummy — 30. uyudeno

in low spirits — B naoxoMm HacTpoeHHUH

The Headless Horseman was fresh in their thoughts. —
Becangenk 0e3 rosoesl Bce elle CTOAN V HHUX Mepen IJa-
BAMH.

Whisky’ll do you a lot of good — Buckm noiipger Bam Ha
MMONh3Y

It couldn’t be an illusion of the moon’s light. — 310 He
MOIJIO OBITH MIJIO3MEeH, CO3MaHHOM JNYHHBIM CBETOM.

not to sleep, but to stay trembling — ®o oH He 3acuy,
H A0 CaMOro yTpa ero TpfAcho, Kak B JHXopajke
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Activities
> Checking Comprehension

I. Answer the guestions.

1) What interrupted the card game of the Mexicans?

2) What orders did Diaz give to his companions?

3) What made Major Ringwood and his dragoons
leave the camp?

4) What did the major tell the rest of the search-
party about his suspicions?

5) Who stayed in the camp?

6) How did the men in the camp spend the evening?

7) Where did Calhoun go at dawn?

2. Say why:

e the Mexicans didn’t touch Phelim.

o the Mexicans let the horseman go and ran back
to their horses.

e the men in the camp were in low spirits.

e the Headless Horseman frightened Calhoun so
much.

L Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

I, Fill in the gaps with the nouns from the box.

trail

guilt
search
SOrTOW
dummy
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1)
2)
3)
4)

o)

The men from the search-party thought the Head-
less Horseman could be a

Spangler wanted to follow the of the

American horse,

It was decided to continue the in the
morning.

The major didn’t believe in the mustanger’s

Everyone respected Poindexter’s

Choose the right form of the verh.

1)
2)

3)

4)

If he resist/resists, shoot him.

They saw something that had frightened/fright-
ened braver people.

Calhoun accepted/had accepted the invitation and
came up to the fire.

Calhoun turned his horse and rode back the same
way he had come/came.

Discussing the Text

Imagine you’'re one of the four Mexicans. Describe
your visit to the mustanger’s hut and your meeting

with the Headless Horseman.

Imagine that you're Spangler. Talk about the search
and the facts against Maurice Gerald. Say what you
planned to do next.

Talk about Calhoun, What was strange about him
that night?

Chapter 16

et & ) § & ——

A SECRET

At dawn the courtyard of Casa del Corvo was already
crowded with armed men. They carried long hunting rifles,
all types of guns, knives, and even tomahawks. They were
ready to continue the search for Poindexter’s missing son.
Some of the men had been out on the day before, along
with the dragoons. Others had now joined the rest.

There was one part of the crowd that could even be

1

called an organization. These were “Regulators.” There
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was nothing special about them in their clothes or guns.
But they knew one another. And they talked about the
murder of Henry Poindexter by Maurice the mustanger.

There was one more subject of discussion. Those who
had seen the Headless Horseman, were telling those who
had not about the horrible sight. Of course they tried
to find an explanation. Finally a good explanation was
found — that the horse was real enough, but the rider
was a dummy.

All those people were ready to go. They were only
waiting for Woodley Poindexter to give them the signal.
The planter still hoped to get a guide. He needed some-

one who could take them to the Alamo — the house of
Maurice the mustanger.
There was only one man who could do this — old

Zeb Stump. But Zeb could not be found. He was away,
hunting. So the searchers decided to leave without him.

R R RE

They had already left Casa del Corvo when Zeb
Stump came to the hacienda.

The old hunter was surprised to find the gate closed.

“Ho, Plutol Why is the big gate closed in the middle
of breakfast time?” he asked the black servant. “What’s

wrong? Nothing’s happened to Miss Louise, I hope?”
“No, nothing'’s happened to Miss Louise. Bad enough
without it,” answered Pluto. “Young miss is inside the

house. Come in, Mister Stump. She’ll tell vou the news
herself.”

“Your master’s at home too, isn’t he?”
“No. He left a quarter of an hour ago. He’s off to

the prairies. Where there was a big hunt about a moiith
Hgﬂ."

1(H)

“Why did he go there? Who’s with him?”

“Ho! That’s Mister Calhoun, and many other white
gentlemen.”

“And young Mister Henry? Has he gone, too?”

“Oh, Mister Stump! That’s the trouble. Mister Hen-
ry’s gone too. I mean Mister Henry’s dead.”

“Dead? Are you joking?”

“Oh! That’s true. They’ve gone in search for his
body.”

“Mister Stump, come this way, please!” said Louise,
coming out to meet him. “It is too true what Pluto has
been telling you. My brother is missing. He hasn’t been
seen since the night before last. His horse came home,
with spots of blood on his skin.”

“Sure enough that’s bad news. He rode out some-
where, and the horse came back without him. As they
are still searching, I might be able to help. Please tell
me about it in detail.”

Louise told Zeb what she knew. The only thing she
kept back was the garden scene. Then she told Zeb about
the suspicion that Maurice was the murderer.

“It’s a lie!” cried the hunter. “It’s impossible.
The mustanger’s not the man to do such a thing. Of
course, he hated your cousin Cash. And who doesn’t,
I’d like to know? Excuse me for saying it. As for
Henry, it’s different. There’s never been a quarrel be-
tween them.”

“No!” eried the girl. “It was all over. Henry said so.

"

And Maurice —
Qhe covered her face with her hands and burst into

tears.
“0Oh! There has been something?” asked Zeb. “Do

you say, Miss Louise, there was a quarrel between your
brother and?..”
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“Dear Zeb!” cried Louise, “Promise me that you'll
keep my secret. Promise it, as a friend — as a good and
brave man. You will — will you?”

The hunter gave her the promise. Five minutes later
he knew the girl’s secret. But he showed almost no sur-
prise.

“I thought it would come to something like that. Es-
pecially after that chase across the prairie,” he said.
“Miss Louise, Zeb Stump doesn’t see anything wrong in
all that. Women will be women all over the world — on
the prairies or off them. The mustanger is a good and
honest man. As for what you told me, what proof has
been found? Only the horse coming home with some red
spots on the skin?”

“Oh, there is more. The people were all out yester-
day. They followed a trail, and saw something. They
didn’t tell me what. They’ve gone off again.”

“But the mustanger? What does he say?”

“Oh, I thought you knew. He hasn’t been found ei-
ther, He, too, may be killed!”

“If he’s alive he should be in his hut. Why didn’t
they go there? Ah! I see. Nobody knows where he lives.
Have they gone that way again?”

“They have. I heard some of them say so. There are
many rough men along with father. There are some of
those called ‘Regulators.” As they went away I heard
them use wild words. If they find him, and he can’t
prove his innocence, who knows what may be done to
him? Dear Zeb, go to his hut, please! Reach the Alamo
before them, and warn him about the danger!”

“There’s some truth in what yvou say,” said the hunt-
er, preparing to move off. “There’s some danger for the
young fellow. I'll do what I can to help him. I’'m sure
the mustanger’s innocent.”
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Helpful Words & Notes

tomahawk — TomaraBK; JETKHI TOLOPHME &MepPHUKAHCHKHUX
NHOIeHNIIeB
Regulators — peryadaTopel; J110AH, KOTOpPBIE B IIEPHOJ

OCBOSHHA BaANANHBIX IMTATOB Opanu Ha cebsa IpaBo Jo-
BUTH NMPEeCTYIHHMKOB M BepPUIUTE HPABOCYIHE; B TOT Iie-
PHOL V aMepUuKAHCKHX I[IOCeJIeHIIeR He OBIJI0 CHUJILHON
BJACTH H CHCTEeMbl NOpPAaBOCYANs, IIO3TOMY CO3TaHHBIE
MMH CHeIHaJbHbIe KOMHUTETHI CAMM YCTAHABJIMBAJIH IIO-
PSAOOK M JKECTOKO PACIpaBIAJMCh ¢ OaHIUTAMH, YacTo
yecTpausas camocya — cya JImaua

searchers — y4acTHMKHU IOHCKOB

in detail — noapo6uo

Activities

V2 Checking Comprehension

1. Answer the questions.

1) Why did armed men gather in the courtyard of
Casa del Corvo at dawn?
2) What was the main topic of discussion among the

Regulators?
3) What kind of explanation was found for the Head-

less Horseman?
4) Why did the searchers need Zeb Stump?
5) When did the old hunter come to Casa del Corvo?
6) What did Louise tell Zeb?
7) What did she ask him to do?

2. Say true or false. Correct the false statements.

1) The searchers had guns, rifles, knives and toma-
hawks.
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2) The Regulators wore military uniforms of the
dragoons.

3) Zeb Stump found the gate of Casa del Corvo wide
open.

4) Louise told Zeb Stump everything,

2) The hunter didn’t believe in Gerald’s guilt.

3) Zeb Stump was surprised by Louise’s secret,

m Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

1. Complete the sentences with the right verbs.

1) The only thing Louise back was the
garden scene.

2) Louise covered her face with her hands and

into tears.

3} “The searchers __
thing.”

4) “Reach the Alamo before them, and
him about the danger!”

a trail, and saw some-

2. Fill in the prepositions off, by, for, in.

1) The Regulators talked about the murder of Henry
Poindexter Maurice the mustanger.

2) “The master’s to the prairies.”

3) “They’ve gone in search ______ Henry’s body.”

4) “Tell me everything detail.”

g Discussing the Text

1. Imagine that you'’re Zeb Stump.

Talk about the visit to Casa del Corvo. Explain why
you were not surprised by what you heard from Louise.
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2. What do you think?

Why did Louise ask Zeb Stump for help? What did
she ask him to do? Did she have a good reason to be
worried about the man she loved?

Chapter 17

ISIDORA

El Coyote and his three companions had no wish to
return to the hut of Maurice Gerald. All four knew that
it was the Irishman. There was his horse, known to
them, his Navajo serape, and his black sombrero. There
was even the dog, which Diaz remembered to be his.

They rode across the prairie as fast as their hors-
es could carry them. After a while they arrived at the
place where they had transformed themselves into Co-
manches. They washed the war-paint from their skins,
found their usual clothes, put them on and rode towards
the Leona.

“Not much chance of sleeping after that,” said El
Coyote, as he stepped into his own hut. “What was it?
It couldn’t be a ghost. I felt a body. Bah! It could be
a trick! That, and that only, can be the explanation.
Fools! Frightened at a dummy! Tomorrow I'll go back to
the Alamo. I’'ll get those thousand dollars! And if I find
out that Isidora still loves him, I'll destroy not only the
man I hate, but the woman I lovel”

These thoughts made Diaz feel better, and he soon

fell asleep.
He woke up in the morning and saw a visitor.
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“Josel” he cried out in surprise. “Glad to see you,
good Jose. Is Isidora here? — on the Leona, I mean?”

“Yes, Mister Diaz,” said the visitor.

“So soon again! She was here two weeks ago, wasn’t
she? I was expecting to hear from you, good Jose. Why
didn’t you write?”

“Oh, Mister Diaz, there was no man I could trust.
I have something to tell you. Something, I’'m sorry to
say, yon won’t thank me for telling you. But my life is
yours, and I promised you should know all.”

“About her, and him? Your mistress has met him?”
“No, she hasn’t.”

“What then?” asked Diaz.

“That’s why I've come to see you now. I'm on my
way to the fort with her letter.”

“Ha! Her letter?”

“Yes. Here it is, Mister Diaz.”

With a shaking hand Diaz took the paper, and read:

“Dear Friend,

I am once more here, staying with uncle Silvio.
I could no longer live without hearing from you. Tell
me if you are all right. I want to look into your eyes —
those eyes are so beautiful — to make sure you are in
good health again. I'n half an hour I shall be on the top
of the hill, above my uncle’s house. Come, sir, come!
Isidora Covarubio de los Llanos”

“Hal Her invitation shall be answered. Though not by
him,” cried the angry Diaz. “The man to whom it is ad-
dressed isn’t any longer in the fort, or anywhere about
here. God knows where he is! There’s some mystery

about it. No matter. Here’s a dollar to get you a drink
at the saloon.”
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As soon as Jose left, Diaz set the saddle upon his horse,
jumped into it, and rode off in the opposite direction.

L

The sun had just risen above the prairie horizon. Isi-
dora Covarubio de los Llanos was riding alone up the
hill above the Leona River — not far from the hacienda
of her uncle, Silvio Martinez.

She was young, about twenty. She was, no doubt,
a very beautiful girl, but her beauty was more like that
of the jaguar. In her face there was no sign of fear, on-
ly determination and courage.

Isidora was fond of riding horses. Every time she rode
out, she took a light lasso with her. She knew how to use
it. She could throw it with the skill of a mustanger.

Isidora rode into the opening in the forest. Near its
centre she stopped.

“I am too early,” she said, drawing a gold watch
from her pocket. “If, indeed, I should expect him at all.
Am I trembling? Is it fear? It’s strange though — fto
fear the man I love — the only one I have ever loved.
I didn’t love Miguel. It was a girl’s silly fancy. He is
a coward. My romantic dream was gone when I discov-
ered that. I hate him now. Can it be true that he’s be-
come a robber? It’s strange that I fear not him, but the
man I love. No — there is nothing strange in it. I trem-
ble not from any thought of danger — only the danger
of not being loved. I have never told him about my love.
But I must do it. Uncertainty for me is much worse. Hal
a horse is coming down the road! Is it his?”

Isidora recognized the horseman, who came galloping
into the opening. It was Miguel Diaz, not Maurice Ger-
ald! Isidora felt deep disappointment,
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“What are you doing in this lonely place, my beauti-
ful Isidora?” asked El Coyote.

“In what way can it concern you, Mister Diaz?”
asked Isidora.

*“What an absurd question! You know it can, and
does. And you know the reason why. You know how
madly I love you. And you used to love me.”

“You are mistaken, Mr. Diaz, I never told you
I loved you. You are an excellent horseman. And I ad-
mired that. But it was three years ago. I was a girl
then. I am now a woman. All that has changed.”

“My life’s changed too. I had my own hacienda, and
am now only a hunter of horses. What of that? a poor
mustanger has as many chances in vour eyes as the own-
er of a hundred horses.”

“*What do you mean, Mr. Diaz?”

“This pretty letter from Isidora Covarubio de los Lla-
nos to one mustanger.”

“How did you get it?” she asked in an angry tone.

“It doesn’t matter. This Iletter says that you
love him. You want to look into his beautiful eyes. But
you will never see them again!”

“What does it mean, Mister Diaz?”

“If T have lost you, my lady, no other man will ecall
you his. I’'ve made up my mind about that.”

“Are you joking, Mr. Diaz?”

“Not at all, my lovely Isidora.”

During the early part of the dialogue the girl didn’t
stop to look in the direction where she hoped to see
Maurice. Then this hope disappeared. She realized that
her letter had not reached the mustanger.

She saw she was in danger. Miguel Diaz was a cow-
ard, but he had a cold cruel determination in his eyes.
It was possible for her to turn round and ride off. But
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it was also possible for her to be killed then. El Coyote’s
gun was as near to his hand as his knife.

Isidora didn’t even show her fear.

“Nonsensel” she exclaimed. “You want to fright-
en me. Hal Hal Why should I fear you? 1 can ride and
throw my lasso as well as you. Look at this!”

With a smile she took the lasso from her saddle. Diaz
was so puzzled by her movements, that he didn’t see what
was coming. When he felt the lasso closing around his el-
bows, it was too late to do something. Then Isidora jerked
him out of his saddle and threw him to the ground.

“Now, Miguel Diaz!” she cried. “I don’t like threats.
You wanted to kill me. I saw it in your eyes. There’s
not much chance you can overtake me, before I can
reach home. Good-bye, Mr. Diaz!”

Isidora drew a small sharp knife, cut the rope and
rode off, leaving Diaz upon the ground, still in the loop
of the lasso.

Helpful Words & Notes

a girl’s silly fancy — ranynele danrasuu JeBUOHKU
I've made up my mind about that. — Taxoso Moe perenue.
Activities

% Checking Comprehension

I. Answer the questions.

1) Where did El Coyote and his companions go afler
their meeting with the Headless Horseman?
2) Who visited Miguel Diaz the following morning?
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3)
4)
3)
6)
7)
8)

What did Jose bring him?

Did Diaz like the letter? Why?
Where did Diaz send Jose?
Where did Diaz ride?

What did he tell Isidora?

How did Isidora defend herself?

2. Say why:

the Mexicans had no wish to return to Gerald’s hut.
El Coyote decided to go to the Alamo again.

Jose visited El Coyote.

Isidora was so angry with Miguel Diaz.

Isidora threw her lasso at Diaz.

Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

1. Fill in the gaps with the nouns from the hox.

1)
2)

3)

4)

coward
disappointment
visitor
way

El Coyote woke up to see an unexpected
Jose was on his

dora’s letter.
Isidora thought that Miguel Diaz was a cruel

The girl saw El Coyote and felt deep

Choose the right form of the verb.

1) The Mexicans washed the war-paint from their

skings and had taken/took off the Indian cos-
tumes.
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to the fort with Isi-

2)

3)

.2

Every time Isidora rode out, she was taking/took
a light lasso with her.

Isidora realized that her letter didn’t reach/had
not reached the mustanger.

“This letter says that you love/loved him.”

Discussing the Text

Describe the meeting between Isidora and Miguel Diaz.

What did they talk about? Why did Isidora throw
her lasso at El Coyote?

Talk about Isidora. Say what you know about her
character.

Chapter 18

UNEXPECTED HELP

The sun was up when Louise Poindexter decided to

go for a walk in the garden. She was about to go down-
stairs when she heard voices. Two people were talking on
the roof. They were her maid Florinde, and Pluto, the

servant.

“Ho! Look, Florinde. Do you see the man on horse-

back? That’s Maurice Jerald. The same man we met on
the black prairies. The same that gave Miss Louise the
spotted horse. The same they’ve all gone to search for.
But they've gone the wrong way. They won’t find him
on the prairies today.”
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“Oh, Pluto! Aren’t you glad?” said the maid. “I’m
sure he’s innocent — that brave handsome young gentle-
man —”

Louise made her way towards the roof. The beating
of her heart was almost as loud as her footsteps.

“What have you seen, that you talk so loudly?” she
said.

“Oh, Miss Louise, look over there. The young fellow
they’re searching for.”

“I see no one.”

“He’s just gone in among the trees. Look! Do you see
his black hat and velveteen jacket with silver buttons?”

“You may be mistaken. There are many here who
dress like him. Never mind. You, Pluto! I'm going out
for a ride. Put the saddle on Luna. Quick!”

In ten minutes’ time Louise was across the river, en-
tering the forest where the horseman had disappeared.
Suddenly she heard voices of a man and woman. She
rode nearer, listened again. Then the man’s voice was no
longer heard. The woman’s voice sounded angry. Then
there was silence — and the sound of hoofs.

Louise knew the voices had come out of the opening.
When she reached it, she saw a man in a Mexican cos-
tume lying on the ground. A saddled horse was walking
nearby. The man had a lasso looped around his arms.
He looked dead. It was the same man she had seen from
the roof. And he was not Maurice Gerald. He was clearly
a Mexican.

Louise slipped out of the saddle and came up to the
stranger.,

“He doesn’t seem to be dead. Is he breathing?” she
said, and released him from the lasso. “Now, he can
breathe more freely. Ah! He’s coming to! He will be able
to explain everything.”
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“Who are you?” asked Miguel Diaz, raising his head.
“Where is she?”

“I haven’t seen anyone here, sir. But I heard a wom-
an’s voice, as 1 rode up.”

“I'd rather say a devil’s voice. I'm sure that Isidora
Cavarubio de los Llanos is a devil.”

“Was it she who did this?”

“Yes! Thank you for releasing me from this lasso.
You’ve been very kind to me. Can yvou help me into the
saddle? I mustn’t stay here. I have enemies, not far off.
You will not refuse to help me, will you?”

“Why should I?” said Louise.

She helped the horseman get into his saddle.

“I don’t know who you are. I see you are not one of
our people,” he said. “But you are as kind as you are
beautiful. And Miguel Diaz will always remember what
you’ve done for him.”

The Mexican rode off. Louise picked up a sheet of
paper left by Diaz. She read what was written on it. It
was Isidora’s letter to Maurice Gerald.

When Louise Poindexter rode off, there was an ex-
pression of deep despair on her face.

"RRRR

It was nearly noon when Phelim woke up. A bucket
of cold water made him jump. It was Zeb Stump who
gave him the shower,

The old hunter had taken the shortest road from
Casa del Corvo to the Alamo. From what Louise Poin-
dexter had told him, he knew that Maurice Gerald was
in danger. He rode straight across the prairie because
he needed to reach the mustanger’s hut before the Reg-
ulators.
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Zeb entered the forest by the path which on the day
before had been taken by Diaz and his three companions.
After a while he arrived at the spot he needed. He came
up to the hut. The skin door was closed, but there was
a large hole in the middle of it. What was the meaning
of that?

The old hunter listened. He heard a loud snore.

Zeb looked into the hole on the skin door. The sleep-
er was Phelim.

The hunter rose to his feet, and entered the hut by
the door.

“Phelim! Phelim!”

Phelim made no reply.

“Phelim, I say! Phelim!”

Still no reply. Zeb shook the Irishman. Still no reply.

At that moment the old hunter noticed a bucket of
water in a corner of the hut, Zeb took up the bucket
and poured the water on the sleeper.

A few minutes later the two men could start a seri-
ous conversation. Phelim was only too glad to see Zeb
Stump. He was still under the influence of his fears. He
told the hunter in detail about strange things he had
seen. It was the first time when Zeb Stump had heard of
the Headless Horseman.

At first Zeb called the idea of a man without a head
“a fantasy of Phelim’s brain.”

“How could I be mistaken?” asked the Irishman.
“Didn’t 1 see Mister Maurice as [ see you now? Besides,
there was his serape and the saddle. And haven’t I told
you that Tara went away after him, and then I heard
her wvoice, just before the Indians.”

“Indians!” exclaimed the hunter. “Indians playing
with Spanish cards?”

“Do you think they weren’t Indians, after all?”
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“Never mind what 1 think. Go on, tell me all you
know about it.”

Helpful Words & Notes

The man had a lasso looped around his arms. — Pykn
MVKUHMHBE OBLJIN CBA3AHLI JIACCO.

released him from the lasso — cuana ¢ mero macco

He’s coming to! — Oun npuxogur B cebs!

a fantasy of Phelim’s brain — urpa sooGpaskenus Penuma

Activities

.~ Checking Comprehension

1. Put the sentences in the right order.

1) Zeb Stump gave Phelim a shower.

2) A man in a Mexican costume was lying on the
ground.

3) Louise picked up a sheet of paper left by Diaz.

4) Louise was about to go downstairs when she
heard wvoices on the roof.

0) Phelim told the hunter in detail about strange
things he had seen.

6) Louise released the stranger from the lasso.

2. Say who:

¢ saw a horseman in Mexican clothes from the roof.
e had a lasso looped around his arms.

e read Isidora’s letter.

¢ poured the water on Phelim.

115



Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

1.

Find in the text the English for:

e MYXNXYHMHA HA JOIIAAH

s OHM moexalH He B TY CTOPOHY.
e He moxome, 4TO OH yMep.

e BLIpasKeHHe NIYDOKOro OTYasHHA
¢ He Baxso, 4TO A OgyMaro.

Fill in the prepositions under, into, by, to, up.

1) “Ah! He is coming i

2) “Can you help me __ ___ _ the saddle?”

3) Louise picked a sheet of paper left by Diaz.

4) Zeb entered the forest the path that had
been taken by the Mexicans.

5) Phelim was still the influence of his fears.

Discussing the Text

Imagine that you’re Louise.

1), Say what made you go for a ride that day and
what you heard in the woods.
2) Describe your meeting with Miguel Diaz.

Zeb Stump came up to the mustanger’s hut to see
the skin door closed, and a large hole in the mid-
dle of it. Say how he made Phelim talk and what
he learned from the Irishman. What did the hunter
think about his story?

Chapter 19

JUST IN TIME

The old hunter was lost in thought, and he didn’t
see Maurice’s dog as it ran up to the hut. A shout of

surprise attracted his attention.

“What is it, Phelim? What’s wrong?”

“Oh, Mister Stump, look at Taral There’s something
tied around his neck. It wasn’t there when he left. What

do you think it is?”
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The hunter looked at the dog. Sure enough there was
something around the animal’s neck: a card. There was
a name on the card, and some more words — in what
looked like red ink. But it was blood!

Zeb Stump read the words on the card.

“He’s alive, Phelim,” he cried. “Look at this.
Oh, you can’t read. It doesn’t matter. He’s alive!”

“Who? Mister Maurice?”

“Yes! Get a blanket and a couple of straps. You can
do it while I catch the old mare. Quick! Half an hour
lost, and we may be too late!”

These were the last words of the hunter, as he hur-
ried away from the hut.

R E RN

Zeb Stump was right. The man, who had asked them
for help, was in grave danger. It was Maurice Gerald, of
course. He had reached the stream and had finally fallen
asleep.

The pain of his wounds, once more returning, woke
him. To go away from the spot was simply impossible.
Any movement gave him pain. There was no alternative
but stay where he was.

Ha! What was that sound? The mustanger heard lit-
tle feet on the sand and excited breathing.

“The coyotes!” he said.

The smell of blood had made them mad. The mus-
tanger knew they would attack him. He had no weap-
on but a knife. His rifle and guns had been carried off
by his horse. He drew the knife and prepared to defend
himself.

Four or five wolves attacked the wounded man.
The mustanger shook them off, striking out with his
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knife, Some of the coyotes went away, but new ones
appeared.

Suddenly the wounded man heard the sound of
hoofs, followed by the loud barking of a dog. He
called for help. But the horseman didn’t hear him.
The horse, or horseman passed on, but the dog — it
was Tara! — broke through the bushes and rushed at
the covotes. It attacked two of the wolves. A third
one could be attacked, but the frightened coyotes ran
away,

The man had no strength left. He drew the cloak
over his face to cover it from the sun, and then he fell
asleep. The dog lay down at his feet.

A few hours later the mustanger woke up. His faith-
ful dog had saved his life, and would still protect him
against the attacks of coyotes. But it couldn’t get him
from the spot. And to stay there would be to die of
hunger and of the wounds.

“But Tara may take a message to the hut,” he
said. “Come here, old fellow! I want you to play post-
man for me.”

Maurice found a card in his pocket. No pencill He
could do without it.

He broke a thorn off the closest bush and wrote
something with the blood of a coyote. Then he tied the
card to the neck of the dog and made it go to the hut.

After a while the mustanger was surrounded by the
coyotes again.

This time Maurice had a plan. He took off his cloak
and cut a few holes with his knife. Then he tore up his
scarf in two parts and used them to tie the cloak to
a tree, making a hammock.

The mustanger climbed into the hammock. He
thought there he was no longer in danger.
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There was danger, however, which he had not seen.
Very soon he realized he hadn’t taken with him enough
water. He could not return to the stream now. That
would be certain death.

It was a torture for the wounded man to see the
fresh water of the stream and be unable to reach it.

Suddenly he saw the covotes get to their feet and
rush off. What made them leave?

The mustanger turned on his knee and looked
around. There were no coyotes. He listened., No sounds.

Maurice got out of the hammock and reached the
stream. He once more looked around him and felt dan-
ger. He noticed the spotted yellow skin among the
leaves. It was the jaguar. It was that dangerous animal
that had made the coyotes go away. And now its eyes
were on the wounded man. It was ready to attack Mau-
rice.

To get back to the hammock would be useless. The
jaguar can climb like a cat. The mustanger knew this.
In despair he rushed into the stream, until he stood up
to his knees in the water. He had nothing to defend
himself with — no knife — no gun — not even his
crutch!

Those were the last thoughts of that day that re-
mained in Maurice’s memory. He didn’t hear the shot
which killed the jaguar. He didn’t see his faithful dog
and two men who had come to help him,

Helpful Words & Notes

He could do without it. — Moxuo oboiiTich U Be3 Hero.
hammock — ramar
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1.

Activities

Checking Comprehension

Answer the guestions.

1)
2)
3)
4)
9)
6)
7)

Who brought Maurice’s message to his hut?
What things did Zeb and Phelim take with them?
Who attacked Maurice Gerald?

How did he defend himself from the coyotes?
Who saved the mustanger from the wolves?
Where did Maurice hide from the coyotes?

Who made the coyotes go away?

Say true or false. Correct the false statements.

1)
2)
3)
4)

3)

Zeb Stump was the first to see Maurice’s dog.
The letters on the card were written in pencil,
Maurice had no weapon but his knife.

Maurice got out of the hammock because he was
very hungry.

Zeb Stump shot the jaguar.

L Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

1.

Fill in the gaps with the nouns from the box.

torture
hammeock
smell
hunger
shout

1) A loud frightened the horse.

2) The mustanger thought he could die of
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3) Gerald used the cloak to make a

4) It was a to be unable to reach water.
3) The of blood attracted coyotes,

2. Fill in the prepositions with, on, at, in, off.

1) The mustanger heard little feet
2) He shook the coyotes

the sand.
, striking out with

his knife.

3) Tara lay down his master’s feet.

4) Maurice wrote a few words _ the blood of
a coyote.

9) He tore up his scarf ___ two parts.

8 Discussing the Text

1, Talk about the message which Gerald sent to the hut.

e Say where and how it was written.

e Prove that the mustanger was hoping to get the
message to Zeb Stump.

* Write your own version of that message.

2. Prove that the mustanger was in grave danger in
the woods.

Chapter 20

o LY T 1

A SHOT AT THE DEVIL

Zeb Stump carried the unconscious man to the bank
of the stream.
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“He’s fainted,” he said to Phelim, examining the mus-
tanger. “But I see no serious wounds. The leg isn’t broken.
Ho, ho! The young fellow’s been attacked by coyotes!”

Phelim was so happy to see his master alive that he
started dancing in excitement. Zeb paid no attention to
his actions. He began examining Maurice’s things. He
had already noticed the Panama hat.

“It’s strange,” he thought.

He knew that the vyoung Irishman always wore
a Mexican sombrero. Then Zeb thought he had seen that
hat before, and on some other head. He looked inside
the hat and read: “Henry Poindexter.” After that he ex-
amined the cloak. It, too, belonged to the same owner.

“Strange, all this!” said the hunter. “Something’s
terribly wrong. But it’s no use asking Maurice. No one
knows when he is going to be all right again. We must
get him to the hut. That leg looks worse and worse.”

Zeb and Phelim cut a couple of trees and made
a stretcher. Then they carried Maurice Gerald to his home.

It was already night when the group arrived at the
hut. The mustanger was still unconscious. He had devel-
oped a fever.

Phelim went to sleep, and the hunter stayed with his
friend. He sat listening to Maurice’s words. He was not
surprised to hear the name “Louise”. But there was an-
other name he heard as well. It was the name of Lou-
ise’s brother.

In the morning Zeb Stump knew that Henry Poindex-
ter was dead.

C A

Isidora was already near the hacienda of her uncle Sil-
vio Martinez, when she thought: “I’d better release Diaz.
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Let him live. He’s a scoundrel, but I’'m not afraid of him.
After what’s happened he will not come near me again.”

The girl headed her horse for the hill again. Af-
ter a while she arrived at the opening where she’d left
Miguel Diaz. But she saw no Miguel Diaz there — no
man of any kind. The letter she’d lost, wasn’t there any-
more.

Isidora was about to go to the hacienda, when she
saw her servant Jose.

“What did you do with me letter, Jose?” she asked.

“I left it at — at the hotel, my lady,” said the ser-
vant, turning pale. “Mr. Gerald had gone out.”

“Liar! You gave it to Miguel Diaz. I’ve seen it.”

“I'm so sorry! Please! I am not guilty.”

“How much did Mr. Diaz pay you for your treason?”

“It was not treason, my lady, He — he forced it
from me — by blows. I — I was not paid.”

“You will be, then! Take that, and that, and that...”

She repeated the words at least ten times, lashing
him with her horsewhip.

“Now, go away! I don’t want to see you anymore.”

The servant ran away, only too happy to hide in the
woods. Isidora rode back to the Hacienda Martinez.

When she arrived there, she heard the latest news:
the son of the American planter had been murdered by
Maurice the mustanger.

The next morning Isidora headed her horse to the
banks of the Alamo,

E

All night long the hunter sat at bed-side of the
wounded mustanger. He went out only once. That was
near morning, when he heard Tara's howl.
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Zeb looked at the open lawn, then under the shad-
ow of the trees. There was nothing there, except what
should be.

He raised his eyes to the cliff. There was nothing
to be seen there. But there was something to be heard.
As Zeb stood listening, there came a sound from the top
of the cliff. It was the clatter of a horse’s shoes. After
a while he saw the horse. There was a man on its back,
but only from the saddle to the shoulders. Above, there

was nothing — no head!
Zeb Stump rubbed his eyes and looked again. He
saw the same — the horseman without a head. He stood

watching the horseman until he disappeared behind the
trees.

“The Irishman was right, after all,” he said in
a very low voice. “He saw something. And I saw it my-
self. What can it be? Why not get closer to it?”

The hunter went through the trees along the path
that led up to the cliff. He had taken the rifle with
him, when he heard the howl of the dog.

A few minutes later Zeb saw the horseman again and
stopped. He was frightened but eager to discover what
that was — a man or the devill

“Hello, stranger! You're out for a late ride, aren’t
you? Haven’t you forgotten to take your head with
you?” he cried.

There was no reply.

“Look here, stranger! Old Zeb Stump from Kentucky
is speaking to you. Explain your game! Speak, before
you get a bullet!”

No reply.

“Qix seconds more! 1 give you six more seconds. If
you don’t speak by that time, I’ll shoot,” shouted the
hunter. “If you’re a dummy or the devil, it won’t do
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you any harm. But if you’re a man, you deserve to be

shot for such a trick... Speak! You won’t? One — two —
three — four — five — six!”

Then came a shot. It frightened the horse, but the
rider was still in the saddlel

The animal went off at a gallop. Zeb Stump was
not only surprised at the result — he was terrified. He
was sure that his bullet had passed through the man’s

heart.
“It’s not a man. It’s the devil,” he whispered.

1.

Helpful Words & Notes
stretcher — Hocuakm -
He had developed a fever. — ¥V mero pesko mogmsnace

TeMIIepaTypa.
lashing him with her horsewhip — creras ero xuyrom
at bed-side — vy nocrenu
Explain your game! — O0msacHu csoit pokyc!
Activities

W Checking Comprehension
1. Say who: 2

examined the wounded mustanger and his things.
stayed with his friend all night.

returned to the opening to release Miguel Diaz
from the lasso.

ran away to hide in the woods.
shot at the Headless Horseman.,
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1)

2)
3)
4)

2. Complete the sentences.

Phelim was so happy to see his master alive that
he
Zeb and Phelim cut two trees and made a __ .
Isidora lashed her servant with a
Zeb went out in the morning because __

| Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

Fill in the gaps with the nouns from the box.

1)

2)
3)

4)
3)

trick

bank
clatter

harm
treason

“If you're a dummy or the devil, the bullet won’t

do you any e

Zeb heard the _ of a horse’s shoes.

“How much did Mr. Diaz pay you for your
2

Zeb saw a jaguar at the of the stream.

"

“You deserve to be shot for such a

Choose the right form of the verb.

1)

2)

3)

In the morning Zeb Stump knew that Henry
Poindexter was/had been dead.

Isidora arrived at the opening where she left/had
left Miguel Diaz.

Zeb Stump went along the path that fed/had led
up to the cliff.
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4) The hunter was sure that his bullet had passed/
passed through the man’s heart.

g Discussing the Text

1. Zeb Stump examined Maurice and his things. What
was it that he thought to be strange about them?

2. Describe the conversation between Isidora and her
servant. Did Jose tell Isidora the truth? Isidora
lashed him with her horsewhip., Was it a severe
punishment? Give your opinion.

Chapter 21

e 21 8 115

THE RIVALS IN LOVE

Zeb Stump was still near the cliff, when Phelim
woke up. Several minutes later he heard the sound of
hoofs — someone was approaching the hut. He couldn’t
see the horseman because of the thick trees. Was it the
Headless Horseman again?

His first impulse was to rush across the lawn. But
at that moment the horseman rode out from among the
trees. That horseman had a head.

“A real head. And a pretty face on it. But this
young fellow looks as if he’s just buried his grandmoth-
er,” said Phelim. “Oh! He’s a woman!”

It was a woman. It was Isidora.

Phelim was right. She looked worried.

128

“Is Mister Gerald at home?” she asked. “I wish to
see him.”

“Do you? Perhaps you’ll have to wait. The master isn’t
in a condition to receive visitors — especially pretty ladies.”

“l must see him — I must — I will — I shalll”

Isidora slipped out of the saddle and went in the di-
rection of the door. But there was somebody else who
was protecting his master. It was Tara, The dog was
standing directly in front of Phelim and the door.

[sidora made no more moves. Surprise was, for the
time, the only feeling she had.

At that moment a tall man with a rifle came from
behind the trees.

“You haven’t lost your way, have you, miss?” he
asked Isidora.

“No, sir,” she said.

“In that case, you know where you are?”

“Yes. This is the house of Mister Gerald, isn’t it?”

“That’s not much of a house, I'm afraid. Perhaps
you want to see the master of it?”

“Oh, ves, sir. That’s why I am here.”

“Well, no objection to that. But it’s no use talking
to him now. He wouldn’t know you.”

“Is he ill?”

“He’s wounded a bit,” said Zeb, “and he’s got fever.”

“But are you sure, sir, that his wounds aren’t dan-

1

gerous?” asked Isidora.

“I don’t think so. In a week’s time he’ll be on his
feet again.”

“What happened to him? The Indians? Has there
been a quarrel with anyone?”

“] know there’s been a quarrel with coyotes, miss.
But what happened before that, is a mystery to me. He
can’t talk yet. We must wait until he does.”
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“Can I see him now? 1 am his friend.”

“Why not? You can look after him, till we get back.
Come along, Phelim. Let’s take a short walk,” said the
old hunter.

Phelim followed him at once.

“This is the same girl who sent him baskets to the
hotel,” thought Zeb Stump. “She’s clearly in love with
him. So is the other. But it’s also clear that he’s think-
ing about the other, and not about her. Poor thing! She
isn’t a bad girl. But the Irishman can’t belong to both.”

Isidora entered the hut and came up to the wounded
man. She kissed his unconscious lips, and then started
back. What made her do it? It was a name, but not her
own,

ok W Wk

The day Louise Poindexter released Miguel Diaz from
the lasso was, perhaps, the darkest day of her life. She was
worried about her brother and the man she loved. When
she read Isidora’s letter, she felt jealousy and despair. Why
should this woman write to him like this? Maurice said she
was just a friend. But this was not the letter of a friend.

“Ah, me!” she told herself, “I see it all now. She’s in
love with Maurice, But is he in love with her too?”

After long unhappy hours Louise’s thoughts became
more rational. She re-read the letter. There was still the
hope that Maurice had gone away, as he promised.

In the morning she finally made a decision: she
would ride to the Alamo alone. There was no one to stop
her. The planter and other searchers had not yet re-
turned. Louise needed to find the truth, no matter how
hard it was., She needed to find proof to destroy her
jealousy, or confirm it. Proof stronger that this letter.
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The first hour of sunrise saw her in the saddle, riding
from Casa del Corvo across the prairie already known to
her. 1t was twenty miles from the hacienda to the mus-
tanger’s hut. It took Louise two hours to get there. As
soon as the girl entered the hut, she saw the proof she
had been so afraid of. There was a woman in the hut!

Isidora turned to the door and saw the woman,
whose name the mustanger had just said for the hun-
dredth time — “Louise”.

Louise saw before her the writer of that letter. The
writer, who had praised his eyes. The writer, who had
asked Maurice to come and meet her. The writer, who
was now by his side. These thoughts were too painful
for the girl.

Isidora felt the same. She already knew that Maurice
didn’t love her. And on the door-step was her rival.

Face to face, with flashing eyes, the two women
stood looking at each other. Both were in love with the
same man. Both were jealous. Both were beside the man
they loved, but he didn’t know about their presence.

This scene lasted only a few seconds. It was Louise
Poindexter who stopped it. She turned and went to her
horse. The hut of Maurice Gerald was no place for her!

Isidora came out too. The same thought was in her
heart., The hut of Maurice Gerald was no place for her!

The grey horse stood nearest — the mustang was
farther out. Isidora was the first to get into the sad-
dle — the first to move off. As she passed, her rival
had also got into the saddle, and was holding the reins.

The rivals exchanged glances again. Louise’s glance
was a strange mixture of sadness and surprise. The last
look of Isidora was full of anger and hatred.
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Helpful Words & Notes

In that case — B rakom cayuae

no objection to that — Hukaxux Bospa)kenmit

and then started back — a morom Bapyr oTmarHyJIach

with flashing eyes — ¢ ropsmmmu riaszamn

The grey horse stood nearest — the mustang was far-
ther out. — Cepasa jsomaas croana Gammxe, MyCTAHT —
oansle.

Activities

V% Checking Comprehension

1. Answer the guestions.

1)
2)
8)
4)
5)

1)
2)
3)

4)

Who visited the mustanger’s hut that morning?
Who was the first to arrive there?

What did Zeb tell Isidora about Gerald?

Why was Louise jealous of Isidora?

What happened when the rivals met in the mus-
tanger’s hut?

Complete the sentences.

Phelim refused to let Isidora enter the hut be-
cause

Zeb Stump felt sorry for Isidora because

Louise went to the Alamo because

Louise and Isidora left the hut because
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Fill in the gaps with the nouns from the box.

1)

2)
3)

4)

proof
condition
mixture
despair

The mustanger wasn’t in a to receive
guests.

Louse felt jealousy and deep
She needed to find
jealousy, or confirm it.
Louise’s glance was a strange

ness and surprise.

to destroy her

of sad-

Choose the right form of the verh.

1)
2)
3)

4)

Zeb asked Isidora if she has lost/had lost her way.
“You can look after him till we got/get back.”
“This is the same girl who sent/has sent him bas-
kets to the hotel.”

Isidora saw the woman, whose name the mus-
tanger had said/said for the hundredth time,

Discussing the Text

Describe the meeting between Louise and Isidora.
Talk about their feelings. What was different about
the girls?

Why do you think?

Why did Zeb Stump feel sorry about Isidora?
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Chapter 22

ot w i & ¢ —

REVENGE

Isidora reached the top of the hill and stopped under

a big cypress. There were thoughts in her heart darker
than the shadow of the tree.

“Shall I go back and kill her? It couldn’t win me
back his heart. It’s lost — lost, without hope! Oh! There
is no hope for mel.. Not only she, he also — both must

diel But not yet — not until he can feel his punishment
and know where it comes from.”
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Suddenly Isidora noticed a large group of horsemen
on the open prairie. The Indians? No. White men.

“Robbers? No. Too well dressed for them. They
must be the searchers, about whom I've heard — led by
the father of... Yes — ves, it’s them. Here is a perfect
chance of revenge.”

Isidora stopped, waiting for the men to approach.

Minutes later she was surrounded by armed horse-
men. But the girl was not afraid of them. She knew
some of the men by sight.

An elderly man approached Isidora. Instinct told her
that he was the father of the murdered man — and of
the woman she hated. Oh! What an opportunity!

“Tell me, miss, have you seen anybody out here?”
asked Woodley Poindexter.

Isidora hesitated.

The planter politely asked her another question.

“May I ask where you live?”

“On the Rio Grande, sir?”

“Have you come directly from there?”

“No, from the Leona.”

“From the Leona!”

“It’s the niece of old Martinez,” said one of the men.
“His plantation joins yours, Mister Poindexter.”

“Yes. I’'m the niece of Silvio Martinez.”

“Then you’ve come from his place, have you? I'm
sorry to ask you such questions, miss. We have serious
reasons.”

“Yeg, I’ve come from the Hacienda Martinez,” an-
swered Isidora, “I left my uncle’s house two hours ago.”

“Then, no doubt, you know that there has been
a murder.”

“Yes, sir. I heard about it yesterday at uncle Silvio’s.”
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“But today — when you left — was there any fresh
news? Have you heard anything, miss?”

“That people had gone after the murderer. Your peo-
ple, sir?”

“Yes — yes. It meant us, no doubt. Have you met,
or seen, anyone, miss — out here?”

“Yes, I have.”

“You have! What sort of person? Can you describe
him?”

“A lady.”

“What sort of a lady?”

“American.”

“An American lady! Out here? Alone?”

“Yes, sir.”

“Who?”

“I don’t know.”

“You don’t know her? What was she like? How was
she dressed?”

“In a riding habit.”

“She was on horseback, then?”

“On horseback.”

“Where did vou meet this lady?”

“Not far from here. On the other side of the forest.”

“Which way was she going? Is there any house on
the other side?”

“A hut. I only know about that.”

“To whom does it belong — this hut?”

“Maurice the mustanger.”

These words caused excitement in the crowd. After

two days of search they have found the trail of the mur-
derer!

“We don’t wish to be rude, Miss Martinez — if that
is your name — but you must guide us to this place.”
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“It takes me a little out of my way — though not
far. Come on, gentlemen! I'll show you, if you want to
go there.”

Isidora rode through the forest again. This time she
was followed by the hundred horsemen. She stopped on
the western edge of the forest.

“There!” she said, pointing over the plain. “Do you
see that black spot on the horizon? It is the top of a cy-
press. Its roots are in the lower bank of the Alamo. Go
there! There is a path leading down the cliff. You will
find below the hut I’ve told you about.”

The searchers were too excited to stay for further di-
rections. They forgot at once the woman who had given
them. The whole crowd rushed across the plain, heading
straight for the cypress.

There was only one of the men who didn’t move. Not
the leader, but a man very interested in the lady seen by
Isidora.

“Tell me, miss,” he said, bringing his horse alongside
hers. “Did you notice this lady’s horse?”

“Certainly, sir.”

“The colour?”

“A spotted mustang.”

“A spotted mustang! Good God!” exclaimed Cassius
Calhoun. And he went at a gallop after the searchers.

Isidora realized that there was one other person, who
hoped to get revenge as much as she did.

Helpful Words & Notes

by sight — BHeiHe
at uncle Silvie’s — B nome maam CuabBHO
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riding habit — amasonka; maMckmii KocTioM oS BepXo-
BOM €31bl, COCTOSBIIMH M3 NPHUTANEHEOTO KOpCeTsa,
NBIMIHEIX OPIOK, KOTOPBIE HAAEBANHCEH IO 100Ky ¢ pas-
pesaM¥, U LIJIANLL, Yallle BCEro IUJIHHIDA

It takes me a little out of my way — though not
far. — MHe npupeTcss CcZeraTk LIS 3TOTO KPIOK —
[Ipasna, HebOJIBIIOH.

Its roots are in the lower bank of the Alamo. — Oxn
pacTeT Ha HH3KOM Gepery Amnamo.

to stay for further directions — wuro6m paccmpamupats

Jopory nogpobxee

Activities
% Checking Comprehension

1. Answer the questions.

1) Whom did Isidora meet on the way from the
mustanger’s hut?

2) Who was the man who spoke to Isidora?

3) What did she tell Mr. Poindexter?

4) Who was the man who staved to ask her his own
questions?

5) What did Isidora tell him?

6) What did she realize then?

2. Say true or false. Correct the false statements.

1} Isidora didn’t know anyone from the searching-
party.

2) Isidora showed the way to Gerald’s hut in re-
venge.
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3) All the searchers rushed across the plain in the
direction of the hut.

4) Isidora saw that Calhoun wanted to get revenge
as much as she did.

LU Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

1. Choose a word to complete the sentences.

1) If I kill her, it couldn’t me back his
heart.
a) bring
b) win
c) get
2) _ told Isidora that the older man was

the father of the murdered man.

a) Jealousy
b) Hatred
c) Instinct

3) The searchers were too _ to stay longer.

a) terrified
b) angry
c) excited

2. Fill in the prepositions by, of, in, for.

1) “Here’s a perfect chance _ revenge.”

2) Isidora knew some of the horsemen sight.
3) “The lady was dressed a riding habit.”

4) The searchers rushed across the plain, heading
___ the cypress.
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Z Discussing the Text

1. Describe the meeting beiween Isidora and the
searchers. What did the searchers learn from the
Mexican girl? Did she tell them the truth?

2. Talk about Isidora’s revenge,

e Say why she wanted to get revenge on her rival.

e Prove that she was glad to use the opportunity
she had.

Chapter 23

P e e——

IN THE HUT

Louise Poindexter had climbed into the saddle. But
something made her stay.

“Why did she leave?” she thought. “Why that look
of hatred?”

Instead of going away, Louise Poindexter once more
slipped out of her saddle, and entered the hut again.
The girl saw the pale cheeks and wild eyes of the man
she loved. And that made her forget about her anger
and sadness.

“Maurice — wounded — dying!” she cried, running
up to the hed. “Maurice, who has done this?”

There was no reply.

“Mauricel Maurice! Speak to me! Do you not know
me? Louise!”
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“Ah! Louise! You are very beautiful, Louise — Lou-
ise — Louise,” whispered the mustanger. “I love you
with all my heart, my angel.”

And he closed his eyes again. Louise was very happy
to hear these words.

At that moment a man came through the doorway. It
was Phelim. He was surprised to see another woman in
the hut.

“I must be dreaming,” he exclaimed, opening his eyes
wide. “I must be dreaming. It can’t be you, Miss Poind-
exter.”

“But it is, Mr. O’Neal. It’s bad you’ve forgotten me
so soon.”

“Forgotten you! You needn’t accuse me of doing
something which is impossible, miss. Who can forget
your sweet face? There’s a man here who can’t forget
it, even in his dreams!” said Phelim. “But what does
it all mean? Didn’t you see a woman here, Miss Poind-
exter?”

“Yes — vyes.”

“Oh! You did. And where is she now?”

“Gone away, [ think.”

“Gone away? She didn’t stay long. It’s very strange.”

“Indeed! Oh! It is strange — very strange!” said Lou-
ise. “Dear Phelim! Tell me all that has happened.”

“Then you’ll have to stay here longer. It would take
a lot of time to describe the strange things which have
happened since the day before yesterday.”

“Has anyone else been to this place?”

“Ah, plenty of people. All sorts, and colours too.
First and foremost there was somebody, though he
didn’t get all the way to the hut. But I can’t tell you
about him. It may frighten you, miss.”
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“Tell me. I'm not afraid.”

“It was a man on horseback without a head.”

“Without a head!”

“And what’s more, miss, he was like Mister Mau-
rice himself, With his horse under him, and his Mexican
serape, and everything just as the voung master looks.
I was so scared when I saw him!”

“But where did yvou see this, Mr. O’Neal?”

“Up there, on the top of the cliff.”

“I"'m sure it was a trick.”

“A trick, miss! That’s just what old Zeb said.”

“He has been here, then?”

“Yes, but after the others.”

“The others?”

“Yes, miss. Zeb arrived only yesterday in the morn-
ing. The others came here the night before.”

“But who? What others?”

“The Indians. There was a whole tribe of them. Oh!
What’s that?”

“What?”

“Didn’t you hear something? There it is again. The
horses. Many horses. They’re just outside,”

Phelim rushed towards the door.

“The place is surrounded by men on horseback.
There’s a thousand of them. I must find old Zeb. Oh! I'll
be too latel”

Phelim ran out of the hut.

“It’s them!” cried Louise. “My father..., and I am
here! How shall I explain it?”

She saw the opening in the skin door. Should she
get away through that? It was no longer possible. There
were horsemen behind the hut! Besides, her own mare
was in front.

But there was another thought that made her stay.
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It was more noble. He was in danger! Who could pro-

tect him?

And she sat down on a chair beside the hero of her
heart,

E

Woodley Poindexter rode up fto the hut and saw the
spotted mare.

“Ho! What’s this?” he said. “Why — it — it’s Lou-
ise’s mustang!”

“It is, uncle,” answered Cassius Calhoun, who had
ridden up along with him.

“I wonder who’s brought it here.”

“Louise herself, I think.”

“Nonsense! Are you joking, Cash?”

“No, uncle, I'm not.”

“You mean to say my daughter has been here?”

“Has been — still is, I think.”

“Impossiblel”

“Look there, then!”

The door has just been opened. A woman could be
seen inside the hut.

“It is my daughter!”

Poindexter got down from his horse, and went into
the hut, Calhoun followed him.

“Louise, what does it means? A wounded man! Is it
he — Henry?”

At that moment the planter saw the cloak and hat —
Henry’s!

“It is. He’s alive!”

He came up to the bed. The pale face on the pillow
was not that of his son. Louise’s father started back
with a groan.
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Calhoun seemed shocked even more than Poindexter.
He looked at the mustanger in horror and ran out of the
hut.

“What is it?” asked the planter. “Can you explain it,
Louise?”

“I can’t, father. I came here only a few minutes ago.
I found him as you see. He’s got a fever.”

“And — and — Henry?”

“I don’t know. Mr. Gerald was alone when I entered.
His servant was absent, and has just returned. I haven’t
had time to ask him a question.”

“But how did you come here?”

“I couldn’t stay at home any longer. It was terri-
ble — alone, with no one at the house. And I thought
I could find Henry here.”

“Here! But how did you know about this place? Who
guided you? You are by yvourself?”

“Oh, father! I knew the wav. Do vou remember the
day of the picnic — when the mustang ran away with
me? Mr. Gerald then told me he lived here. I thought
I could find the way back.”

“You’ve done a strange thing, my daughter. And
dangerous. You have acted like a silly girl. Come —
come away! This isn’t a good place for a lady — for
you. Get to your horse, and ride home again. Someone
will go with you. You shouldn’t see what may happen
here, Come, comel!”

The father took the daughter to her horse.

“Louise, Mr. Yancey will ride home with you,” he said.

The young planter thanked Poindexter for the oppor-
tunity in his soul.

“But, father!” protested the young lady. “Why
shouldn’t I wait for you? You are not going to stay
here long?”
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“It is my wish, daughter. Please do as I tell you.”
Louise and the young planter rode off.

Helpful Words & Notes

doorway — BXxoI B IoMellleEHe, ABEPHON MPOEM
First and foremost — ITpe:xkpe Bcero

scared = frightened

with a groan — co croHOM

by yourself = alone

Activities

iy ‘ .
.7 Checking Comprehension

1. Answer the guestions.,

1) What made Louise Poindexter return to Gerald’s
hut?

2) What did Phelim tell Louise?

3) Who came to the hut?

4) What kind of explanation did Louise give to her
father?

0) Where did Woodley Poindexter take his daughter?

6) Whom did the planter ask to get his daughter
home?

2. Say why:

e Phelim was surprised to see Louise in the hut.

o Iouise didn’t leave Maurice when the searchers
arrived.

» Woodley Poindexter sent Louise home.
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LL] Working with Voecabulary and Grammar

1. Choose a word to complete the sentences.

1) “There’s a man here who can’t your
sweet face, even in his dreams.”

a) remember
b) forget
c) see

when he saw the mus-

2) Calhoun was
tanger.

a) surprised
b) scared
¢) shocked

3) “You’ve acted like a givl.”

a) silly
b) good
c) brave

2. Fill in the gaps with the nouns from the box.

horror
tribe
pillow

|
!’
|

doorway

1) “There was a whole of Indians here.”

2) Phelim came through the
3) Calhoun looked at the wounded man in

4) The pale face on the
Henry Poindexter.

was not that of
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g Discussing the Text

1. Imagine that you’re Phelim. Say:

e who was in the hut when you returned there.
e what you told Louise.

2. What do you think?

Why did the planter ask Mr. Yancey to take his
daughter home? Was the young man happy? Why?

Chapter 24

et & @ ) § 0 ——

A JURY OF REGULATORS

Louise Poindexter and the voung planter were riding
through the trees, when the girl suddenly stopped.

“Mr. Yancey,” said the girl, after a short pause,
“something’s wrong with my saddle. I can’t siit comfort-
ably in it. Can you have a look, please?”

Yancey jumped to the ground, happy to please the
beautiful girl. He began examining the saddle.

“Wait a minute!” said Louise. “Let me get down.
You will get better at it.”

Without waiting for his help, she slipped from the
saddle and stood by the side of the mustang.

The young man continued to examine the saddle.
Then he fixed something.

“Now, Miss Poindexter, I think it will do,” he said

at last.



“Perhaps, it will,” said Louise, putting her hand on
the saddle and shaking it. “No doubt it will do now. Af-
ter all it’s a pity to go back so soon. I arrived not long
ago after a fast gallop, and my poor Luna hasn’t had
time to breathe. What if we stop here and let her have
a little rest? It’s cruel to take her back without it.”

“But your father?” asked the voung planter. “He said
you should —7”

“That I should go at once. That’s nothing. He on-
ly wanted to get me out of the way of these rough men.
It’s a nice place here, so cool, under these fine trees. Let
us stay a while and give Luna a rest! And we can watch
these beautiful silver fish in the stream. Look there,
Mr. Yancey! What little pretty creatures they are!”

The young planter didn’t want to upset the beautiful
girl.

“Miss Poindexter,” he said, “I am happy to stay
here, as long as you wish it.”

They stayed by the side of the stream. Yancey was
surprised to see Louise’s interest in the silver fish and
the spotted mustang. He preferred to have some of her
attention to himself.

Louise, in fact, tried to catch every sound that came
from the hut. The young man couldn’t help listening
too. First they heard a number of voices. Then only one
voice was left. Louise recognized this angry voice. It be-
longed to her cousin Cassius.

Louise couldn’t stay away any longer. She rushed
to the hut as quickly as it was possible. Yancey noticed
that at the last moment so he couldn’t stop the girl.

ok d kR

The men, whom she had left behind, were no lon-
ger in different groups. They gathered into a crowd,
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in shape of a circle. Inside them there were the Chief
of the Regulators with three or four of his assistants.
Woodley Poindexter was there too, and by his side Cas-
sius Calhoun. Both of them were mainly spectators now.

It was a trial for murder, with a jury of Regulators.

The prisoners — Maurice Gerald, and his servant
Phelim — were already inside the circle, on the grass.
The Regulators had tied them up, so they could move
neither hand nor foot. Maurice couldn’t even speak, be-
cause a gag had been put between his teeth.

The trial lasted only ten minutes. In fact the jury
didn’t need more time. Everyone was sure that Henry
Poindexter was dead, and that Maurice Gerald was re-
sponsible for his death.

The jury asked Phelim what he had to say. It was no
use putting questions to his master.

The servant told his story about a horseman without
a head, the Indians and the jaguar. Too strange to be
true. His story only confirmed the suspicion that Head-
less Horseman was a part of the plan of murder.

“Al]l those stories about tiger-fights and Indians are
lies,” said the spectators. “He’s trying to protect the
murderer. Why should we believe him?”

Finally the jury expressed their opinion: Maurice Ger-
ald must die. But some people didn’t like the verdict.
Among them was Sam Manly, the Chief of the Regulators.

“Fellow citizens!” he cried, as soon as he had an op-
portunity of making himself heard, “I think, we should
give the man a chance to speak. It’s no use asking him
questions now, as you all see. I think we should post-
pone the trial till —”

“What’s the use of postponing it?” interrupted Cas-
sius Calhoun. “What’s the use, Sam Manly? What more
do vou want to show that he’s guilty? More proofs?”
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“That’s just what we want, Captain Calhoun.”

“Can you give them, Mister Cassius Calhoun?” asked
a voice,

“Perhaps I can.”

“Let’s have them, then!”

“Well, then, there’s enough proof — and more than
enough, in my opinion. But if you want more, I can
give it.”

“Give it!” cried several people.

“Gentlemen!” said Calhoun, “You all know what hap-
pened between this man and me. I never wanted revenge.
I don’t want it now. But what I heard —”

“What did you hear, Mr. Calhoun?” asked Manly.
“What did you hear? And where, and when did you
hear it?”

“It was the night my cousin was missing, Last Tues-
day night.”

“Tuesday night, well?”

“I couldn’t get any sleep with the heat. So I got
up again and went to the roof to smoke a cigar. It was
about midnight or maybe a little earlier. Just as I was
about to take a second cigar out of my case, I heard the
voices of two men. They were up the river, as I thought
on the other side. There was loud angry talk between
them. I could tell that two men were quarrelling. As
I listened, I recognized one of the voices. And then the
other. The first was my cousin Henry’s. The second —
of the man who is there. The man who has murdered
him.”

“Please continue, Mr. Calhoun! You can say your
opinion later.”

“Well, gentlemen. As you may imagine, I was sur-
prised to hear my cousin’s voice so late at night. I knew
it was his voice. And T was quite sure that the other
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was that of the horse-hunter. I listened to catch what
the quarrel was about, but I couldn’t make out anything
that was said on either side. Henry called him by some
strong names. Then the Irishman threatened. Each loud-
ly pronounced the other’s name. I decided to go out and
see what the trouble was. But I was in my slippers, and
before I could put my boots on, it was all over. I wait-
ed for Henry, but he didn't come home. I thought he
had gone back to the fort to meet some of his friends.
So I went back to bed. Now, gentlemen, I’ve told you
all I know. My poor cousin never came back to Casa del
Corvo. He’s somewhere in the prairie. And there’s the
only man who knows where.”

Calhoun’s story seemed true. This time almost all the
searchers demanded the punishment.

At that moment a beautiful woman passed like a me-
teor through the crowd to the mustanger.

“Texans! Cowards!” she cried. “Shame! And you call
this justice? Texan justice? You don’t ever hear the
man! Murderers!”

“What does it mean, Louise?” shouted Poindexter,
rushing up, and seizing his daughter by the arm. “You
are mad! Didn’t I tell you to go home? Away! Do not in-
terfere with what doesn’t concern you!”

“Father, it does concern me!”

“How? Oh, true —- as a sister! This man is the mur-
derer of your brother.”

“T will not — can’t believe it. Never! There was no
motive. Give him a fair trial, and then —”

“He’s had a fair trial,” said one of the men. “He’s
guilty. He’s killed your brother, and nobody else.
Mr. Poindexter, you’d better take your daughter away.”

“Come, Louise. You must come away. Here, Cash,
hold her arm, and conduct her from the spot. Louise, if
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you refuse to go willingly, we’ll use force. Do as 1 tell
you. Go! Gol”
Calhoun dragged Louise from the crowd. She didn’t

stop protesting, but she could do nothing to help the he-
ro of her heart.

Helpful Words & Notes

happy to please the heautiful girl — om 6vr1 pang oxa-
3aTh VCJAYTYy KPACHBOU JEBYVIIIKE

You will get better at it. — Tax Bam 6yaer yaobuee.

it will do — Tax Oymer HopMaabHO

He preferred to have some of her attention to him-

self. — Emy xoTemock, uToOBI XOTH HacTh CBOEro BHU-
MaHusg oHa obpaTwjia Ha Hero.

It was a trial for murder, with a jury of Regulators. —
JTo OBINIO cyaebHoe pasduUpPaTeIBRCTBRO TO OOBHMHEHHIO B
yOUHCTBE C PEeryJisiTOPAMH B KAYECTBE MTPHCAMKHBIX.

gag — KJAD

Fellow citizens! — Corpaxnange!

make out — pasobparn

Do not interfere with what doesn’t concern you! — He
BMEIIIHBAHCA B TO, 4YTO TeDA He Kacaetcsal

Activities
\“f@ Checking Comprehension

1. Answer the guestions.

1) What kind of excuse did Louise use to stay close
to the hut?
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2) Why did she run back to the hut?

3) Who took part in Gerald’s trial?

4) How long did the trial last? Why?

5) Why did the Chief of the Regulators suggest
postponing the trial?

6) What other proof of Gerald’s guilt did Calhoun

give?

2. Say true or false. Correct the false statements.

1) Louise suggested to Yancey that they should
watch the birds.

2) The jury didn’t believe Phelim’s story.

3) Woodley Poindexter didn’t like the verdict of the

jury.
4) Louise demanded a fair trial for the mustanger.

Ll Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

1. Fill in the gaps with the nouns from the box,

jury
trial
circle

gag

1) The searchers gathered into a crowd in shape of
a .

2) The Regulators put a
mustanger’s teeth.

3) It didn’t take the __
their opinion.

4) Sam Manley thought that they should postpone
the i

between the

long to express
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2

2. Fill in prepositions if necessary.

e A o :@J

1) Yancey was happy to please the beautiful

girl.
2) “My father only wanted to get me of the

way of these rough men.”
3) It was a trial murder.
4) “Henry called him some strong names.”
8) “Do not interfere what doesn’t concern

you!”

2 Discussing the Text

1. Imagine that you're Yancey. Describe what happened
after you left the hut.

2. Talk about the trial,

* Describe all the people who took part in it.
* Describe Calhoun’s statement.

Chapter 25

ZEB INTERFERES

The Regulators gathered around Maurice Gerald
again. They had no pity for him. They wished to hang

the man as soon as possible.
“Eh, Bill!l Are you ready with the rope?” shouted one

of the hangmen to the other.
“All right!” answered Bill. “We’ll hang the scoundrel!

Up with him! Come!”
“No, you don’t!” shouted a loud voice.



A big man with a rifle rushed out from among the
trees into the centre of the crowd.

“No, you don’t!” repeated the man. “Drop the rope,
or I’ll shoot. Drop it!”

The words of the man made the hangmen stop, be-
cause he was Zeb Stump. Almost all the searchers knew
him. Most of them respected the hunter, many of them

were afraid of him. Among the last were Bill Griffin
and his friends.

“You don’t mean to hang this man, boys?” continued
Zeb. “Do you?”

“We do,” answered a voice.

“And why not?” asked another.

“Why not! You can’t hang a fellow citizen without
a trial, can’t you?”

“Not much of a fellow citizen. Besides, he’s had
a trial — a fair trial.”

“A man who’s got a fever and can’t defend himself!
You call that a fair trial, do you?”

“It doesn’t matter. We know he’s guilty. We’re all
satisfied with that.”

“You, Sam Manly, and you, Mister Poindexter, sure-
ly you haven’t agreed to this murder?”

“You haven’t heard anything, Zeb Stump,” said the
Regulator Chief. “There are facts.”

“Facts? I don’t want to hear them. It'll be enough
time for them, when there’s a real trial. Any objec-
tions?”

“You take too much upon yourself, Zeb Stump. It’s
none of your business. The man that’s been murdered
wasn’t your son. Not your brother, not your cousin!”
said Calhoun. “It doesn’t concern you.”

“It does. It concerns me. First, because this young
fellow is my friend, though he’s Irish, And secondly, be-
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cause Zeb Stump doesn’t like foul play,” said the hunter.
“Give the young fellow a fair trial in the fort. You’ve
got no proof. I know that young Poindexter was his
friend.”

“You don’t know other facts, Mr. Stump,” said the
Regulator Chief, in a calm voice. “We’ve got proof that
there was a quarrel between Gerald and young Poindex-
ter that night.”

“Who says that, Sam Manly?”

“I say it,” answered Calhoun, stepping a little for-

ward.
“Oh, you do, Mister Cash Calhoun! Did you see the

quarrel?”

“] haven’t said that I saw it, Zeb Stump. And what’s
more, I’m not going to answer any guestions from you.
I don’t see why this old fool should interrupt —”

«Old fooll” said the hunter. “You call me an old
fool? You'll live to take these words back, or my name
isn’t Zeb Stump of Kentucky. Never mind now. There’ll
be time for that, Mister Cash Calhoun.”

“Ag for a quarrel between Henry Poindexter and the
young fellow here,” continued the hunter. “I won’t be-
lieve, until there’s better proof than his words. You say
you’ve got new facts? I've got facts too.”

“What facts?” demanded the Chief of Regulators.
“Let’s hear them, Stump.”

“First what do you think of the young fellow’s
wounds? I don’t talk about the scratches. 1 believe
they’ve been done by coyotes that attacked him. But
look at his knee. Something else than coyotes did that.
He hurt his head as well. What do you make of it, Sam

Manly?”
“Well, some of the boys here think that there was

a fight between him and —”
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“Between him and who?” asked Zeb.

“Why, the man that’s missing.”

“Yes, that’s he who we mean,” said one of the regu-
lators. “They began fighting and fell on the rocks. That’s
how he hurt his knee. Besides, there’s the mark of a blow
on his head — from the gun, I think. As for the scratch-
es, we can’t tell what made them. That foolish fellow has
a story about a tiger, but it won’t do for us.”

“What fellow are you talking about? You mean Irish
Phelim? Where is he?”

“He stole away. We'll find him later and draw the
truth out of him.”

“If you mean about the tiger, you’ll draw no oth-
er truth out of him what you have already. I saw the
jaguar myself, and was there just in time to save the
young fellow. But that’s not the point. Did Phelim tell
you nothing about what he had seen?”

“He said something about Indians. Who believes it?”

“Well, he told me the same story. There’s clear-
ly some truth in it. Besides, he says they were playing
cards. I found them on the floor of the hut. They are
Mexican cards.”

Zed drew the cards out of his pocket and gave them
to the Chief of Regulators,

“Who ever heard of Comanches playing cards?” asked
a man. “Nonsense!”

“Nonsense, you say!” said an old hunter who had
been twelve months a prisoner among the Comanches. “It
may be nonsense, but it’s true. The Comanches do play
cards. 1 saw them play cards more than once.”

Zeb Stump was glad to hear these words which could
help him to postpone the trial.

“Sure,” he said. “It could be Indians, or something
like them. Oh! What’s that? Where is she coming from?”
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No one asked Stump what he meant. Along the
top of the cliff, and close to its edge, everybody saw
a horse. There was a woman — a lady on his back, with
no hat.

The men recognized her at first glance. She was
their guide. It was that beautiful Mexican girl who half
an hour before showed the searchers the way to the hut.

Helpful Words & Notes

Not much of a fellow citizen. — Ilioxoil U3 Hero rpam-
AaHWH,

It’s none of your business. — 3T0 He TBOe IeJO.

foul play — HeuecTHasa urpa

You’ll live to take these words back — Bam eme npm-
nercs B3AThE 3TU cJIOBA 00paTHO

it won’t do for us — wmn1 eMy He Bepum

But that’s not the point. — Ho He B aTOM geno.

it first glance — cpaay e, ¢ MepBOro BarIAza

Activities
Vs Checking Comprehension

1. Answer the questions.

1) Who interfered with the punishment of the mus-
tanger?

2) What arguments for a real trial did the hunter
give?

3) Who supported Zeb’s suspicion about the cards?

4) What interrupted the unfair trial?
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2, Complete the sentences.

1) The words of Zeb Stump stopped the hangmen be-
cause

2) The old hunter demanded to give the mﬁstang’er
a fair trial because

3) Calhoun called Zeb Stump an old fool because

Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

1. Find in the text the English for:

¢ JTO He Ballle AeNoO.

¢ UYto BRI 00 aToM aymaere?
* JTO He HMeeT 3HAYEHUS.
e He B sTOM meJo.

2. Fill in the gaps with the nouns from the box.

proof
blow
play
trial
1) “Give the young fellow a fair in the
fort.”
2) “Zeb Stump doesn’t like foul 7
3) “We’'ve got that there was a quarrel
that night.”

4) “There’s the mark of a on his head.”

Z Discussing the Text

Say what methods Zeb Stump used to postpone the
trial of Maurice Gerald.
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Chapter 26
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COMANCHES CHASE ISIDORA

It was indeed Isidora. But what was bringing her
back? To explain it, we must return to her thoughts af-
ter the meeting with the Texans.

When the men rushed to the Alamo, Isidora headed
her horse to her uncle’s hacienda. There was only one
thing on her mind — revenge. So she went on without
even giving a glance behind.

After a while Isidora realized that Louise wasn’t on
the road to the Leona.

“She’s changed her mind. She’s stayed by the hut,”
thought the Mexican girl. “That’s even better. It’s only
fair to bring shame on her. She’s the one who has sto-
len the man I love.”

Suddenly she stopped.

“What have 1 done?” she whispered. “If these
men find him guilty, where may it end? In his death!
I don’t want that. When I pointed out the way, how
quickly they rode off, without even thinking about
me. Oh, they have made up their minds that he should
die! He’s a stranger among them. Not of their coun-
try. Alone, without any friends, and with many ene-
mies.”

At that moment she heard the sound of hoofs. Then
she heard men’s voices.

First lsidora wasn’t alarmed.

“Some travellers, perhaps. They may be going to the
Ric Grande,” she thought. “It is only natural to be so
careful, when the Indians are on the war-path.”
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After a while Isidora heard the sounds of hoofs
again. The horsemen were heading towards her. And not
along the road, but through the bushes! It could be rob-
bers or Indians! What should she do?

The girl rode to one side of the road to hide and
takke her horse under a big tree. But she didn’t stay
there long. The strangers were clearly trying to sur-
round her! She could tell this, hearing the sounds of
hoofs in different directions.

It frightened Isidora. She realized that she would
soon be discovered.

Isidora rode out from the forest into the open plain
and galloped along the road to the Alamo. At that mo-
ment the horsemen burst forth from among the bush-
es, almost as fast as she herself! They rode towards her.
When she looked back, she could see men of bronze-
coloured skins, with red paint on their faces, and red
feathers in their hair.

“The Indians!” thought the Mexican. “Four of them.”

Four Indians were too many against one — and that
one a woman!

Isidora thought that her only hope was to get to the
Alamo under the protection of the Texans.

As soon as she was by the edge of the cliff she
cried:

“Texans! Save me! Save me! The Indians! They are be-
hind me — close — close.”

The leading Indian was so eager to throw his las-
so at the girl, that he paid no attention to her ecry. He
didn’t even hear a rifle-shot. He just let go his lasso
and looked below in surprise. He saw a hundred men,
with a hundred guns. His three followers saw them at
the same time. All four turned and rode away from the
cliff.

162

TR AR

The Indians made part of the jury change their opin-
ion about Maurice Gerald. The Chief of the Regulators
had to respect their wish. He decided to carry the mus-
tanger 1o the fort and have a proper trial there.

“What about the Indians? Should we follow them?”
asked one of the Texans,

“Of course,” said another man. “But when? Now?”

“Let us wait till the woman comes down,” said one
of the officers. “She may know more about the Indians.
There may be much more of them.”

Some minutes later the Texans began to feel the
alarm: “Where is the niece of Silvio Martinez? Can it be
that she is taken?”

Finally the younger ones jumped into their saddles
and went off in search of Isidora — to save her from
the Indians. The older men preferred to stay by the hut.
Zeb Stump was among them. He took the gag from be-
tween the teeth of the unconscious prisoner and eut the
ropes.

The old hunter was not the only friend who remained
true to the mustanger. There were two other people.
One — a beautiful girl — was watching him at a dis-
tance, trying not to show her interest. The other — Phe-
lim — had just left the top of the tree and was going to
take care of his master.

ek Rw

The campaign against the Comanches was short. It
lasted only three or four days. It was discovered that
the Indians didn’t mean war. It was an attack of some
young Indians who wanted to return home with some-
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thing to show to the tribe. The soldiers found them
among the hills of San Saba. The Comanches were lucky
to escape by going beyond the neutral ground. The sol-
diers returned to Fort Inge to their duties.

The men who had gone in search of the Indians after
their attack on Isidora, found no Indians on the Alamo.
They even brought proof: blue, green and red feathers,
some clothes, and war-paint. They had found all this in
a hole of a big tree.

Helpful Words & Notes

on her mind — y Hee B MBICTAHX

She’s changed her mind. — Ouna mepegymana.

to bring shame on her — omnosopure ee

When I pointed out the way — Korga s ykaszana um go-
pory

the horsemen burst forth from among the bushes —
BCAJHUKU BEBIIETENIH U3 KYCTOB

rifle-shot — BBICTpET M3 pViKBA

campaign — 30. BOEHHLIH moxon

Activities
% Checking Comprehension

1. Put the sentences in the right order.

1) All four Comanches turned and rode away from
the cliff.

2) The younger men jumped into their saddles and
went off in search of Isidora.
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3) Isidora heard the sound of hoofs and men’s
voices. -

4) The leading Indian didn’t even hear a rifle-shot.

5) Isidora headed her horse to her uncle’s hacienda.

6) The horsemen burst forth from among the
bushes.

2. Say why:

e Isidora forgot about revenge.

¢ she rushed to the edge of the cliff.

e part of the jury changed their opinion about Ger-
ald’s guilt.

¢ the campaign against the Comanches was short.

' Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

1. Choose the right verb.

1) “She has robbed/has stolen the man I love.”

2) Isidora realized that the strangers would hide/dis-
cover her soon.

3) The old hunter cut/released the ropes.

4) The Comanches managed/failed to escape from
the dragoons.

2. Fill in prepositions if necessary.

1) There was only one thing Isidora’s
mind — revenge.
2} “She’s changed her mind.”

3) “They have made their minds that he
should die.”

4) An idea crossed Isidor_a’s mind.
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g Discussing the Text

1. Talk about the chase on the prairie. Say:

¢+ what alarmed Isidora.
e what Isidora tried to do when she realized that

she was in danger.
e where she rode for protection.

2. What do you think?

Did Isidora use the chase to save the mustanger by
attracting the searchers’ attention to herself? Or
was it just her only chance to escape from the Indi-

ans?

Chapter 27

SORROW AND MYSTERY

There was great change in Casa del Corvo after the
death of Henry Poindexter. The members of the plant-
er’s family no longer doubted that he was dead. There
were only three of them left, and they met only in the
dining-room, talking very little to each other.

It was a hard time for Louise. Apart from the sor-
row about her brother, she felt a strong fear of los-
ing the man she loved. She knew that Maurice Ger-
ald was shut up within the walls of a prison — the
strong walls of a military guardhouse. But she couldn’t
show herself at the prison without risk to her reputa-

166

tion. There were soldiers on guard, and always a crowd
around it.

On the morning of the fourth day Zeb Stump ap-
peared at Casa del Corvo. He told Louise that the sol-
diers had come back to the fort.

“Nobody can take the young fellow from his guards
now. So you needn’t worry about that,” said the old
hunter,

“What did yvou do, Zeb?” asked Louise.

“Well, in the first place I’ve seen the major. I told
him the whole story, as far as I know it myself. Luckily
he isn’t against the young fellow. The major doubled the
guards around the prison.”

“T am so glad! You think there’s no danger from —”

“If you mean Mister Miguel Diaz — ves. Before he
thinks about getting anybody else out of a prison, he
must get himself out first.”

“What? Diaz in prison! How? When? Where?”

“You’ve asked three separate questions at once, Miss
Louise. I’ll start with the last one. Where? There’s only
one prison in these parts. That is the guardhouse at the
fort. He’s there.”

“Along with —"”

“1 know who you're going to name — the young fel-
low. Yes. They’re in the same building, though not in
the same room. There are three others along with the
Mexican — his comrades.”

“This is good news. But how and when — vou’ve not
told me?”

“Give me a little time, Miss Louise. Your second
question was when. He was locked up about an hour

ago. 1 saw it with my own eves. After that I’ve come
straight here.”



“But you haven’t said why he was arrested. This
Mexican — Miguel Diaz I mean? I think I know some-
thing of the man. I have reasons.”

“And you are not the only person who may have rea-
sons for knowing him, Miss Louise. What I know, or
strongly suspect, is that this Miguel Diaz has had some-
thing to do with... You know what I mean?”

“Go on, Mr. Stump!”

«“Well, the story is this. The fellows, who went in
search of the Indians, found out that they were not In-
dians at all. You’ve heard that yourself. Some things
were discovered in the hole of a tree. It’s clear now
that what we saw on the cliff was a group of whites.
I suspected it myself, when I saw the cards they’d left
in the hut.”

“It was the same, then, who visited the hut at
night — the same Phelim saw?’

“Yes. The same Mexicans.”

“Why do vou think they were Mexicans?”

“I found them,” said Zeb. “You see, the cards, and
also some words, which the Irishman remembered, told
me that they should be Mexican. I know enough about
the Mexicans of these parts to guess what they could be.
Well, as soon as the soldiers came back with the story
of whites instead of red-skins, I took my old mare and
rode out to the place where our fellows had hidden their
things. I tracked every horse of the four scoundrels to
his own stable. Besides, on one of them I'd made my
mark.”

“Your mark? How, Zeb?”

“You remember the shot I fired from the door of the
hut?”

“Oh, certainly! I didn’t see the Indians. I was under
the trees at the time. I heard your shot.”
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“Well, Miss Louise, I know my bullet hurt one of
them.”

“And what did you do?”

“T talked to the major. And in half an hour the four
of them were locked up in the guardhouse. Miguel Diaz
was taken first. We found my mark on his right arm.”

“Tt was Diaz, then! Very strange!” thought Louise.
“And the woman — this Mexican — Isidora? Ah! There
is some mystery in all this.”

“Tell me, dear Zeb,” she asked, stepping closer to the
old hunter. “That woman — the Mexican lady I mean —
who — who was out there. Do you know if she often
visited him?”

“Him! Which him, Miss Louise?”

“Mr. Gerald, I mean.”

“T don’t know. I don’t often go to the Alamo myself.
You’'d better ask Irish Phelim. But if you ask my opin-
ion, I'd say that the girl was there only once. I know
nothing about her. I only know about the other lady’s
visit to the hut.”

“Who?” she asked.

At that moment she regretted that she had asked the
question. The colour came to her cheeks, as she noticed
Zeb’s glance.,

“Never mind,” she continued, without waiting for
an answer.

“So, Zeb,” she went on, “you think that these men
could do it with Henry... these Mexicans?”

“To tell you the truth, Miss Louise, I don’t know
what to think. Sometimes I think the Mexicans did it.
Sometimes I think that somebody else has had a hand in
the black business. I won’t say who.”

“Not him, Zeb. Not hAim!”

“Not the mustanger. I'm sure about that.”
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“But how can he prove it? Everything is against
him!”

“I can’t say that. I didn’t have much chance of get-
ting about, because I had to keep an eye on the mus-
tanger and his prison. But there’s an opportunity now,
and I plan to use it. The prairie is a big book, Miss
Poindexter, a wonderful big book — for people who
know how to read it. I've learnt to do that.”

“Do you think you can discover some traces?”

“I’m going out to have a good look around me. Espe-
cially at the place where I found the voung fellow in the
claws of the jaguar. I must start straight away, Miss
Louise. The trial may be in less than three days. And
I must get back before it begins.”

“Go, Zeb! And come back with proofs of his inno-
cence.”

Helpful Words & Notes

guardhouse -— raynTBaxTa; OOMeIl[eHHe AJA COIEPKAHWUA
O/l apecToM BOEHHOCAVKAIIHX

He was locked up — Ero sakawoyman B TIOpbMY

Besides, on one of them I'd made my mark. — Kpowme

TOTO, OZHOMY M3 HUX 5 IIOCTABHJ CBOK METKY.

somebody else has had a hand in the black business —
KTO-TO IPYIOH YYacTBOBAJ B 3TOM T'PA3HOM Jete

I didn’t have much chance of getting about, because
I had to keep an eye on the mustanger and his pris-
on. — Y MeHA emle He OBLIO BOBMOXXHOCTH BBIACHHTH
3T0, TOTOMY YTO MPHIILIOCh TPHCMATPHUBATE 3a MYCTaH-
IrepoM M ero TIOPBMOM.

straight away — Hemeniaenno
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Activities
% Checking Comprehension

1. Answer the questions.

1) How did the atmosphere in Casa del Corvo
change after Henry’s death?

2) Why was it a hard time for Louise?

3) Why was Miguel Diaz arrested?

4) How did Zeb Stump track the Mexicans down?

5) Why was the hunter going out to the prairie?

2. Complete the sentences.

1) Maurice Gerald was locked up in the
2) Zeb Stump made his mark on Diaz’s
3) The old hunter needed to come back before

L] Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

1. Choose the right form of the verb.

1) Zeb said that the major doubled/had doubled the
guards around the prison.

2) “Do you remember the shot 1 had fired/fired
from the door of the hut?”

3) Louise said she knew/had known something about
Diaz.

4) Louise regretted that she was asking/had asked
the question about her rival.

2. Fill in the prepositions up, on, in, at.

1) “You’ve asked three separate questions once.”
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2) “Diaz was locked about an hour ago.”

3) “Somebody else’s had a hand that black
business.”
4) “I had to keep an eye the mustanger and

his prison.”

Discussing the Text

Describe Louise’s talk with Zeb Stump. Say:

e what topics they discussed.
e what topic she failed to discuss.

Give your opinion.

We know now that the Indians who chased Isidora
were Diaz and his companions. Why did they do it?

Chapter 28

= ) & » fo——

IN THE STABLE

The hunter went to the stable, where he had left his
mare. The horse was eating some corncobs, which Plu-
to had put before her. The servant himself was standing
by her side. He was unusually silent after the loss of his
young master.

Zeb didn’t notice the sad mood of the servant. He
was in a great hurry to let the old mare finish her meal.
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He pulled on the reins and tried to lead her out. The
mare didn’t turn without a struggle.

“Ho! Ho! Mister Stump!” cried Pluto. “Why are you
in such a big hurry? Why don’t you let her eat all this
corn? It’ll do her a lot of good.”

“] can’t stay here long. I'm going off on a bit of
a journey. I've got about a hundred miles to make in
less than a couple of hours.”

“Ho! Ho! That’s the fastest kind of travelling. Are
you joking, Mister Stump?”

“No, I am not.”

“They make wonderful journeys on these prairies.
I think that horse over there travelled fwo hundred
miles the other night.”

“What horse?”

“That old black horse over there. Mister Calhoun’s
horse,”

“What makes you think he travelled two hundred
miles?

“Because he was so dome up that he could hardly
walk. Hol! Hol”

“What night are you talking about, Pluto?”

“What night? Let me see. Why, of course the night
Mister Henry didn’t come home. I saw that horse in
the morning, about an hour after sunrise. I didn’t see
him before then. When I came to the stable, he was so
tired —”

“Who had him out that night?”

“T don’t know, Mister Stump. Only that nobody is al-
lowed to ride it except Mister Calhoun himself.”

“Why, wasn’t it Captain Calhoun himself who took
the animal out?”

“I don’t know, Mister Stump.”

“If the owner of the horse took it out himself,

174

there’s an end of it. He has the right to ride his horse
wherever he wants. It’s none of my business.”

“Hol Ho! Neither mine, Mister Stump. But I didn’t
think that way this morning. I was wrong.”

“What happened this morning?”

“Ho! What happened this morning? I got Kkicked,
Mister Stump.”

“Kicked! Which of the horses kicked you?”

“Ho! Not the horses, but the master of them. I was
kicked by Mister Calhoun.”

“For what reason?”

“I only asked the captain what had put his old
horse in such a bad condition, and what had made him
so tired. He said it wasn’t my business. And then he
kicked me. And then he started to lash me with his
whip. I'd never seen Mister Calhoun so mad — never,
in all my lifel”

“But where is he now? I didn’t see him here today.”

“He’s rode out, Mister Stump. He goes much away
from the house now.”

“On horseback?”

“Yes. He goes on the grev horse. He hasn’t ridden
the black one since that night.”

“Look here, Pluto,” said Zeb, after standing si-
lent for a second or two. “After all, I'd better let the
old mare have a couple of these corncobs. She’s got
a long journey before her. While she’s eating, I could
do the same myself. Can you go to the kitchen and see
if there’s something to chew? a bit of cold meat and
a piece of corn bread will do.”

“Of course, Mister Stump. I’ll go and get more than
this.”

The black servant left the stable. Zeb Stump went to
Calhoun’s black horse.



“T don’t mean any harm to you,” he said. “Let’s have
a look at your feet.”

He lifted the horse’s feet one after the other. On
one of the feet he discovered a broken horseshoe. Almost
a quarter of the shoe was missing from the hoof.

Zeb drew his huge hunting knife and used it to take
the broken shoe off the hoof. Then he put it in the pocket.

After a while Pluto returned to the stable. He
brought a lot of food and a small bottle of whisky.

“Look here, Pluto!” said Zeb some minutes later.
“Who puts shoes on your horses? Your own people?”

“Yes. Yellow Jake. Why do you ask, Mister Stump?”

“Well, I'd like to shoe the mare. Do you think Jake
could do it for me?”

“Ho! Ho! I’'m sure he’d do it with pleasure.”

“Question is if I can wait. How long does it take him
to put on a couple of shoes?”

“Not long, Mister Stump. Besides, he has the shoes
all ready. I know it because Jake’s going to shoe the
black horse. One of his shoes is broken. It happened ten
days ago. Mister Calhoun told Jake to take off the bro-
ken shoe and put a new one. This very morning. I heard
him myself.”

“After all,” said Zeb, as if suddenly changing his
mind. “I can do it when I come back. I don’t have time
for that now.”

“No, I don’t have time,” he added, when stepped out-
side. “I must be off. Now, old girll Stop chewing and
take this bit between your teeth.”

The hunter led the animal out of the stable, got into
the saddle, and headed his horse in the direction of Fort
Inge.

It took Zeb less than a quarter of an hour to reach
the fort. Usually it took him three, but this time he was
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very excited. When he rode into the square, he slipped
out of the saddle and went to see Major Ringwood.

The guard passed him without any questions, and
an officer warned the military chief of the fort about
his new vwvisitor.

“Ah! Mister Stump! Glad to see you so soon,” said
Major Ringwood. “Have you found anything useful?
From your quick return, I can almost say you have.
Something, I hope, that can help this poor young fellow.
I still believe he’s innocent., What have you learnt?”

“Well, Major,” said Zeb, taking off his hat. “What
I’ve learnt isn’t much, though enough to bring me back
to the fort. I came back here to have a word with you.”

“Of course. What is it you have to say?”

“That you should keep back the trial as long as you
can. I know there’s a pressure from outside. But 1 know,
too, that you’ve got the power to resist it, Major.”

“Yes, I have that, Mister Stump, but I can’t go
against the law.”

“I don’t ask you to do that, Major. You know there
are people here who want to take it into their own
hands. One especially wants to do it. I know who that
one is. At least, I guess who that may he.”

“Who?”

“Can you keep a secret, Major? I know you can.”

“Mister Stump, you may speak your mind. Every-
thing we say here is between you and me.”

“Well, Major, I can say that the murderer is not
Maurice the mustanger.”

“That’s my opinion as well. You know it already.
Can you say more?”

“Perhaps, 1 ean, Major. But the time’s not right for
that vet. I've got only suspicions. I may be wrong, and
I’d better keep them to myself for the time being. First
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I need to make a short excursion across to the Nueces
River.”

“I'll be glad to wait for your return, Mister Stump.
What do you need me to do while you’re away?”

“Keep back the trial — only that. The rest will be
all right.”

“How long?”

“Can you promise me three days?”

“Oh! I think I can do that. I give you an officer’s
promise that for three days Maurice the mustanger will
not go out of my guardhouse, Innocent or guilty, for
that time he will be protected.”

“Thank you, Major. You'’re a good man and a good
friend,” said the hunter and left.

Helpful Words & Notes

corncobs — IIOYATKH KYKYDY3hI

The mare didn’t turn without a struggle. — Ko6buia
O4YeHb HEOXOTHO ITOBEPHYJAChH K XO3AUHY,

the other night — npomnoii HOUBIO

done up — U3MyYEHHBIH

Who had him out that night? — Kro Ha Hem e3gun B Ty
HOYL?

there’s an end of it — Torza Bcé B mopsAngke

I got kicked — MeHa ucxkonorunu (uzpa ciroa: amiy e
@pas3y MmoxcHO nepesecmu xKax MeHa TATHYIN)

he has the shoes all ready -— y Hero ects rorosnole Ioj-
KOBEIL

I must be off. — Ilopa aBurareca B nyTs.

keep back the trial — orranayres Hauano cyaa

I know there’ll be a pressure from outside — f1 3nato,
4TO Oyner gaBJjeHHe H3BHe.
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you may speak your mind — BEI MOMKeTe TOBOPHUTEH OT-
KPOBEHHO
for the time being — na mexoropoe Bpems
Activities

% Checking Comprehension

1. Say who:

» went to the stable.

e was eating corncobs.

e was so done up that he could hardly walk.
¢ took the broken shoe off the horse’s hoof.
e promised to keep back the trial.

2. Complete the sentences.

1) Zeb Stump was in a great hurry to get out of Ca-
sa del Corvo because
2) Calhoun kicked Pluto because

3) Zeb came to see Major Ringwood because

Q Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

1. Use the verbs in the right form.

1) The old hunter (to pull) the reins and tried to
lead his mare out of the stable.

2) Pluto asked the captain what (to put) his old
horse in such a bad condition.

3) Jake (to shoe) Louise’s spotted mare.

179



2. Fill in the prepositions up, from, on, to.

1) Zeb Stump was going off
prairies.

2) The black horse was so done he could
hardly walk.

3) Almost a quarter of the shoe was missing
the hoof.

4} Zeb decided to keep his suspicions

a journey to the

himself.

g Discussing the Text

1. Talk about the meeting between Zeb Stump and
Pluto.
o Describe the men’s mood.
e Say what they talked about.

2, Imagine that you’re Major Ringwood. Say:

e what you think about the trial and Gerald’s guilt.

¢ what Zeb Stump asked you to do before his de-
parture.

Chapter 29

el & § ) § 5 ia—

ZEB STUMP ON THE TRAIL

The hunter rode away from the fort and returned on

the road to Casa del Corvo. When he reached Poindex-
ter’s plantation, he stopped.
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“Calhoun’s horse was out the same night, and re-
turned home done up. What could that mean?” he
asked himself. “Could he kill his own cousin? He
could do that, or any other bad thing, if there was
a reason for that. But there isn’t. I mean I can’t
think of any such reason. Old Poindexter doesn’t
own anything on this ground any longer. All belongs
to Calhoun. Why should he want to kill his cous-
in? There's also this mustanger, and the sham Indi-
ans, and this Mexican girl, and the horseman without
a head. What a puzzlel”

Zeb looked around as if in search of answers. Then
he said some words to his mare and went in the direc-
tion of the Nueces River. After a while he changed his
course and headed to the Rio Grande.

The hunter had ridden about a mile in the new di-
rection, when something made him stop. He got out of
the saddle and dropped down on his knees. Then he drew
the broken shoe out of his pocket and put it in the hoof
mark on the ground. It fitted.

“That’s the mark of the traitor — and, perhaps,
a murderer!” said Zeb.

He spent a few more minutes on the spot. After that
he rose to his feet, and went on foot along the trail of
the horse with a broken shoe. The old mare followed him.

He was more than a mile from that spot when he
heard a shot. He stopped and raised his eyes. He saw
a small cloud of blue smoke above the trees.

“Who can be hunting out there?” he asked him-
self. “I know there’s nothing in that forest except coy-
otes... Heigh! Something’s coming this way. A horse, and
somebody on his back. What! I’s the Headless Horseman!”

The old hunter was right. There could be no mis-
take sbout the rider, who was galloping towards the
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spot where Zeb stood. It was the horseman without
a head.

Zeb Stump was a brave man. He was never afraid
of jaguars, bears, or the Indians® But it wasn’t easy for
him to come face to face with something that was abso-
lutely unnatural.

He saw some bushes close by — they could give him
the chance of a hiding-place.

“Down!” he cried to his mare.

The horse dropped down on her front knees, and
then lay down on the grass. Zeb hid in the bushes.

The Headless Horseman came galloping up. He saw
neither the hunter nor his horse.

As the horse passed Zeb, he saw under the serape
a shirt he had seen before. It was a shirt of blue cotton.
Though there were spots of dark red blood on the shirt,
the hunter recognized it. Everything — the horse, the
saddle, the striped serape, the sky-blue shirt and trou-
sers — was known to him.

The hunter didn’t try to stop the rider. He said in
a slow, sad tone:

“It’s true, then! Poor voung fellow is dead!”

The Headless Horseman galloped on over the prairie.
Zeb followed him only with his eyes. He was about to
get on his feet, when he saw a man on horseback. A re-
al horseman, with a head upon his shoulders. He was
examining the ground, over which he was guiding his
horse. Zeb guessed what this horseman was doing. He
was tracking the headless rider.

“Hol Ho!” he whispered. “I'm not the only one who’s
got a reason for solving this mystery., Who can he be?
I'd like to know that.”

Zeb didn’t have to wait for an answer very long. The
man approached the bushes, and the hunter saw who he
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was. It was Cassius Calhoun. The ex-captain was wear-
ing his usual dark blue military suit and a cap. He had
a knife and guns on his belf.

It was not Calhoun’s weapons that kept Zeb Stump
from showing himself. He wasn’t afraid to meet the ex-
officer of volunteers. He remained in the bushes to see
what the captain would be doing.

Calhoun passed the hunter and his horse. Zeb Stump
decided to follow him. The hunter didn’t need to stay
close to Calhoun. He was sure he could easily find the
trails of the horseman without a head and the horseman
without a heart.

After a while Zeb saw the captain again. He was ex-
amining the edge of the chalk prairie. Zeb guessed that
Calhoun had lost the trail of the Headless Horseman and
was trying to find it again.

The captain failed to do it, and angrily galloped off
in the direction of the Leona.

Zeb also tried to find the lost trail. But the sunlight
was so bright that it was impossible to do it.

The hunter decided to return to the forest. After
a while he saw the hoof marks of three horses. All
three had gone over the same ground, but at sepa-
rate times. First — a mustang, then — an Ameri-
can horse. The horse with the broken shoe was behind
both horses.

“Here they’ve separated,” said the hunter, examining
the ground at his feet. “The horse with the broken shoe
went in a different direction. Why? If I go after those
two, I know where they’ll lead. They 11 come up to that
pool of blood. Let’s track this one.’

Zeb followed the trail of the horse with the broken
shoe. It led him to a spot where the horse had stood tied
to a tree. The footprints of a man could be seen on the
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ground. Zeb discovered two sets of them — one going,
another coming back.

The old hunter left his mare there and followed the
footprints of the rider. They brought him out into the
opening — close to the pool of blood. On the way there
he saw a spot where a man had remained for some
time. The same footprints were leading out towards the
pool of blood, and then coming back again. And in the
branches of a tree Zeb Stump saw a small half-burnt
piece of paper. He took the paper from the thorn and
read on it the initials he knew very well — “C. C. C.”

“That’s a piece of a letter,” he said. “It was used as
a wad.”

The hunter drew out a wallet out of his pocket, put
the paper into it, and returned the wallet to his pocket.

“Well,” he said, “the man who was murdered was
out there by that pool of blood. The man, who did it,
was standing behind this tree.”

Zeb returned to the place where the horse with the
broken shoe had been left. Not far from that spot he
discovered another path. The hunter saw that several
shod horses had passed along it, some days before.

“It’s Spangler and the other searchers,” said Zeb.

He went along the path, looking for the hoof marks
of Henry Poindexter’s horse. After a while the hunter
stopped near a huge tree with a low thick branch. He
looked at the bark of the branch.

“What about this cut?” he asked himself. “It’s been
done by a head. The man was on horseback. He struck his
head against the branch. Of course, he couldn’t keep in the
saddle after that.... I thought so. Ah! He fell right here
and hurt his leg. And that’s where he began crawling.”

Zeb Stump followed the trail of the wounded man to
the stream.

184

Helpful Words & Notes

the sham Indians — MHUMEBIe MHIeKIIbI]

It fitted. — OHm coBnanu.

I'm not the only one who's got a reason for solving this
mystery. — He MHe ogHOMY Xo4deTcs pasrajaTh 3Ty TaHHY.

chalk prairie — Menosasa npepus

but at separate times — HO B pasHOe BpemMsdA

two sets of them — ome going, another coming back — xBe
IIeNIOYKHN CJENOB: ONHU BeJU BUepern, Apyrue — obpaTHO

It was used as a wad. — 310 HCIOIB30BAJIOCE B KAYECTEE
nelEa. (IIslK — npokaagxa, NPeAOTBPANIAIIAA BBICHITIA-
HHe IIopoxa M Apo0KM K3 IIaTPOHA; B KadecTBe IIBIFKA HC-
MOJL30BAINCE KYCOUKH IEPCTH, KOXKH, KapToHa, byMarn.)

Activities
@ Checking Comprehension

1. Answer the questions.

1) Where did Zeb go from Fort Inge?

2) Where did Zeb hide from the Headless Horseman?
3) How was the Headless Horseman dressed?

4) Who followed the Headless Horseman?

5) Why did Calhoun stop the search?

6) What did Zeb discover in the forest?

2. Say why:

¢ Zeb Stump hid in the bushes from the Headless
Horseman.

o Zeb didn’t show himself to Captain Calhoun.
o the hunter lost the trail of the Headless Horseman.
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A

1.

] Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

Fill in the gaps with the adjectives from the box.

1)

2)

3)

4)

half-burnt
sham
separate
broken

Zeb Stump didn’t know how the Indi-

ans fitted into the mystery of Henry’s death.

The hunter followed the trail of the horse with a
shoe.

Zeb Stump saw in the bushes a small

piece of paper.

Three riders went over the same ground, but at
times.

Use the right form of the verb.

1)
2)
3)

4)

After a while the hunter (to change) his course
and headed to the Rio Grande.

“Heigh! The Headless Horseman (fo come) right
this way!”

The hunter’s mare (to drop) down on her front
knees, and then (to lie) down on the grass.

Zeb read on the piece of paper the initials he (to
know) very well.

Discussing the Text

Talk about Zeb’s journey in the prairies. What plac-

es did he visit? What things did he discover?
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2. What do you think?

Zeb Stump found answers to some of his answers.
What was the puzzle that still remained unsolved?

Chapter 30

s— 5 i  * —

A HORSE EXCHANGE

Calhoun turned away from the edge of the chalk
prairie, where he had lost the trail of the Headless
Horseman.

“No use following further! If I go back to the riv-
er, I may see him again. But I need another horse, fast
enough to overtake the mustang. There must be one
like that in town. I'll see when 1 get back,” he told
himself.

Calhoun was already not far from Casa del Corvo
when he saw a horse with a rider upon his back. It was
Isidora Covarubio de los Llanos. She noticed him too.

In Calhoun, Isidora saw the man who loved the
woman she herself hated. In Isidora, Calhoun saw the
woman who loved the man he hated and wanted to de-
stroy. The situation didn’t make them friends. It is not
natural that man, or woman, should like the admirer of
a rival.

Cassius Calhoun and Isidora Covarubio de los Llanos
were about to pass each other when a thought crossed
his mind.

“Excuse me, miss,” he said, looking at her horse.
“l know it’s very rude to talk to vou as we are strangers.”

]
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“If I’'m not mistaken, we met before — on the prai-
rie, out near the Nueces.”

“Truel” said Calhoun. “We saw you later, too, as you
came galloping along the cliff. We all wondered what
had happened to you.”

“The shot which some of your people fired from be-
low, made those Indians leave. I mean the sham Indians,
as we know now. As soon as they left, I continued my
journey.”

“] couldn’t help noticing your splendid horse. He
was not galloping, miss. He was flying.”

“Are you joking, sir? There’s nothing splendid about
him. Perhaps a little pretty, and quick. My father has
five thousand horses like him. Many of them are pretti-
er, and, no doubt, faster than him.”

“FExcuse me, miss, I should be only too glad to make
an exchange with you. My horse is expensive, though
he’s a little slow. But I can promise that he will carry
you safely to your home, and will serve you well after-
wards.”

“What!” exclaimed the lady in surprise. “Exchange
your wonderful American horse for a Mexican mustang!
Do you know that on the Rio Grande for one of your
horses you can get three, sometimes six, of ours?”

Calhoun knew this very well. But he knew also that
he needed Isidora’s quick mustang.

“If it’s not a joke, you can have what you want,”
said Isidora.

“It’s not a joke.”

“Take him, then!” she said. “But we can’t exchange
saddles. Yours would be too big for mel”

Calhoun was so happy than he couldn’t find words to
thank Isidora. He took off her saddle and then took oif
his own.
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In less than five minutes the horses were exchanged.
Isidora almost laughed. But for Calhoun it was a very
gerious and important matter.

As soon as the exchange was over, Isidora went off
on Calhoun’s horse. The ex-officer headed the grey mus-
tang in the direction of Casa del Corvo.

C

Zeb arrived at the spot where he had left his mare.
He began following the trail of the horse with the bro-
ken shoe again. He was sure that this trail would leave
him to Casa del Corvo. Not far from the hacienda he
saw Cassius Calhoun and Isidora Covarubio de los Lla-
nos. He hid in the bushes and listened to their conversa-
tion.

“What could be Calhoun’s motive to exchange hors-
es?” he thought. Zeb knew that the Mexican girl was
right: the American horse was far more expensive than
the mustang.

“There’s only one explanation,” he told himself. “The
grey mustang is the faster of the two. And Mister Cash
wants him because he is fast. He wants to overtake the
Headless Horseman. He’s tried his own horse and found
him slow. Now he thinks, with the mustang, he may
have a better chance to get the fellow.”

RRRR

Woodley Poindexter entered his daughter’s room.

“Louise, I wanted to talk to you,” he said.

“What is it, father?”

“You know that your cousin Cash loves you. He
wants to marry you.”
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“But I don’t want to marry him. No, father. 1 shall
die first. I know what it means. He has sent you to
make this proposal! I’d rather go to the prairies to catch
wild horses with the lasso than become his wife.”

“Dear daughter, vou, perhaps, don’t know that —”

“That my cousin is your creditor? I know all that,
dear father. But I know also that you are Woodley Poin-
dexter, and I am your daughter.”

“Forgive me, my girl,” said the proud planter.
“T shall leave it to vou. You are free to refuse to marry
him, if that’s what you want!”

kR R R

Less than an hour after that conversation Louise Poin-
dexter refused to marry Cassius Calhoun. Her cousin didn’t
show surprise. Probably he expected such an answer.

“Well,” he said with a sneering smile. “Though
I’m not master of your heart, your happiness is in my
hands. Tomorrow is the day of the trial. Mr. Maurice
Gerald will be accused of murdering your brother.”

“It’s a liel Maurice Gerald never did it.”

“Well, that remains to be proved. No one knows,
Louise, about your meeting with Gerald in the garden. No
one knows about his quarrel with Henry. There were only
two people who saw what happened after that quarrel.”

“Two — who were they?”

“One was Cassius Calhoun. The other — Louise Poin-
dexter.”

The girl didn’t even look surprised.

“Do you understand me? You know what I mean?”
asked Calhoun.

“Yes.”

“You will not refuse me now?”

“Now more than ever!”
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“Be it sol Tomorrow you’ll stand before the judge
as a witness. And nobody’ll save you from shame. Good
night, Louise! I'll sleep thinking of you.”

Calhoun left the room, looking less triumphant than
guilty.

Helpful Words & Notes

I couldn’t help noticing your splendid horse. — H ne
MOTr He 3aMeTUTh, KAKasd BeJMKOJIEIHAS Y BaC JIOLIANb.

with a sneering smile — ¢ ycmemkoii

that remains to be proved — sTo elne HaZO AOKA3aTh

looking less triumphant than guilty — ¢ Bugom =He
CTOJIBKO TODPMKECTBYIOIIHUM, CKOJBLKO BHHOBATBIM

Activities
% Checking Comprehension

1. Answer the questions.

1) Where did Calhoun meet Isidora?

2) How did he get her mustang?

3) Who saw Calhoun and Isidora and listened to
their conversation?

4) Who helped Calhoun to convince Louise to marry
her cousin?

5) What arguments did Calhoun use himself?

2. Say why:

» (Calhoun asked Isidora to exchange horses.
s Isidora agreed to the exchange.
¢ Louise refused to marry her cousin.
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L@J Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

1. Fill in the gaps with the nouns from the box.
exchange chance
proposal matter

1) Calhoun’s

2) As soon as the
off on Calhoun’s horse.

3) Calhoun had a better to overtake the
Headless Horseman on a quick mustang.

4) It was a very serious for the captain.

didn’t surprise Louise.
was over, Isidora went

2. Report the sentences in indirect speech.

1) “Nobody’ll save you from shame,” said Calhoun.

2} “He’s tried his own horse and found him slow,”
said Zeb Stump.

3) “Louise, I wanted to talk to you,” said Woodley
Poindexter.

4) “Are you joking, sir?” asked Isidora.

g Discussing the Text

1. Describe the horse exchange between Calhoun and
Isidora,
2. Give your own opinion.

Talk about the meeting between Louise and Cassius
Calhoun. Describe their conversation. Did he expect
such an answer to his proposal?

3. Prove that Calhoun didn’t like what he was going to
do to Louise.
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Chapter 31

— e 12 1 R 1Y

A TEXAN COURT

The following morning a lot of different people gath-
ered around Fort Inge: planters, lawyers, hunters, cat-
tle-dealers and horse-dealers, storekeepers, adventur-
ers. Many of them had with them their wives, sisters,
and daughters. Some were on horseback, others stayed in
wagons or in elegant carriages.

All these people had come for the trial of Maurice
Gerald — known as Maurice the mustanger. They had
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little doubt that he had done it. They only waited to
learn the details: how, and when, and where.

The trail began at ten o’clock. There was no court-
house in the fort. The day promised to be hot, and it
was decided that the judge would sit at a large table un-
der a tree. Close to the judge there were twelve people.
About half of them chose to sit on a rough bench, the
other half — on the grass. It was the jury. Other people
gathered around the judge and jury.

Before the trial Miguel Diaz and his three compan-
ions said that they had disguised themselves as Indians.
They explained that it’d been a joke. It was also proved
that Diaz had been drunk on the night of Henry Poind-
exter’s disappearance, and his friends had been at home.
So the Mexicans were released from prison.

The mustanger was brought before the court. The
judge asked him his first question.

“Maurice Gerald, are you guilty or not guilty of this
crime?”

“Not guilty,” firmly said the mustanger,

Then the prosecutor called his first witness. It was
Franz Oberdoffer, the owner of the hotel and the saloon.
He repeated the story he had told before. Other witness-
es confirmed that the prisoner and Henry Poindexter
had been friends. Captain Cassius Calhoun told the court
about the scene in the garden. He said that Henry had
followed the mustanger, but he kept to himself the true
reason for this, and his own actions.

Then Louise Poindexter was called. Calhoun had kept
his word.

“Where were you, Miss Poindexter, on the night
when your brother was last seen?” asked the prosecutor.

“At home — in my father’s house.”

“May I ask, if on that night you went into the garden?”
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“1 did.”

“Was there someone with you?”

“There was. My brother was there. And Mr. Maurice
Gerald.”

“May I ask the motive of your meeting with
Mr. Gerald?”

The witness hesitated only for a moment.

“T went into the garden to meet the man I love.
Now, sir, I hope you are satisfied?”

The answer caused in the crowd surprise, and some-
thing more: contempt, and even indignation.

“I must ask you another question, Miss Poindexter,”
said the prosecutor. “You have heard what Mr. Calhoun
said. Is it true that wvour brother had a quarrel with
Mr. Gerald?”

“Quite true.”

The answer made the crowd shout. Her words con-
firmed the story of Calhoun! That was the motive of the
murder!

“Order in the Court!” cried the judge.

“But my brother didn’t follow him in anger,” contin-
ued the witness. “He realized that he had been wrong,
and went after Mr. Gerald to apologize.”

Louise went back to her carriage with a cold feeling
in her heart. By telling the truth, she had done harm to
Maurice and to herself.

“Call the witnesses for the defence,” said the judge.

First Phelim O’Neal was called. His story, full of im-
probable things, was strange. The lawyer asked to call
another witness.

11

“Zebulon Stump!”

A tall hunter made his way through the crowd.

“Well, Mister Judge!” he said. “I’ve no objection to
tell what I know about the business, but I'd prefer that
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the young fellow should give his story first. I could then
confirm it.”

“It would be somewhat irregular,” said the judge.
“After all, we want to get at the truth. If the jury
doesn’t object, let it be as you say.”

The jury agreed too. The mustanger stepped forward.

There was universal silence. Everyone was looking at
the prisoner. Everyone was eager to catch his words.

“Judge, and gentlemen of the jury!” said the mus-
tanger. “Not all of the statements you heard today are
true. Some of them are false as the man who gave them.”

The speaker glanced at Cassius Calhoun. Then he de-
scribed what had happened in the garden.

“It is true that Henry Poindexter interrupted our
meeting with his sister in the garden. It’s true that
[ heard angry words from him. But at our next meeting
he apologized for them.”

“Where did this meeting take place?” asked the
judge.

“I'm coming to it now. After I left the garden
I went to the hotel. There was nothing to keep me any
longer under Mr. Oberdoffer’s roof. So I paid for my
stay and I rode off. I knew I could reach the Alamo be-
fore morning.

I travelled slowly, and I never thought of looking
behind me. I had no suspicion that anyone was coming
after me, until I heard the sound of hoofs and I saw
a horseman. It was Henry. I rode up to him. His first
words were to ask if I would forgive him for what
he had said to me. He held out his hand in the most
friendly manner. Need 1 tell you that I took that hand?

We rode together for a while, and then stopped under
the shadow of a tree. We exchanged cigars, and smoked.
And there was another exchange — to cement our friend-
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ship. We exchanged our hats and cloaks. The Comanches
do that. I gave Henry Poindexter my Mexican sombrero
and striped serape and took his cloak and Panama hat.

Then he rode away, and 1 stayved to have some
rest. A couple of minutes later I heard a sound. It was
a shot. I jumped to my feet, and listened. But I could
hear nothing more. So I thought I had been mistaken.
I lay down on the grass again, and fell asleep.

I woke up early in the morning. It was cold. It
wasn’t pleasant to stay longer under the tree. So I de-
cided to continue my journey. But first I wanted to go
in the direction in which Henry Poindexter had gone.
I needed an explanation for the shot. I didn’t go far till
I found it. T saw —”

“The Headless Horseman!” exclaimed a wvoice from
the crowd.

“The Headless Horseman!” cried fifty others. “There!
He’s coming this way!”

The Headless Horseman was indeed coming to the
fort. Suddenly he stopped and looked at the crowd
around the tree. He clearly didn’t like it, because he
turned around and rode off.

Three-fourths of the crowd rushed towards their hors-
es. They were eager to overtake the Headless Horseman.

Helpful Words & Notes

cattle-dealers and horse-dealers, storekeepers, adventur-

ers — TOpProBikl CKOTOM H JOoMIagbMH, BIAIEJLIILI MA-
radvHOB, 4BAHTHPHCTHI

Miguel Diaz and his three companions said that they had
disguised themselves as Indians — Mureas IImac u ero
TOBAPUIIN IIPU3IHANUCH, YTO U300paXkanu WHIeHIeB
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The mustanger was brought before the court. — My-
CTAHrep NpPeACTas Iepen CYIOM.
prosecutor — o0OBUHUTENb, IPOKYPOP

contempt, and even indignation — npespenme u marke
BO3IMYILeHHe

witnesses for the defence — cauzerenu samurhi

It would be somewhat irregular — 39rto 670 681 He co-

BCEM IPABUJILHO

There was universal silence. — Bomapmunocy Monuanwue.

He held out his hand in the most friendly manner. —
OH ApyxeCKM NPOTAHYI MHE PYKY.

to cement our friendship — 4r0o6nl cxpenmTe Hamm Apy-
JKEeCKHNe OTHOILISHUS

Activities
W Checking Comprehension

1. Answer the questions.

1) What kind of people gathered to watch the trial
of Maurice Gerald?

2) Whom did the prosecutor called as his witnesses?

3) What did Louise say at the trial?

4) What did the mustanger say?

9) What interrupted the trial?

2. Say why:

o the judge and the jury sat under the shadow of
a big tree.

e the Mexicans were released from prison.
¢ Louise went back to her carriage with a cold feel-
ing in her heart.
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Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

1. Fill in the gaps with the nouns from the box.

witness
jury
judge
prosecutor
1) The agreed to listen to Gerald’s story
first. '
2) The called Mr. Oberdoffer as his first
witness.

3) Phelim wasn’t a good
4) Part of the

chose to sit on the grass.

2. Choose the right form of the verb.

1) Miguel Diaz and his three companions said that
they disguised/had disguised themselves as Indians.

2) Other witnesses confirmed that Gerald and Henry
Poindexter were/had been friends.

3) “It is true that Henry Poindexter had interrupt-
ed/interrupted our meeting with his sister in the
garden.”

4) “I had no suspicion that anyone came/was coming
after me, until I saw Henry.”

Ol

Discussing the Text

1. Talk about the trial of Maurice Gerald.

Describe the place of the trial. Talk about the state-
ments of the main witnesses and the prisoner him-
self,
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2. What do you think?

Why did Zeb Stump ask the judge to hear the mus-

tanger’s story first?

Chapter 32

et 5 @ I § 5 EE———

THE LAST WITNESS

The judge decided to wait for the return of those
people who had gone after the Headless Horseman.

“If we catch him,” he said, “we will throw light on
the murder.”

After a while almost all the men returned. The only
two people still missing were the old hunter and the ex-
captain of volunteers,

An hour later the judge decided to go on with the
trial. The prisoner stood before the judge again.

“You were about to tell us what you saw,” said the
lawyer to the mustanger. “What was it you saw?”

“A man lying on the grass.”

“Asleep?”

“Dead, and with his head cut off.”

Someone of the crowd cried in horror, “Who was the
man?”

“It was Henry Poindexter.”

Cries were heard again.

“Continue, sir!” asked the lawyer.

“l touched the body. It was cold. T could see that
Henry had been dead for some time. I also remembered
the shot 1 had heard in the night. So I decided to look
for a bullet wound. I turned the body.
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I was right. I saw a hole in the serape and the shirt,
covered with blood. I could tell that a bullet had entered
there. There was no wound at the back. So I knew that
the bullet had to be still inside the body.”

“What did you do then?”

“I ecouldn’t think of leaving the body there. My first
idea was to cover the body with the cloak and go to the
fort for some help. It would be protected from coyotes,
till we could get back. But then I changed my mind.
I decided to take Henry’s body with me. I thought about
something I had read about the Gauchos of South Amer-
ica. When one dies, or is killed by accident, far from
home, his friends carry the body in the saddle, seated as
though he were still alive.

First 1 tried to set him on his own horse. But his
saddle is flat. There was only one other chance for us
to make the home journey together: by exchanging hors-
es. I knew that my own horse wouldn’t object. Besides,
my Mexican saddle is deeper. In a short while I put the
body in it, seated. I cut a few pieces of my lasso and
used them to fix the body in the saddle.

I got on the horse of the murdered man. My own
horse was going to follow me. Then I headed back to
the fort. But in less than five minutes after that I was
knocked out of my saddle.”

“Knocked out of your saddle!” exclaimed the judge.
“How did it happen?”

“A gimple accident. Something frightened the horse,
and he rushed along the path, right under a low thick
branch of a large tree. I struck my head against that
branch, fell on the ground and hurt my knee. 1 don’t
know where the horses went afterwards. You all know
that, I believe, better than 1. I came to only two hours
later.”
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Maurice then told the court how he had been at-
tacked by coyotes and then saved from the claws of the
jaguar by Zeb Stump.

“Gentlemen of the jury! That’s all I remember until
the day before yesterday, when I woke up in prison.”

R R RR

The judge, jury, and spectators felt that the mus-
tanger’s story was true. Still it was only his own story.
There was one witness who could confirm it., Where was
Zeb Stump?

Five hundred pairs of eyes turned towards the prai-
rie. Five hundred hearts hoped the old hunter would re-
turn soon — with or without the Headless Horseman.

Ten minutes later the figures of three horsemen ap-
peared on the prairie. Two of them were easily recog-
nized, as Zeb Stump and Cassius Calhoun. There wasn’t
any doubt about the third figure either. It was the
Headless Horseman.

The riders stopped outside the crowd of spectators.
Two of them slipped out of the saddle. The third one re-
mained in the saddle.

Zeb Stump conducted the horse of the Headless Horse-
man under the tree. Calhoun went away from the crowd.

“Now, judge and the jury!” he said. “Here’s your last
witness.”

“It’s Henry!” a tall man came up to the Headless
Horseman. It was his father.

Some people led Woodley Poindexter to the carriage.
He took a seat by his crying daughter.

Zeb Stump came up to the judge. He told the court
how he had come to the mustanger’s hut to find his
servant there, how the dog had come with a card tied
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to his neck, and how he had found the mustanger and
saved him from the jaguar. He then desecribed everything
that had happened up to the time the mustanger was
locked up in the guardhouse.

“And now,” he said, “I'm going to say something
more. But not about the prisoner, but about the other
man. I think this man should be standing in his place.
I'll tell yvou what I know.”

“Please, continue, Mr. Stump!” said the lawyer.

No one interrupted him. Everyone was sure that the
hunter could solve the mystery of the murder.

“Well, it was clear for me: it wasn’t the mustan-
ger who killed that poor young Poindexter. Who was it,
then? I decided to discover the truth. I examined all the
hoof marks around the place of the murder. There was
one particular set of marks that attracted my atten-
tion — the hoof marks of an American horse with a bro-
ken shoe. Here’s it.”

The hunter drew the shoe out of the pocket of his
coat and showed to the judge and the jury.

“The man, who rode that horse, followed Poindexter and
Gerald. Then he hid behind the trees and fired the shot that
killed poor yvoung Poindexter. He’s the murderer!”

“Who was it? Give his namel” asked twenty people.

“I think you’ll find it in that body. Take out the
bullet, and you’ll know everything.”

The judge asked some of the men to examine the
Headless Horseman. They took him from the horse and
found two bullet holes on his body. Zeb pointed to the
smaller one.

“It’s the bullet I fired myself,” he said. “You can
see that there’s no blood around it. It proves that it was
a dead body then. The other hole is different. It’s all cov-
ered in blood. Take out the bullet and you’ll see yourself.”
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The doctor took the bullet out and gave it to the
jury. The bullet was marked with the letters “C. C. C.”

Those of the men who had taken part in the search-
party knew those initials very well.

“There’s one more thing,” said the old hunter, draw-
ing a piece of paper out of his pocket. “I found this in
the bushes where the murderer had fired his gun. It
came out of the same gun as that bullet. It’s a piece of
a letter with a name on it. The jury can read the name.”

One of the men took the piece of paper and read
aloud: CAPTAIN CASSIUS CALHOUN!

Helpful Words & Notes

the Gauchos — rayuo; «xoB6ou» HCHAHO-HHAEHCKOro IpO-

MCXOKAeHUA B ApreHTuHe, ¥pyreae, Uuam m Bpasuiauu
to fix — 30. sakpemnurhb

I was knocked out of my saddle — 51 6oin BRiBuT M3 cemna

solve the mystery of the murder — pasragare rtaiiay
ybuicTea

There was one particular set of marks that attracted

my attention — Mens ocofeHHO 3aMHTepecOBaaH cJeObl
OJHOM JIomianu

Activities
% Checking Comprehension

1. Answer the questions.

1) Who was still missing when the trial started
again?

204

2) What did the mustanger tell the court about the
death of Henry Poindexter?

3) Why did Gerald set Henry’s body in the saddle
seated?

4) Who brought the Headless Horseman to the place
of the trial?

5) What proofs of Calhoun’s guilt did Zeb give to
the court?

2, Complete the sentences.

1) The judge waited for the return of those people
who had gone after the Headless Horseman be-
cause :

2) Maurice Gerald set Henry’s body on his own
horse because |

3) The mustanger was knocked out of the saddle be-

cause

Q) Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

1. Find in the text the English for:

e TPOJAHUTL CBeT Ha yOHMHUCTBO

e ITPOJOMKUTL cyrebHoe pasbuparelbCcTBO
e TpPHHATH B ceds

¢ IOATBEPIHTHL pPaccKas

e V3HaThL NIpaBRy

2. Fill in the prepositions in, around, against, for,

1) “I decided to go to the fort some help.”

2) “I struck my head a low thick branch.”

3) “I think another man should be standing ___
Gerald’s place.”
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4) “I examined all the hoof marks the place
of the murder.”

g Discussing the Text

1. Imagine that you're a member of the jury. Say what
statements impressed you most.

2. Say how Zeb Stump proved that Calhoun was guilty
of Henry’s murder.

Chapter 33

i & §  § 5 F——

TWO SHOTS

The name of the ex-captain made a strong impression
on the judge and the jury. The crowd of spectators be-
gan shouting. It was clear now that Maurice Gerald was
not the man who should be om trial for the murder of
Henry Poindexter. Calhoun was the man.

Zeb Stump continued his story. He told the court
how Calhoun had tried to catch the Headless Horse-
man to get rid of the marked bullet and how he had ex-
changed horses with Isidora.

“Mr. Calhoun was going to take the bullet out of the
body when I overtook him. He couldn’t stop me from
bringing the poor boy here,” said the hunter.

“Let the Irishman go — he is innocent!” cried
someone from the crowd. “Let Cassius Calhoun be ar-
rested, and put on his triall He’s the murderer! That’s
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why he was against the other. If he’s innocent, let
him prove it. He’ll have a fair trial. Come, judge!
Order Mr. Calhoun to be brought before the court.
An innocent man’s been there long enough. Let the
guilty take his placel”

The judge couldn’t ignore demands of the people. He
ordered to bring Calhoun before the court.

“Look! It’s Calhoun! He’s trying to escape!”

Calhoun reached his grey mustang, jumped in the
saddle and headed the horse towards the prairie.

“Follow him!” shouted the judge. “Follow, and bring
him back!”

Fifty horsemen rushed towards their horses. Zeb
Stump and Maurice the mustanger were among them.

“He will not escape!” said those people who had re-
mained under the tree.

Calhoun failed to escape. He was already in the
woods when he saw Maurice Gerald behind. The cap-
tain turned around and fired his revolver. But the bullet
whistled through the air and did no harm to the mus-
tanger.

Maurice threw his lasso and jerked Calhoun out of
his saddle.

“You up, old boss,” said Zeb Stump, riding up to the
man on the ground. “Up, I say. And come along with
us. It won't do to keep the court waiting.”

“I’m not going back,” said Calhoun.

He looked at Stump — at Gerald — around him.
Then he tried to reach his revolver.

“Bad idea,” said the hunter, pointing to his rifle.
“Get into the saddle, Mister Cash Calhoun, I say!”

The ex-captain of cavalry got on his mustang. The
hunter led him to the fort on foot. His own mare fol-
lowed him. The mustanger rode behind.

¥
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A new trial began. The judge was the same, the jury
the same, and the spectators as before. There was only
one change. Maurice Gerald was no longer the prisoner.
Cassius Calhoun was the prisoner now.

It was clear to everyone that he was guilty of the
murder. But why did he kill his own cousin? And why
did he cut off his head?

Only the murderer could answer these questions.

The trial was short. After a while the jury found
Calhoun guilty. The judge invited the prisoner to make
his final speech.

Calhoun looked around. He saw no face with an ex-
pression of sympathy. There wasn’t even pity.

“Have you anything to say about the verdict?” asked
the judge.

“No!” he said, “It’s a right verdict. I deserve to lose
my life. It’s quite true that I killed Henry Poindexter. You
are all asking what motive I had. There was no motive.”

The spectators looked at the prisoner in surprise: it
was hard to believe him,

“It’s easily explained. I killed him by mistake! Yes,
by mistake. I was going to kill the man who is standing
before me.”

Calhoun looked at Maurice Gerald with hatred.

“Yes. I wanted to kill him. I had my reasons. I'm not
going to say what they were. It’s no use now. I thought
I had killed him. You know that this man exchanged
cloaks with my cousin. I shot Henry by mistake. Poor
boy dropped from his horse. And to make more sure,
[ drew my knife and cut off his head.”

The crowd demanded to punish the murderer.

“Now!” cried Calhoun. “I’ve got one more thing to do.”
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Suddenly he drew a revolver. Two shots came at
once, and two men fell forward on their faces. One was
Maurice Gerald, the mustanger — the other Cassius Cal-
houn, ex-captain of volunteer cavalry.

#RhERE

Calhoun had fired the bullet right in the mustanger’s
heart. Luckily it hit a small locket — a gift from Louise
Poindexter — then turned aside and scratched his arm.

The wound wasn’t serious, but Louise made him stay
in bed for a week. She spent all this time in his hut, at
his bed-side. No one objected. Not even her own father.
The planter was no longer against Louse’s marriage to
Maurice Gerald. He was even happy to have such a son-
in-law, because he was, in fact, Sir Maurice Gerald. The
young Irish baronet had also inherited a large fortune.

After the wedding Maurice Gerald and Louise visited
Ireland and returned to Casa del Corvo. Only once the
girl was jealous again. That day her husband came home
to the hacienda with a beautiful woman in his arms. She
was not dead, but a wound in her bosom showed she had
not long to live. To the question, “Who has done this?”
she was only able to answer, “Diaz!”

It was the last word of Isidora Covarubio de los Llanos.

Gerald tracked down the murderer and brought him
to the fort for a trial.

TREER

There are new names for men, places, and things
now in Texas. But you may still hear a strange story,
connected with these parts. It is the story of the HEAD-
LESS HORSEMAN.
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Helpful Words & Notes

on trial — mox cyzom

It won’t do to keep the court waiting, — Hexopomo 3a-

CTABJATE CY] AAA4Th.

the jury found Calhoun guilty — npuca)xHble npusHanu

KonxayHa BHHOBHBIM

sympathy — couyscTBHE

by mistake — mo omubxe
And to make more sure — I uToOBI He 0OCTABAJIOCH CO-

MHeHUH

locket — mMenanawoH

turned aside — oTcKoumia

a large fortune — xpynHoe cocrosiHue

Activities

% Checking Comprehension

: |

2.

Answer the questions.

1)

2)
3)

4)
2)

What did Calhoun do to escape the punishment
for his erime?

Who captured him and brought back to court?
What did Calhoun say about the motive of his
crime?

Who shot Calhoun? Why?

What saved Gerald’s life?

Put the sentences in the right order.

1)
2)

Two shots came at once.
The jury found Gerald not guilty.
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2)
3)
4)
3)

6)

Maurice threw his lasso and jerked Calhoun out
of his saddle.

Zeb Stump led Calhoun to the fort on foot.

The captain turned around and fired his revolver.
The judge ordered to bring Calhoun before the
court.

Calhoun headed the horse towards the prairie.

[L] Working with Vocabulary and Grammar

1.

Fill in the gaps with the nouns from the box.

1)

2)

3)

1)

trial
harm
sympathy
fortune

The bullet whistled past the mustanger, doing

him no g,

Maurice Gerald inherited a large

his relatives in Ireland.

The mustanger brought El Coyote for a
. _ for the murder of Isidora.

No one in Fort Inge felt any

from

for the

miurderer.

Fill in the prepositions through, by, on, in.

1) The judge ordered to put the captain trial

2)
3)
1)

for the murder.

Calhoun killed Henry Poindexter
Maurice Gerald stayed bed for a week.
The bullets whistled _____  the air.

mistake.
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g Discussing the Text Vocabulary
1. Imagine that you were a member of the jury at Cal- A

houn’s trial. Describe what you saw and felt. accuse [2'kju:z] v 06BUHATH

afford [2'fod] v mosBoauTh cebe

2. What do you think? alarmed [5'la:md] a BeTpeBOKEHHBIH

1) What’s your opinion about the end of the story? ankle ["®nkl] n roaenxKa
Was it unexpected? approach [o'provtf] v mpubarxareca

9) Did you like the novel? What did you like about it? armed [a:md] a BOOPY’KEHHBIN

8) Talk about the main characters of the book. arrogance [ 2ragans] n 3aHOCUMBOCTD, BEHICOKOMepHE
Whom did you like best? Why? astonishment [o'stpnifmant] n usymuenue

avoid [3'void] v msberaTs

barking [‘ba:kig] n naii

barricade [ bari’kerd] v GappukanupoBath
bars [ba:s] n pl pemerxa

belt [belt] n nosac

bill [bil] n cuer sa ycayru

blush [blA]] v kpacHeTs

bosom ["buzam] n rpyab

bullet ["bulit] » nyns

camp [kaemp] n nareps

canvas | kanvas| n nmojoTHO

cap [keep] n manxa, dpypaskxa

capture ['keptfa] v saxBareIBaTh CHION

cause [ko:z] v BHIBBIBATE

chase [tfeis] n morors; v mpecnexoBaTh, I'HATHCH
chew [i[u:] v xeBaTh

clatter ['klata] n cryk, Tomor

cliff [klif] n oGpsIB; KpPyTO# CKJOH
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climb [klaim] v Baesats

cloak [klovk] n maam

close [klavs] adv 6umsko; a 6au3K0 pacmoNoXKeHHbIA
come to ['kamtu:] phr v npuiitru B ceba, ounyTeCH
conceited [kon’siitid] a camomosonpHEIA

concern [kan’s3:n] v KacaTecs; BoIHOBATH
confidence ['konfidans] n yeepesHOCTS; camMoyBepeHHOCTE
confirm [kon’'f3:m] v moarsepxmaTe, mogxpemIfTh
contempt [kon'tempt] n npeapenne

conversation [ konva’'seifn] n pasrosop, Gecena
counter [‘kaunta] n croiika, npuiasox

courage [ kanidz] n my:xecrro, cMenocTs

court [ka:t] n cyx

courtyard ['ko:tja:d] n BRyTpennuit gmop

coyote ["kolauvt] n xoiior

cracking ['krzkip] n Tpeck

crawl [kra:l] v moxsars

criminal [‘kriminl] n smoyMblmIIeHENK, OpecTYIHMK
crush [kra[] v gasurn

curve [k3:v| n maru6, usayuuna

cypress |'saipras| n Kummapuc

D

damage [‘demidz] n ymep6
deceive [di'si:v] v oGmaHEBIBATE
defeat [di'fit] v moGemxpars

defend [di'fend] v zammmars
delicacy ["delikast] n pgemurarec
departure [di pa:tfa] n orwesn
deserve [d1'z3:v] v sacayxuBaThH
despair [dis'pes] n oTuasnue
destroy [dis'trp1] v yEMYTORATE
determination [di1 t3:mi'nerfn] n pemumocts
discover [dis'kava] v o6Hapy:xuBaTh
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distribute [di'tribju:t] v pacnpenensaTs
district ['distrikt] n pajior, orpyr
doorway ['dawei] n Bxoa B momelnenue

draw [dro:] (drew, drawn) v TERYTH; BHITACKUBATE

draw a knife BeIXBaTHTE HOMK
drunk [drapk] ¢ nessBIR
dust [dast] » neuIs

E

eager ['i:gd] a cTpacTHO KenaUUH
earn [3:n] v sapabarbiBarh
escape [1s keip] v cBesxarn; mM3bexaTh

exchange [1ks fend3] n ofmen; v obmenuBarnes

F

fail [feil] v ne cmenars, He ymaBaThea

faint [feint] v morepaTrs cosHamwe, ynacth B 0OMOPOK

fair [fes] a cupasepmuen

faithful ['feiBfvl] a BepHEIHA, npezaHHBIR
fear [f15] v GoaTsca

feather ['feda] n nmepo

fever ['fi:va] n BmicOKas TeMmIiepaTypa, Kap
fire ['faia] v cTpenars

fire a gun at smb crpeasaTrs U3 muUcTONEeTA / PYIKBA B

KOT'O-J1.
firmly ["f3:mli] adv TBepmo
fix [fiks] v sakpernnsaTs
flat [flet] @ nmockui
frighten [frartn] v oyrare
frightened ['fraitnd] a nenyranasiit

G

gallop ['geelop] n ranom; v crkakaTe ranomom (80 Bechk 0mOp)

ghost |['gouvst] n mpuspak
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gloom [glu:m]| n yueiEne

go after (smb) [gov'a:fta] phr v mpecnenomarn; ciegomaTh
3a (KeM-J.)

gradually [ gradi:vali] adv mocrenenno

grateful ['greitfvl] ¢ Gmaromapssiix

groan [gravn| n croH

guess [ges| v noragbiBaTHCH

guide [gaid] v manpasasaTo

guilt [gilt] » BuHa

guilty ['gilt1] ¢ BunoBHBIH

gun [gan| n pyxse; DHCTOJET

H

hammering ["haemoarin] n cryk, yaapsr
hang [han} (hanged, hanged) v xasnuTes yepes mopemenue
hangman ["ha&pmon]| rn namau
harm [ha:m] n Bpen

do harm npwuyusauTs Bpex
head [hed] n rososa; v manpasnaTe(csa)
hence [hens| adv orcioga; mostomy
hold [havld] (held, held) v gepsxars

hold out BrIgEep:xHBaTL
hoof [hu:f| (pl hoofs, hooves) n kombiTO
horror [ hpra] n ymxac
horrible ["horibl] a yxacueiit
host [haust] n xozaun
hostility [ho’stiliti] n spamzgebuocts
howl [havl] n Boii; v BHITL
human ["hju:man| a yenoBeueckuii; n Yes0BEK, CMepTHHI
hurricane ["harikan] n yparam _
hurriedly ["haridli] adv nocnemno, Topomnuso
hurry ["hari] (hurried) v ToponuTn(cs)
hurt [h3:t] (hurt, hurt) v panuTs; 6oners
hut [hat] n xmxusa

216

indignation [,indig'neifn] n sosMymienue, HerojAoBaHUE
innocence [ Inasns] a HEBHHOBHOCTH

innocent ['mosnt] ¢ HeBUHOBHBIN

insult ['msalt] n ocxopBienne; [mn’salt] v ocxopGIATE
interfere [ inta’fia] v ememmBarscs

interrupt [,inta’rapt] v npepsiBaTh

J

jealous ['dzelos] a pesHUBEBIA, PEeBHYIOIIWNA; 3aBUAYIONIINH
be jealous of smb / smth pesHoBaTe K KOMY-J.; 3aBH-
NOBATH YEMY-J.

jealousy [ dzelasr] n peBHOCTB

jerk [d33:k] v pesko mepraTh Wil TOJNKATH

judge [d3ad3] n cyapa

jury [ dgveri] n npucsxHBIE

justice ['d3astis] n cmpaBeAnIMBOCTE; OpaBOCYAUE

K

keep back [ki:p’bak] phr v 3azepKuUBATE; yTauBaTh
kick [kik] v yoapare HOroi, nvHATE; 71 IHHOK

L

landscape ['l&ndskeip] n namgmadgpr, neisax
lasso [lze'su:] n macco

last [la:st] v aauTBECA

laughing-stock ['la:fip, stok] n moemernnnte
lawyer ['Ipia] n ropucr; agBOKAaT

lead [li:d] (led, led) v BecTu; IpHBOAUTDL
lower ['lave] v onycKaTe
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M planter ['pla:nta] n nnarTaTop

poison [ poizn] v oTPaBIATEH

postpone [pavst’'pavn] v oTrJIagEIBaTH

prairie [ preari] n npepmsa, crenb

praise [preiz] v xBanuTHL, IPEBO3HOCUTD

proof [pru:f] n noxTBep:xIeHHE, KOKAZATEIBCTBO
proper ['propa] a mpaBHIBHBIN, Ha[AeMKAIIHI
proposal [pra’pasvzal] n mpeasoxkeHue
prosecutor [ prosi’kju:ta] n o6BuHUTEIB, TPOKYPOD
prove [pru:v] v JOKasbIBATE

punishment [ panifment] n Baxazanue

pursue [pa’sju:] v mpecienoBaTH

maid [meid] n cayxanka

major [‘meidza] n maitop

malicious [ma’lifas] a snobuwI, sno0if

mark [ma:k] n merxa: cien

matter ['ma&t3] v umers sHaueHMe, 3HAUUTE

miss [MIS| v YIYCTHTSL; NPOMAXHYTHCH

missing |'mism] a¢ npomaBmuit, HegoCTAROIIMI

mixture |'mikstfo] n cmecs, cmemenne

modest [ 'modist] @ ckpomanti

move [Mu:v] n ABYIReHWe; marT; v ABUTATH(CS)
move about nepexoguTh ¢ MecTa Ha MecTo
move off oTLe3KAaTH

murder ['m3:da] n yGuiicTBo; v y6mBaThH

murderer [‘'m3:dora] n yGuiina

R

railing ['roilip] n mepuna, orpamaenue
N regret [ri'gret] n coxaneTs, MOMKANETH
reins [remnz] n pl moBozes
release [r1'li;s] v ocBoGoxkaTE, OTIYCKATE

newcomer [ nju:’ i : !
‘ [, Ju: kKAma| n HOBOMpHGEIBIIMIA resist [r1'zist] v cOIpPOTUBIATHCA; MPOTHBOCTOATH
nickname ['niknemm] n npossuuge

noble ['navbl] @ 6maropogubIit

nearby ["niabai] adv mo6ausoctn

responsible [r1s ponsibl| a Hecymuit 0TBETCTBEHHOCTD

revenge [r1 vend3] n MecThb
ride [raid] (rode, ridden) v exaTe Bepxom; n moe3aKa, e3fia

9 ride away / off orreskars (Ha Jomazau)
oak ["avk] n ny6 ride out BeIE3KATH HA TPOTYJIKY
opening ['aupnip] n npocexa, BHIpyGKa rider ['raids] n BcagHUK, Hae3 HUK
oven [‘avn]| n meun rifle ["raifl] n pyxse
overtake [ auva'teik] (overtook, overtaken) v moruarhb rise [raiz] (rose, risen) v MOOJHNMATHCH
risk [risk] v puckoBaTk; oTBAMKHBATHCA (HA YTO-J.)
P rival [‘raval] n conepHUK, cCOmepHHIA
: robber [‘roba] n rpabureas
in 5 .
pa. [pElfI] n Gosb rough [raf] a rpyGriii, mecTru
painful ["pemnfuvl] a myuuTensusIil; GomesHeHHBIH rude [ru:d] a rpy6sii
lain [pl , " 2
P [plemn] 7 pasrusa runaway [ ranawei] a cbergasmuit; noHecmmu#t (0 zowadu)
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sable ['seibl] n mecox

saddle ['szdl] n cegno

safe [self] a GesomacHBIN; 3aIMHUINEHHELIA OT OMACHOCTH

safety ['seifti] n Gesomacmocts

scalp [skelp] n ckanen

scare [skes] v myrare; menyrars

scared [skead] a mcnyrammsIi

scene [sin] n coena

scornfully ["sko:nfull] adv npespurennuo

search [s3:ff] n mOMCKH; v HCKATH; OBBICKEBATE

selfish ['selfif] a sromermunerit

separate ['separat] a ormennmsii; ['sepa rert] v orzessTs-
CH; PACCTABATHCH

sergeant ['sa:dzant] n cepixanT

set [set] (set, set) v pasmemars, ca)kaTs

severe [81'via] a cypossrit

sham [[&m] ¢ MuUMBIA, GanbmuBELH

share [[ea] v pasnenars

shock [[pk] v moxuposaTs, norpsacars

shoe [[u:] n 38, moxkoBa; v (shod, shod) mogxoBLIBaTE (J10-
HIATE)

shoot [[u:t] (shot, shot) v cTpensaTs; sacTpenuTs

shot [[pt] n BoICTPEX

sight [sait] n speanme

sign [sam] n sHaK; npusHAaAK

skill [skil] n macreperso; AoBrOCTE

slave [sleiv] n pa6

sleeper ['sli:pa] n coamuit wemosex

slip [slip] (slipped) v BRIcKOAB3HYTE

snore [sno:] n xpam; v xpaneTh

Sorrow ['spbrav] n rope, meuainb

soul [savl] n gyma
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spectator [spek’teita] n spuTenb; oueBUAEL

spill [spil] (spilt, spilt) v nponuBaTs(ca)

splash [sple[] v nneckaTs

spot [sppt] n mATHO; MeCTO

spotted [ spotid] & nmarEuCTHIM, KpanyaThIH

spread [spred] (spread, spread) v pacnpocTpaHATH(CA)

stallion ['staljan} n xepeGeu

stand [steend] (stood, stood) v crosaTh, BCTABATH
stand aside ocraBaTbCA B CTOPOHE

statesman ['steitsman| n rocyJapcTBeHHBLIX AeATeNb, HOJTATHE

stay [stei] v ocTaBaTbcs; n MpebbLIBAHME

straight [ streit] a npsamoit; npaMo

stranger [ streindza] n HezHaxomer

strap [streep] n pemeHB

stream [strim] n pyuei

strength ['strep8] n cmia

strike [straik] (struck, struck) v yzapsarb(ca)

striped [straipt] a nosocarsrit

stump [stamp] n oxypox

suspect [sa’spekt] v monospesaTte; HpeanoONAraTh

suspicion [s3’spifn| n moxo3peHus

sweat [swet] n mor; v moreTs

T

thorn [0o:n] n xomoouka, LA

threaten [Oretn] v yrpoxxarts

tie [tar] v cBs3hIBATH; IPHUBA3LIBATE

till [til] conj mo Tex mop moka

torture ['to:tfa] n msiTKa

track [trek]| n cmex, ormeuaToK; v ClEAUTH
track down srICIEeInNTH

tracker ['traeka] n caegomsrT

trail [treil] n cnen, xBoCT
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traitor ['treita] n mpexaTens

treason [’'tri:zn] n usmeHa

trial ['traal] n cymebHEBINA mpomecc, CYA

tribe [traitb] n niemsa

trick [trik] n BrIXOAKa, MpoAenaKa

trigger ['trigo] n coycKoBOH KPIOYOK, KYPOK
pull the trigger cnycTUTE KyDOK

trust [trast] v moBepATs

turkey ['t3:ki] n mnzeiika

U

uncertainty [An’s3:tonti] n HeompejeJeHHOCTH
unconscious ['an’konfes] a 6e3 cosHanus
unfair [An'fes] ¢ HecmpaseaIuBHIN
unnatural [An'naetaral] a HeecTecTBEeHHBIK
upset [aAp'set] (upset, upset) v oropuars

v

verdict ['v3:dikt] n nmpurosop, pelneHue CyZAa HIPHMCAMKHBIX
volunteer [ volan’tia] n somoHTEp, AOOPOBOJIEI]

W

wagon ['wagan| n mososka, Qyprox

weapon ['wepan| n opyue

wheel [wil] n xoneco

while [wail] n nmpomesxyTok BpemeHH; conj moxka, B TO Bpe-
MsA Kak

whistle ['wisl] v c¢BucTeTs; TPOHOCHTBCS CO CBHCTOM

witness ['witnis] n cBuzerenp

woolen ['wulon] a mepcranoH

worth [w3:0] a cTyammi; 3aciayRUBAOIAN

wound [wwnd] n pana; v paHUTE
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